ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Big Rivers

ELECTRIC CORPORATION



QOur Mission Big Rivers will safely deliver low-cost, reliable wholesale
power and cost-effective shared services desired by
the Members.

Our Vision Big Rivers will be viewed as one of the top G&Ts in the
country and will provide services the Members desire in
meeting future challenges.

Our Values SAFETY

INTEGRITY

EXCELLENCE

MEMBER AND COMMUNITY SERVICE
RESPECT FOR THE EMPLOYEE
TEAMWORK

ENVIRONMENTALLY CONSCIOUS

Financial Highlights

For the years ended Dec. 31. Dollars in thousands.

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Margins 5,600 6,991 531,330 27,816 47,177

389,820 386,575 379,392 (154,602) (174,137)
Capital Expenditures* 38,746 42,683 58,388 22,760 18,682
Cash & Investment Balance 44,849 44,780 60,290 38,903 148,914
RUS Series A Note Voluntary
Prepayment Status 46,510 23,859
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 1.47 1.47 2.44 1.17 2.04

Cost of Debt 5.69% 5.73% 6.33% 6.33% 5.76%

Cost of Capital 7.98% 7.93% 8.39% 8.33% 7.75%

* Big Rivers’ share only.
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PROFILE

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers) is a
Member-owned, not-for-profit, generation and
transmission cooperative (G&T). We provide
wholesale electric power and services to three
distribution cooperative Members across 22
counties in western Kentucky.

The Member cooperatives are Jackson Purchase
Energy Corporation, headquartered in Paducah;
Kenergy Corp., headquartered in Henderson;
and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation, headquartered in Brandenburg.
Together, the Members distribute retail electric
power and provide other services to more than
112,000 homes, farms, businesses and industries.

Incorporated in June of 1961, the mission of
Big Rivers is to safely deliver low-cost, reliable
wholesale power and cost-effective shared
services desired by the Members. Business
operations revolve around seven core values:
teamwork, integrity, excellence, safety, Member
and community service, environmental
consciousness, and respect for the employee.

With headquarters in Henderson, Big Rivers owns
and operates 1,444 megawatts (MW) of generating
capacity in four stations.

Kenneth C. Coleman 443 MW Hawesville, Ky.
Robert A. Reid 130 MW  Robards, Ky.
Robert D. Green 454 MW  Robards, Ky.

D. B. Wilson 417 MW Centertown, Ky.

Owned Generation 1,444 MW

Total generation capacity available is 1,824 MW,
including rights to Henderson Municipal

Power and Light (HMP&L) Station Two and
contracted capacity from Southeastern Power
Administration (SEPA).

Owned Generation 1,444 MW
HMP&L Station Two 202 MW
SEPA 178 MW
Total Generation 1,824 MW

High voltage electric power is delivered to the
Member cooperatives over a system of 1,266
miles of transmission lines and 22 substations
owned by Big Rivers. Twenty-two interconnects
link our system with seven surrounding utilities.

Big Rivers is led by an experienced
management team and is governed by a six-
member board of directors. The board is
comprised of two representatives from each
distribution cooperative. We employ over 600
people at seven locations in Kentucky, who
actively contribute to the communities our
Members serve.

Constantly focused on the needs and local
priorities of the Member cooperatives, Big Rivers
provides assistance in areas such as information
technology, mapping and planning, safety
programs and training, economic development,
education and customer support services.

As long-standing members of Touchstone
Energy®, Big Rivers and the Member cooperatives
pledge to serve western Kentucky with integrity,
accountability, innovation and a commitment to
community. Keeping the cost of electricity low
and the reliability high has always been a priority.
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MEMBER COOPERATIVES

Kelly Nuckols, President & CEO
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Sandy Novick, President & CEO
Kenergy Corp.

Burns Mercer, President & CEO
Meade County RECC

JACKSON PURCHASE ENERGY CORPORATION

(270) 442-7321
www.JPEnergy.com

Serves: Ballard, Carlisle, Graves, Livingston, Marshall and
McCracken counties

Headquartered: Paducah, KY
Number of accounts: 29,160

Miles of line: 2,918

KENERGY CORP. _:_;5/6”8@/

(800) 844-4832 Your Touchsione Enetgy” Cooperatise ?(1*
www.kenergycorp.com

Serves: Breckinridge, Caldwell, Crittenden, Daviess, Hancock, Henderson,
Hopkins, Livingston, Lyon, McLean, Muhlenberg, Ohio, Union and
Webster counties

Headquartered: Henderson, KY
Number of meters: 55,282
Miles of line: 7,047

MEADE COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC

=
COOPERATIVE CORPORATION ﬁ Meade County RECC

(270) 422-2162
WWW.MCrecc.coop

Your Touchstone Energy” Cooperative @(
Serves: Breckinridge, Grayson, Hancock, Hardin, Meade and Ohio counties
Headquartered: Brandenburg, KY

Number of meters: 28,478

Miles of line: 2,974









MESSAGE

Mark A. Bailey
President and CEO

Dr. James Sills
Chair, Board of Directors

FROM THE BOARD CHAIR AND CEO

ounded in June of 1961, Big Rivers
Electric Corporation celebrated its 50th
anniversary in 2011. We are proud of this
milestone and owe a significant debt
of gratitude to the vision and foresight of our
founders. Much of our success today is a tribute
to our predecessors’ planning and ambition.

Half a century later, we remain dedicated to our
mission of safely delivering low-cost, reliable
wholesale power and cost-effective services
desired by our Members. Our electric rates
continue to be some of the lowest in the coun-
try, while our generating units remain among
the most reliable in our region. Likewise, our
employees have continued their commitment
to excellence. One of the most visible exam-
ples is their record of being some of the safest
workers nationally within the electric coopera-
tive program. These accomplishments were no

accident, as Big Rivers relies upon dedicated
employees committed to serving our Members
and the company'’s success. Teamwork is a core
value for Big Rivers, since it is one of the key
factors necessary for the company to success-
fully achieve our mission.

As the times have changed since our creation
in 1961, so has the electric utility industry’s
business climate. Like many electric generation
and transmission cooperatives, we have expe-
rienced rapid transformation in recent years.
This year alone, we faced uncertainty in nearly
every sector of our business—the most press-
ing being a difficult economy and impending
environmental regulations. A competent and
well-prepared team will be vital to success-
fully navigating the rough waters ahead. To
meet those challenges, Big Rivers’ manage-
ment team is continuously exploring options to



Message from the Board Chair and CEO (continued)

successfully balance achievement of our cor-
porate mission, while preparing for emerging
environmental regulations and ever-changing
utility markets. We are confident our dedicat-
ed staff and board of directors are prepared to
handle the tough challenges ahead thanks to
an experienced leadership team, committed
workforce and solid management practices.

To be certain we are equipped to handle the
future demands, Big Rivers undertook several
long-term initiatives this past year to meet the
challenges ahead. At the top of the list was
our first wholesale rate increase in 20 years.
While no one wants higher electricity rates, Big
Rivers’ board of directors and management
team determined we could no longer continue
to defer spending in critical areas and still
responsibly operate our generation and trans-
mission system. Although numerous significant
cost containment efforts were made prior and
subsequent to the rate increase filing, routine
and planned maintenance of Big Rivers' trans-
mission and generation assets are necessary
to safely deliver low-cost, reliable wholesale
power to our Members in western Kentucky.

Big Rivers applied for a 6.85 percent increase
in total Member revenue with the Kentucky

Public Service Commission on March 1, 2011.
On November 17, the Kentucky Public Service
Commission granted Big Rivers an increase of
$26.7 million annually, a 6.19 percent increase
in total Member revenue. Cost containment
efforts combined with an increase in revenue
were largely responsible for the company
achieving net margins of $5.6 million in 2011.
This margin achievement satisfied our loan
contract requirements. Fortunately, even with
this rate increase, Big Rivers will still supply
our Members with some of the lowest-priced
electricity in the nation.

To satisfy mandated generation reliability
requirements set forth by the North American
Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC), Big
Rivers successfully completed our first full

year as a member of the Midwest Independent
Transmission System Operator, Inc. (MISO).
This move was the most cost-effective alterna-
tive for meeting NERC-mandated emergency
reserve requirements. Big Rivers is the 35th
transmission owning member of MISO,

which provided us market access through
approximately 57,000 miles of interconnected
transmission lines valued at approximately
$17 billion. Most importantly, we are happy to
report that MISO membership enabled Big
Rivers to meet our reliability responsibilities
and sell 92 percent of our available generation
in 2011—a 4 percent increase from 2010. This
helped us keep our rates low.

Another major focus this past year was an
analysis of the impacts and costs associated
with the Environmental Protection Agency'’s
proposed environmental regulations. This
helped determine our compliance strategy.
These proposed new environmental compli-



ance rules will create some of the greatest
challenges ever faced by electric generators in
the U.S. The rules are complex, aggressive and

will negatively impact electricity production,
availability and rates. Their impact will go well
beyond the confines of Kentucky, impacting
our U.S. economy and national security.

This year, we have taken a proactive approach
to inform local officials and community lead-
ers, as well as state and national legislators,
regarding our concerns with these burden-
some proposals, which come at a time when
the economy is still struggling from recession.
In April of 2011, we testified before the U.S.
Congressional Subcommittee on Energy and
Power regarding how these regulations will
affect Big Rivers and our Members. We also
worked hard to inform our Members’
customers how these regulations will ultimate-
ly increase electric costs, affect reliability and
reduce employment. To help further address
these matters, Big Rivers hired Eric Robeson
as vice president of plant construction in 2011.
Since joining the management team, he has
analyzed compliance options, costs and
implementation timeframes.

Big Rivers’ executive management and board
of directors will continue to carefully evaluate
all options to optimize our investment and
ensure environmental compliance, while safely
maintaining reliability with the least possible
cost impact to our Members. Working as a

team, Big Rivers’ board, management and
employees have accomplished major mile-
stones in 2011. We know that maintaining
the right balance in the future will be the key
to Big Rivers and our Members' continuing
success in the coming years. The future holds
great challenges, but we are confident in our
ability to navigate the uncertain waters ahead.
We will continue to add value for Members
through excellence in providing reliable and
low-cost power for years to come.

Dr. James Sills
Chair, Board of Directors

Mark A. Bailey
President and CEO
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Standing (left to right):

Dr. James Sills, Chair
Meade County RECC

Wayne Elliott, Vice-Chair
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

William Denton
Kenergy Corp.

Seated (left to right):

Lee Bearden
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Paul Edd Butler
Meade County RECC

Larry Elder, Secretary-Treasurer
Kenergy Corp.

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Standing (left to right): Seated (left to right):
Paula Mitchell, Executive Assistant James Haner, Eric Robeson, V.P. Environmental
James Miller, Corporate Counsel V.P. Administrative Services Services & Construction
Albert Yockey, V.P. Governmental Marty Littrel, Communications & Robert Berry, V.P Power
Ry E'm‘erpr/se Bl Community Relations Manager Production
Management Mark Bailey, President & CEO
David Crockett, Mark Hite, V.P. Accounting &
V.P. System Operations Interim CFO



using T EAMWORK

TO NAVIGATE THE TURBULENT WATERS

n March 1, 2011, Big Rivers Electric

Corporation filed with the Kentucky

Public Service Commission (KPSC)

its first general rate adjustment in 20
years. The filing application requested approval
to increase wholesale electric rates by 6.85
percent to our three distribution cooperative
Members: Jackson Purchase Energy Corpora-
tion, Kenergy Corp., and Meade County Rural
Electric Cooperative Corporation.

In the years since Big Rivers last increased
wholesale rates in 1991, the Consumer Price
Index has risen approximately 64 percent. Prior
to and following the rate increase filing, Big Riv-
ers initiated multiple cost containment actions
to address decreased wholesale electric revenue
resulting from the depressed economy as well

as additional expenses required to judiciously
operate its business.

Our board of directors and management team
constantly strive to safely provide reliable, low-
cost service to our Members. However, to ad-
dress increasing requirements in a challenging
environment, we could no longer delay a whole-
sale electric rate increase.

This rate application process required
considerable planning and teamwork among
Big Rivers’ employees and advisors. Satisfacto-
rily meeting required deadlines for filing
testimony and responding to data requests
and discovery for the better part of a year was
a true demonstration of the leadership and
dedication of our employees.

Yet, even with the recent rate change, Big Rivers
continues to provide some of the lowest whole-
sale power rates in Kentucky and in the nation.

Big Rivers conducted a thorough evaluation of
the costs of service to determine the revenue
contribution each customer class made com-
pared to the cost to serve those customers.
This cost of service study revealed that large
industrial customers were paying more than
their share compared to residential customers.
The gap was so significant that even without any
rate increase at all, residential rates would have
had to be increased 6.7 percent to eliminate
the disparity. As a result, Big Rivers proposed
to reduce the gap by one-quarter of the dif-
ference. In addition, a depreciation study was
conducted of all Big Rivers assets as part of the
rate case filing.

On November 17, the KPSC authorized Big
Rivers to adjust its electric rates approximately
$26.7 million annually, a 6.19 percent increase
in total Member revenue. Successfully navigat-
ing this complex process was a direct result of
significant effort and cooperation from a team
of employees.



Line crew personnel
inspect, treat, and replace
transmission poles as
part of an ongoing
maintenance program.




Energy services
personnel plan,
schedule, analyze, and
forecast use of our

generating assets to
maximize the benefit

to Members.

MOVING THOUGH CHANGING WATERS WITH

INTEGRITY

ig Rivers has a good working relationship with state
and federal legislators. Big Rivers personnel
actively monitor legislation and regulations that
might impact electric cooperatives and the utility
industry. The company is especially vigilant in monitoring
a series of regulations recently proposed by the Environ-
mental Protection Agency (EPA), as they will have a signifi-
cant impact on coal-fired power plants. The regulations, if
approved, would ultimately increase the cost of electricity
and could affect reliability, at least in the short term.

During much of 2011, Big Rivers personnel analyzed the
near and distant impact of pending EPA regulations on
company operations and financial metrics. A number of
cross-departmental teams are evaluating environmental
compliance requirements that will necessitate expensive
construction projects at our generating stations, as well as
financing, financial modeling, rate case evaluation, and de-
mand side management programs. Although everyone is
interested in protecting the environment, the challenge is
to balance benefits with costs, while achieving the intend-
ed results in the most efficient and cost-effective manner.

Big Rivers also continues to maintain a good working rela-
tionship with the Kentucky Public Service Commission. Big
Rivers personnel are working with other Kentucky utilities
in regulatory advisory groups regarding possible changes
to the KPSC's regulations on rules of procedures and tariffs.
Big Rivers personnel are also providing input in connec-
tion with the implementation of smart grid standards and
related investments. Big Rivers received recommendations
from KPSC staff on the 2010 filing of its integrated resource
plan, which will be incorporated in Big Rivers’ next inte-
grated resource plan filing.

Regarding fuel supply, Big Rivers continues to balance the
fuel portfolio in accordance with our strategic plan while
maintaining transparent fuel procurement processes. Big



Rivers’ generating units are operated in a way
that minimizes cost and maximizes efficiency.
In light of the low demand for electricity and
low market prices for off-system energy sales,
Big Rivers has been challenged to meet

the needs of Members while still achieving
financial objectives. As noted earlier, cost
containment measures have enabled Big
Rivers to do both.

Big Rivers successfully integrated into Midwest
Independent Transmission System Operator,
Inc. (MISO) in late 2010 and actively partici-
pates in related activities and training to
ensure the effectiveness of Big Rivers’ opera-
tions within the MISO market. Examination

of the costs and benefits of MISO member-
ship versus other options is ongoing, and the
company filed an annual report to update

the KPSC on this matter in 2011. To develop

The rate application
process required
employees and advisors to
file testimony and

respond to requests for
data and discovery.

new revenue streams, Big Rivers continues to
identify and evaluate power supply business
opportunities and strategic partnerships. Now
that full integration into MISO is complete,

the focus is on optimizing participation and
developing strategies designed to maximize
Member benefit. Personnel received training in
2011 to gain additional understanding of MISO
procedures, as well as oversee transmission-re-
lated issues and advocate Big Rivers’ position.

By maintaining a balance between risks and
benefits, Big Rivers manages Member rate
volatility and the impact on net margins.
Personnel monitor the effectiveness of enter-
prise risk management policies and work
with the Members to implement depreciation
studies, cost of service studies, and rate
design to stabilize earnings for Big Rivers
and our Members.
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PERFORMING WITH EXC E LLE N CE

ig Rivers’ generating stations exceeded

all of their key performance indica-

tor targets in 2011. The power plants

achieved a near-record equivalent
availability factor of 93.3 percent, which is the
percentage of time a generating unit is avail-
able for power production. The higher the
percentage, the more efficiently and produc-
tive the generating system is running. Results
of 2011 were second only to the year 2010 as
the best performance in the company’s history.

The 2011 equivalent forced outage rate,
which measures the percentage of time a
generating unit is unexpectedly off-line or
unable to obtain its rated capacity, was 4.1
percent, and actual net generation for the
year was 12,444,872 MWh.

The fleet-wide net heat rate of our generating
fleet was also favorable at 11,001 net Btu/kWh
compared to the annual target of 11,067. Net
heat rate measures how efficiently the energy
contained in coal that is burned is converted
to electricity. This favorable heat rate saved
Big Rivers’ Members more than $1.7 million in
fuel costs in 2011.

Coleman Station set records for continuous
days in service on all three of its generating
units in 2011: Unit 1 — 144 days, Unit 2 - 104
days, and Unit 3 — 140 days. Coleman Station
also exceeded its annual generation target by
more than 215,000 MWh.

As part of our mission, Big Rivers strives to
meet the Members' reliability needs and regu-
latory compliance requirements in the most
cost-effective manner. Employees work with
our Members to adopt criteria to evaluate the

economic and reliability impact of transmis-
sion expansion or improvement projects, as
well as monitor the capabilities and expan-
sions of surrounding utility transmission sys-
tems. Big Rivers completed or substantially
completed 12 capital construction projects in
2011. Regarding transmission service reliability,
Big Rivers met the target goal for two member
systems as well as system-wide target for aver-
age outage duration.

Big Rivers complies with all North American
Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC)
reliability standards and SERC Reliability
Corporation regional guidelines consistent
with a corporate culture of compliance. Em-
ployees continue to efficiently maintain the
transmission system with a focus on Member
reliability and power import and export
capability. This includes evaluation of shared
services that provide value to end-use
consumers through economies of scale.
Installation of a new two-way radio system

Right-of-way personnel manage vegetation to
keep trees from causing outages and to help
maintain reliability of our transmission system.
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Control room operators are
responsible for the safe and
efficient operation of our
generating units. Personnel
improve or maintain
performance and trouble-
shoot operating issues.

for Big Rivers and all three Members began in 39 transformers, six capacitor banks, 37 line

2011 and will be completed in 2012. switches, and 78 battery banks. Big Rivers also
completed two aerial inspections of the trans-

As part of an ongoing maintenance program, mission system as required by Kentucky Public

Energy Transmission & Substation employees Service Commission regulations.

inspected and treated 3,375 poles and re-

placed 62 rejected poles. They performed a

ground inspection of 466 miles of transmission

line right-of-way as required by NERC, treated

380 miles with herbicide, and performed a

full-width cut on 48 miles of right-of-way. In

addition, employees tested 43 circuit breakers,



Energy Transmission & Substation employees

achieved one year with no lost-time incidents in

January 2011.

SHOOTING THE RAPIDS OF POWER DELIVERY WITH

SAFETY

ig Rivers emphasizes safety with em-

ployees, Members, contractors, and

the public. Team members update,

implement, and communicate the
comprehensive safety plan on an annual basis
and assist the Member systems with their
safety needs.

On January 14, Big Rivers employees reached
a significant company-wide safety milestone
by completing a year without a lost-time inci-
dent, which was the first time company em-
ployees reached this milestone. This achieve-
ment is a credit to all employees, because it
could not have been accomplished without
each employee doing his or her part to
maintain a safe working environment. Also in
January, Transmission & Substation employees
achieved one year with no lost-time incidents;
Coleman Station and Sebree Station complet-
ed five years and two years, respectively.

Employees at Sebree Generating Station
were awarded their seventh Governor's Safety
Award in June. Sebree Station employees re-
ceived this award for achieving more than one
million man-hours without a lost-time injury as
of March 31. Safety is a foundation for all

decisions and expectations of Big
Rivers’ workforce, so this milestone is a
significant achievement.

Wilson Station employees completed four
years with no lost-time incidents on May 15,
and they successfully worked 835,667 hours
with no lost time as of June 30. As a result,
Wilson employees received their eighth
Governor's Safety Award. Safety is the most
important corporate value at Big Rivers, be-
cause it protects the life and well being of our
most important asset: our employees.

Big Rivers sent a contingent of employees to
Kentucky’s 2011 Governor's Safety and Health
Conference, including Warren Hust Jr.,

past president of the Kentucky Safety and
Health Network, and Donna Haynes, present
board member of the Kentucky Safety and
Health Network.

Headquarters employees completed one year
with no recordable incidents on June 22, as
did Wilson Station employees on October 6,
and Transmission & Substation employees on
November 17.



Coleman Station employees completed five years Sebree Station employees completed two years

with no lost-time incidents in January 2011 and with no lost-time incidents in January 2011 and
received the Governor's Safety Award at the 2011 received the Governor's Safety Award at the 2011
Governor’s Safety and Health Conference. Governor’s Safety and Health Conference.

Wilson Station employees completed four years with no lost-time incidents in May 2011 and received their
eighth Governor’'s Safety Award from Kentucky Secretary of Labor Mark Brown.
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MOVING IN SYNC WiTH ouR MEMBERS NEEDS

ig Rivers has taken a proactive ap-

proach towards advancing Kentucky

Governor Steve Beshear's energy plan:

Intelligent Energy Choices for Ken-
tucky’s Future. Strategy 1 of the plan addresses
the energy efficiency of Kentucky’s homes,
buildings, industries, and transportation fleet
by establishing the goal that energy efficiency
will offset at least 18 percent of Kentucky's
projected 2025 energy demand.

In 2011, Big Rivers worked cooperatively with
our Members in developing demand side
management programs intended to impact
summer and winter demands for electricity,
annual kWh sales, and water savings designed
to reduce energy consumption at the retail lev-
el. These energy efficiency programs provide
incentives to both residential and commercial
customers of the Member cooperatives to
modify energy consumption through purchase,
construction, or servicing of electricity-consum-
ing equipment. The following nine programs
were launched in October 2011:

B Residential Lighting Program
(CFL distribution)

B Residential ENERGY STAR
Clothes Washer

B Residential ENERGY STAR
Refrigerator Program

® ENERGY STAR Heating, Ventilation and
Air Conditioning (HVAC) Program

B Residential Weatherization Program
(development still underway)

B Residential Touchstone Energy New
Construction Program

B HVAC Tune-Up Program

® Commercial/Industrial Efficient Lighting
Program

B Commercial/Industrial Efficient
Equipment Program

The KPSC approved an annual budget for the
energy efficiency programs of $1 million in
2012 that could result in more than 2.2 MW

of reduced demand and save an estimated
6,900 MWh annually for retail Members. En-
ergy efficiency programs have the capability to
slow load growth, which may allow Big Rivers
to delay the need for purchase of additional
generating assets.

Engineering personnel manage construction
projects to expand or improve the capabilities of

our transmission system.



Information systems
personnel develop
software applications for
the Member cooperatives.



The United Way
committee at Big Rivers
is comprised of em-

ployee volunteers from

each of our locations.
These volunteers plan
and deliver an annual
campaign to generate
employee contributions
to United Way.

SHOWERING THE

COMMUNITY

WITH CORPORATE AND EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT

ommunity service, as part of our corporate

values, is a strategic objective at Big Rivers. We

persistently support and encourage employee

involvement in civic and philanthropic organiza-
tions within the communities served by Big Rivers and
our Members.

This year, Big Rivers and our employees contributed
$208,285 to local United Way agencies. This was a 7 per-
cent increase in employee contributions from the previous
year's campaign, which is a testament to the charitable
character of our employees. Big Rivers has always encour-
aged a strong tradition of volunteering and giving back

to the communities it serves. This year alone, 77 percent
of our employees contributed to United Way, which was
one of the highest participation rates in the region. Total
employee contributions to the 2011 United Way campaign
were $166,285, an average of $326 per employee. Big
Rivers stimulates employee participation and giving rates
by increasing the corporate contribution based on the
percentage increase of employee dollars and participation
rates over the previous year. This year, the Big Rivers
corporate donation totaled $42,000.

Big Rivers employees are extremely active in a variety

of civic and community events. To foster proactive involve-
ment in philanthropic activities, Big Rivers initiated an
employee community support program that financially
supplements employees’ participation in community ac-
tivities based on their volunteer hours or dollar-for-dollar
matching of their financial contributions.

In addition, the company was a major contributor to Junior
Achievement, March for Babies, Relay for Life, Habitat for
Humanity, Kentucky Governor's Scholars Program, and the
Philippine Project (in conjunction with the National Rural



Electric Cooperative Association International
Foundation, which brings electricity to rural
villages). Thanks to active participation and a
concern for helping others, this year's fundrais-
ing efforts were a success and brought value
to our communities.

Over the past 50 years, employees at Big Riv-
ers have consistently offered their leadership
abilities by serving on numerous committees
and boards throughout the area. This year,
many of our employees gave back to the local
communities in our region by serving in advi-
sory positions for children advocacy groups,

economic development organizations, health
care foundations, chambers of commerce, and

contributing to university and school boards.
Helping our local communities grow and pros-
per is a long tradition for Big Rivers and

our Members.

Big Rivers supports a

team of employees annually
to participate in the March
for Babies walk in
Henderson, Kentucky.



Production employees receive training on power plant
operations, equipment maintenance, and safety

procedures. Big Rivers stresses the importance of

safety, because the company values employees as
our most important asset.

RES P ECT FOR EVERY EMPLOYEE ON BOARD

Big Rivers is powered by a well-trained, engaged workforce dedicated to teamwork and the success
of both the company and our Member cooperatives. The company has:

B Planned to meet current and anticipated B Maintained a positive relationship with the
staffing needs in recognition of an aging Union;
workforce;
B Emphasized with employees the impor-
® Enhanced the strategy and process for tance of Members and helped build
communicating with employees; employee understanding of how their

efforts impact Members; and
B Encouraged teamwork across departments

through multi-functional teams; B Nurtured and supported employee
participation in civic and philanthropic
® Developed tools necessary to track and organizations within our local communities.

meet training needs;

Maintaining balance is an integral part of the approaching retirement, and the increased
human resources function. Compensation and pressure on costs due to the depressed power
benefits are adjusted as necessary to attract sales market in the current economy.

and retain employees, while minimizing costs

to help meet profit or margin requirements for During 2011, the generating stations lost 16
the corporation. A sufficient and well-trained employees to retirement, taking with them
workforce is necessary to keep day-to-day more than 522 years of experience in operat-
operations running smoothly while preparing ing and maintaining power plant equipment.
for the future. Staffing is made all the more With this in mind, hiring practices have been
challenging given the number of employees put into place to prepare for and offset the



Human resources person-
nel address critical issues in
staffing, benefit design, and

employee relations.

i

impact of an aging workforce. This includes
temporarily hiring additional employees at the
generating stations before they are needed
due to upcoming retirements.

In addition, the production department pur-
chased a power plant operator training
simulator in 2011 to improve the quality of

its control room operator training program
and to expedite the training of new operators
to replace retirees. In order to continue serv-
ing Members with excellence, Big Rivers also
sharpens employees’ skills through various
training activities.

Benefit costs were also a focus in 2011, with

& i

|

the decision made to market the employee
health plan. As a result of that effort, Big Rivers
is self-insuring its medical plan and moved to
a new dental plan provider in 2012 with signifi-

cant expected savings in the cost of providing
employee health plan benefits.

A compensation study was initiated to gauge
the competiveness of pay rates and appropri-
ateness in design of the non-bargaining
employee salary structure. Adjustments as
determined by the study were implemented
in early 2012.



This nesting box,
installed at Wilson
Station, will hopefully
house a pair of

Peregrine Falcons in

the near future.

ENVIRONMENTALLY
CONSCIOUS

OF THE LANDSCAPE THAT SURROUNDS US

ne of the greatest challenges facing the electric

utility industry is finding the proper balance be-

tween the public's desire for a cleaner environ-

ment and low-cost reliable electricity. To address
these challenges, Big Rivers took several proactive steps in
2011 to realize its environmental responsibilities.

In May, Big Rivers hired Eric Robeson as vice president of
plant construction to develop an overall compliance strat-
egy to achieve federal EPA requirements of the Cross-State
Air Pollution Rule and Mercury and Air Toxics Standards.
These regulations will require electric utilities to further re-
duce their emissions of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and
mercury from their generating units.

As part of this effort, Big Rivers engaged the engineering
firm of Sargent & Lundy to perform a three-phase envi-
ronmental compliance study. The study measured existing
emissions from the generation fleet, identified viable tech-
nology solutions to meet the new environmental regula-
tions, and developed a least-cost solution for compliance
with these regulations.

In addition, Big Rivers formed an internal team to ensure
that all appropriate areas of the company were focused on
these new environmental regulations. The primary goal of
this team is to develop the required regulatory filings asso-
ciated with an environmental compliance plan, certificates
of public convenience and necessity, and environmental
surcharge update by the end of 2012. These filings will
allow Big Rivers to receive KPSC approval of its
compliance plan.



A ladder structure Is as-
sembled onto the front of
the nesting box to provide
falcons with a perch.

HELPING WILDLIFE

Personnel from the Kentucky Department of
Fish and Wildlife Resources installed a Per-
egrine Falcon nesting box at the top of

the Wilson Generating Station stack in
mid-September.

Kate Heyden, aviation biologist, offered her
thanks to the Wilson crew that helped with the

installation. “We greatly appreciate your sup-
port of our Peregrine Falcon restoration pro-

gram. The Peregrine Falcon is a rare species,
with only 13 nesting pairs in Kentucky (most of
which are in nest boxes).”

Hopefully, this nest box will provide another
safe nesting location for these birds in the near
future. A similar nesting box was installed at
Coleman Generating Station in 2010.

EXPLORING ELECTRIC VEHICLES
Big Rivers purchased the highly-touted Chevy




Environmentally Conscious (continued)

Volt in December 2011 to test its performance
and raise public awareness of new electric ve-
hicle technology. This vehicle purchase follows
a corporate strategic initiative of proactive
asset management, because electric vehicles
are typically charged at night when our gener-
ating assets are not fully utilized.

The Volt is the first American production ve-
hicle designed to travel extended distances in
the electric vehicle mode with full performance
and speed. In its simplest form, the Volt oper-
ates two ways: short range using only battery
power and extended range using gasoline-
generated electricity. The Chevy Volt can be
charged with a standard 120-volt household
outlet, making charging easily available.

Initial indications suggest about $1.50 of
electricity will permit the vehicle to travel ap-
proximately 35 miles using battery power only.
Beyond its battery power radius, the Volt's
gasoline-powered generator automatically
engages to produce electricity that allows the
vehicle to be driven an additional 300 miles.
Overall, the Volt is allowing Big Rivers to
better understand this technology and the
opportunities it may present.

Looking to the future, this technology

could lead to expansion of our demand side
management programs that permit better
utilization of our generating assets, while
delaying the need to add even more expen-
sive assets to meet our Members' increased
electricity needs. As the popularity and
economics become more attractive for these
electric vehicles, they could provide opportuni-
ties for low-cost, off-peak energy programs.

RECYCLING

In order to be better stewards of the environ-

ment, Big Rivers launched on-site recycling
efforts in 2011. Recycling programs are now
operational at three facilities, and the remain-
ing locations will begin participation in 2012.

Sebree Generating Station and Energy Trans-
mission & Substation have partnered with
Henderson Recycling to collect cardboard
and paper waste. Sebree Station also collects
plastic recyclable waste. Big Rivers personnel
installed 96-gallon plastic bins in areas such as
the control room, offices, and lunch rooms for
easy access by employees. These bins collect
recyclable items like newspaper, magazines,
and plastic bottles.

Sebree warehouse personnel also recycle large
cardboard boxes received with material ship-
ments. The program was so successful that
Sebree Station is on the waiting list with Hen-
derson Recycling for a second large collection
bin. The ultimate goal of this program at our
Sebree and Transmission & Substation facilities
is to reduce the amount of recyclable material

In partnership with Henderson Recycling,

warehouse personnel recycle cardboard
boxes received with material shipments.



Big Rivers purchased
this Chevy Volt to test
its performance and
raise awareness of elec-

tric vehicle technology.

sent to the Henderson, Kentucky landfill and Thanks to the conscientious efforts of our
extend its usable life, which is only about six employees, their waste recycling will
more years at current usage levels. not only reduce the volume of material
being sent to landfills, it will also reduce the
As part of another recycling partnership, the cost associated with traditional garbage re-
city of Hartford, Kentucky delivered a new moval. These recycling programs at Energy
recycle trailer to Wilson Generating Station, Transmission & Substation, Sebree Station,
one of six tailor-made trailers Hartford pur- and Wilson Station exemplify our corporate
chased with grant money for recycling. Wilson values of community service, teamwork, and
employees are pleased to join the city of environmental consciousness.

Hartford in this effort to reduce recyclable
materials going to landfills.



2011 FINANCIAL REVIEW

Big Rivers’ mission is to safely provide low-
cost, reliable wholesale electricity and cost-
effective shared services to three Member
distribution cooperatives—Jackson Purchase
Energy Corporation, Kenergy Corp. and Meade
County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation.
At December 31, 2011, the Members provide
service to 112,936 retail customers in 22 western
Kentucky counties.

On March 1, 2011, Big Rivers filed an application
with the Kentucky Public Service Commission
(KPSC) seeking to increase its Member
wholesale tariff rates. Per the application,

the proposed Member revenue increase was
$29.6 million, a 6.85 percent increase in total
Member revenue. At the time of the filing, Big
Rivers had not obtained a wholesale tariff rate
increase in 20 years. The KPSC issued an order
on November 17, 2011, approving an increase
in electric rates of $26.7 million, a 6.19 percent
increase in total Member revenue. The rate
increase was retroactively applied for service
rendered on September 1, 2011.

Net Margins

Dollars in millions

2010

201

In 2011 Big Rivers also completed its first full
year of membership with Midwest Independent
Transmission System Operator, Inc. (MISO).
MISO coordinates, monitors and controls
operation of the electrical power system in this
region. ACES Power Marketing continues to
market Big Rivers’ surplus power.

Big Rivers operates 1,444 MW of owned
generating facilities and 312 MW of Henderson
Municipal Power & Light Station Two, of which
Big Rivers is currently allocated 202 MW.

The company also owns transmission assets,
principally 1,266 miles of transmission lines and
22 transmission substations. Net utility plant at
December 31, 2011 was $1,092.1 million, and
total assets were $1,417.9 million.

Big Rivers completed 2011 with a favorable set
of key financial metrics, discussed in the pages
that follow.

Equity

Dollars in millions

2010 $386.6

2011 $389.8




NET MARGINS AND EQUITIES

The 2011 net margin was $5.6 million, resulting
in a 1.12 times interest earned ratio (TIER) and
margins for interest ratio (MFIR), and a 1.47 debt
service coverage ratio (DSCR). Equities to total

assets were 27.49 percent at December 31, 2011.

The net margin for 2010 was $7.0 million. Three
items account for the majority of the $1.4
million decline in the 2011 net margin. First,
2011 reflects additional expense of $4.6 million
related to a full year of MISO membership fees
versus one month of membership expense in
2010. Second, following a thorough analysis
during 2010, the balance of the reserve for
obsolescence that was established for certain
materials and supplies inventory upon the
Unwind closing was written off, resulting in a
positive impact of $1.9 million to the 2010 net
margin. Third, largely offsetting the unfavorable
expense variance is a $5.0 million increase in net
sales margin (electric sales revenue less variable
cost) in 2011. This is principally due to the
Member rate increase and higher smelter and
off-system sales volumes in 2011, largely offset
by lower market pricing in off-system sales.

Energy Sales

Megawatt-hours (MWhs) in millions

2010

2011

ENERGY SALES AND ELECTRIC
REVENUES

Energy sales increased to 13,255,125 MWh in
2011, up from 11,969,420 MWh in 2010. There
were two primary reasons for the MWh sales
increase. First, an additional 506,389 M\Wh were
sold to the smelters, a 7.98 percent increase over
2010, due to the restarting of an idle potline

at Century Aluminum. Second, an additional
846,675 MWh were sold in the off-system market,
a 38.32 percent increase over 2010.

Non-smelter Member sales decreased 67,359
MWh in 2011, or 1.98 percent, driven by weather.
Electric energy revenue increased to $558.4
million in 2011, up from $514.5 million in 2010,
due to a combination of off-system sales,
Century Aluminum restarting one of

their potlines, and the September 1, 2011,

rate increase.

Electric Revenues
Dollars in millions

2010

2011




Financial Review (continued)

WHOLESALE RATES

Big Rivers has all-requirements wholesale power
contracts with its Members through December
31, 2043. Rural Member wholesale revenue per
MWh was $46.78 in 2011 versus $45.15 in 2010.
Large industrial Member wholesale revenue per
MWh was $41.68 in 2011 versus $41.85 in 2010.
The aluminum smelter wholesale contracts
terminate December 31, 2023. Aluminum
smelter wholesale revenue per MWh was
$44.48 in 2011 versus $44.05 in 2010. Big Rivers'
wholesale Member tariff rate and the aluminum
smelter contracts are regulated by the KPSC
and the Rural Utilities Service (RUS).

Wholesale Member Rates*
Dollars per megawatt-hour (MWh)

*Note that: 2009, 2010 and 2011 rates reflect a reduction due to
the Member Rate Stability Mechanism
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Wholesale power market prices continue to be
depressed, as has been the case since 2008.
The revenue per MWh received by Big Rivers
for its off-system sales was $33.30 in 2011, down
from $37.90 received in 2010, and significantly
below the off-system sales rate of $48.03
received in 2007.

LINES OF CREDIT AND LETTERS
OF CREDIT

Big Rivers has two $50 million lines of credit
available, one with CoBank, ACB, expiring July
16, 2012, and the other with National Rural
Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC),
expiring July 16, 2014. The CFC line of credit
contains a $10 million embedded letter of credit
facility. At December 31, 2011, letters of credit
totaling $5.4 million are outstanding with CFC.

LONG-TERM DEBT

At December 31, 2011, debt to total assets is
55.46 percent. Big Rivers significantly reduced its
long-term debt by $252.7 million over the past
three years to $786.4 million at December 31,
2011, down from $1,039.1 million at December
31, 2008. The effective interest rate thereon, at
December 31, 2011, is 5.75 percent. The RUS
Series A Note has a December 31, 2011 fair value
of $521.3 million and a stated value of $523.2
million. The non-interest bearing RUS Series B
Note, having a December 31, 2011 fair value

of $123.0 million and a stated value of $245.5
million, has no payment due until maturity on
December 31, 2023.



Big Rivers has two issues of tax-exempt
pollution control bonds outstanding, totaling
$142.1 million. The larger of the two issues
was refinanced June 8, 2010—the $83.3 million
County of Ohio, Kentucky, Pollution Control
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A. These Series
2010A Bonds now bear interest at a 6 percent
fixed rate, with a maturity date of July 15, 2031.
The second issue—the $58.8 million County
of Ohio, Kentucky, Pollution Control Revenue
Bonds, Series 1983—are variable rate demand
bonds currently being held by the liquidity
provider, bearing an interest rate of

3.25 percent.

LIQUIDITY

Liquidity is good, as cash and cash equivalents
total $44.8 million at December 31, 2011.
Additionally, the company has the two lines of
credit totaling $100 million discussed earlier.
Also of significance, at December 31, 2011,

Big Rivers had voluntarily prepaid $11.5 million
on its 5.75 percent RUS Series A Note, which
the company may claw back by avoiding future
quarterly debt service payments. Big Rivers
funded all of its operating expenses and capital
expenditures in 2011 internally without any new
borrowing. Capital expenditures totaled $38.7
million in 2011, versus $42.7 million in 2010.

Cash and
Cash Equivalents

Dollars in millions

2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
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KPMG LLP

1601 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2499

Independent Auditors® Report

The Board of Directors and Members
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (the Company) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related statements of operations, equities, and cash flows for the
years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The accompanying
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009 were audited by other auditors
whose report thereon dated March 26, 2010, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 26, 2012,
on our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this
report in considering the results of our audits.

KPMe LEP

March 26, 2012

KPWAG LLP s a Delaeware lmiled kabily pacinarship,
the U5 membdr firm of KFMG Inlérnational Cooperative
(RPIAG Intemational™]. a Swiss enlity,



BALAN CE S H E ETS As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 — (Dollars in thousands)

Assets 2011 2010
UTILITY PLANT — Net $1,092,063 $ 1,091,566
RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS — Member rate mitigation 163,162 217,562
OTHER DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS — At cost 5,911 5,473
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 44,849 44,780
Accounts receivable 44,287 45,905

Fuel inventory 33,894 37,328
Nonfuel inventory 25,295 23,218

Prepaid expenses 4,217 2,502

Total current assets 152,542 153,733

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER 4,244 3,851

TOTAL $1,417,922 $ 1,472,185

Equities and Liabilities

CAPITALIZATION:
Equities $ 389,820 $ 386,575
Long-term debt 714,254 809,623
Total capitalization 1,104,074 1,196,198

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Current maturities of long-term obligations 72,145 7,373
Notes payable - 10,000
Purchased power payable 1,878 1,516
Accounts payable 28,446 29,782
Accrued expenses 10,380 10,627
Accrued interest 9,899 11,134

Total current liabilities 122,748 70,432

DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER:

Regulatory liabilities — Member rate mitigation 169,001 185,893
Other 22,099 19,662
Total deferred credits and other 191,100 205,555

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (see Note 14)

TOTAL $1,417,922 $ 1,472,185

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 — (Dollars in thousands)

2011 2010 2009
OPERATING REVENUE $ 561,989 $ 527,324 $ 341,333
LEASE REVENUE - - 32,027
Total operating revenue 561,989 527,324 373,360
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation 226,229 207,749 80,655
Power purchased and interchanged 112,262 99,421 116,883
Production, excluding fuel 50,410 52,507 22,381
Transmission and other 39,085 35,273 35,444
Maintenance 47,718 46,880 29,820
Depreciation and amortization 35,407 34,242 32,485
Total operating expenses 511,111 476,072 317,668
ELECTRIC OPERATING MARGIN 50,878 51,252 55,692
INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER:
Interest 45,226 46,570 59,898
Amortization of loss from termination of long-term lease - - 2,172
Income tax expense 100 259 1,025
Other —net 220 166 112
Total interest expense and other 45,546 46,995 63,207
OPERATING MARGIN 5,332 4,257 (7,515)
NON-OPERATING MARGIN:
Gain on Unwind transaction (see Note 2) - - 537,978
Interest income and other 268 2,734 867
Total non-operating margin 268 2,734 538,845

NET MARGIN $ 5,600 $ 6,991 $ 531,330

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES (Deficit)

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 — (Dollars in thousands)

Other Equities

Consumers’ Accumulated
Total Accumulated Donated Contributions Other
Equities Margin Capital and to Debt Comprehensive

(Deficit) (Deficit) Memberships Service Income

BALANCE - December 31, 2008 $ (154,602) $ (146,823) $ 764 $3,681 $(12,224)
Comprehensive income:

Net margin 531,330 531,330 - - -

Defined benefit plans 2,664 - - - 2,664

Total comprehensive income 533,994 531,330 - - 2,664

BALANCE — December 31, 2009 379,392 384,507 764 3,681 (9,560)
Comprehensive income:

Net margin 6,991 6,991 - - -

Defined benefit plans 192 - - _ 192

Total comprehensive income 7.183 6,991 - - 192

BALANCE ~ December 31, 2010 386,575 391,498 764 3681  (9,368)
Comprehensive income:

Net margin 5 600 5,600 _ _ _

Defined benefit plans (2,355) - - - (2,355)

Total comprehensive income 3,245 5,600 - - (2,355)

BALANCE - December 31, 2011 $ 389,820 $ 397,098 $ 764 $ 3,681 $(11,723)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 — (Dollars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: UL 2010 2009
Net margin $ 5,600 $ 6,991 $ 531,330
Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 37,808 37,650 37,084
Amortization of deferred loss (gain) on sale-leaseback — net — - 2,172
Deferred lease revenue — - (3,768)
Residual value payments obligation gain - - (3,881)
Interest compounded - RUS Series A Note 8,398 - -
Interest compounded - RUS Series B Note 6,884 6,499 6,136
Noncash gain on Unwind transaction - - (269,441)
Cash received for member rate mitigation = - 217,856
Noncash member rate mitigation revenue (18,947) (23,953) (12,033)
Changes in certain assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 1,618 1,588 (26,049)
Inventories 1,357 (2,304) (3,497)
Prepaid expenses (1,715) 731 (2,783)
Deferred charges 121 1,251 (1,538)
Purchased power payable 362 (1,846) (5,973)
Accounts payable (1,336) (875) 24,825
Accrued expenses (1,481) 2,800 7,881
Other — net (70) 555 6,852
Net cash provided by operating activities 38,599 29,087 505,173
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures (38,746) (42,683) (58,388)
Proceeds from restricted investments 56,095 28,143 8,982
Purchases of restricted investments and other deposits & investments - - (252,798)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 17,349 (14,540) (302,204)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on long-term obligations (45,879) (121,355) (168,956)
Proceeds from long-term obligations - 83,300 -
Principal payments on short-term notes payable (10,000) - (12,380)
Proceeds from short-term notes payable - 10,000 -
Debt issuance cost on bond refunding - (2,002) (246)
Net cash used in financing activities (55,879) (30,057) (181,582)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 69 (15,510) 21,387
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of year $ 44,780 $ 60,290 $ 38,903
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of year $ 44,849 $ 44,780 $ 60,290
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest $ 31,441 $ 37,268 $ 51,078
Cash paid for income taxes $ 130 $ 260 $ 626

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 (Dollars in thousands)

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

General Information — Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers or the Company), an electric generation and
transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution cooperatives (Kenergy
Corp., Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation) under
all requirements contracts, excluding the power needs of two large aluminum smelters (the Aluminum Smelters).
Additionally, Big Rivers sells power under separate contracts to Kenergy Corp. for the Aluminum Smelters load
and markets power to nonmember utilities and power marketers. The members provide electric power and
energy to industrial, residential, and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties.
The wholesale power contracts with the members remain in effect until December 31, 2043. Rates to Big Rivers'
members are established by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) and are subject to approval by

the Rural Utilities Service (RUS). The financial statements of Big Rivers include the provisions of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 980, Certain Types of Regulation,
which was adopted by the Company in 2003, and gives recognition to the ratemaking and accounting practices
of the KPSC and RUS.

Management evaluated subsequent events up to and including March 26, 2012, the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

Principles of Consolidation — The financial statements of Big Rivers include the accounts of Big Rivers and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Big Rivers Leasing Corporation (BRLC). All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated. BRLC was dissolved July 7, 2009.

Estimates — The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based upon
management's evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the financial statements.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.

System of Accounts — Big Rivers’ maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of
Accounts as prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies retain
authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Adjustments to RUS
accounting have been made to make the financial statements consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America.

Revenue Recognition — Revenues generated from the Company’s wholesale power contracts are based on
month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned. Prior to its termination, in accordance with FASB ASC
840, Leases, Big Rivers' revenue from the Lease Agreement was recognized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. The major components of this lease revenue include the annual lease payments and the Monthly
Margin Payments (described in note 2).

Utility Plant and Depreciation — Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted
services, materials, labor, overhead, and an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction.
Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total cost of
$250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the
effective rate of Big Rivers’ weighted average debt to the accumulated expenditures for qualifying projects
included in construction in progress.



Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining
service lives, as approved by the RUS and KPSC. During 2010, the Company commissioned a depreciation
study to evaluate the remaining economic lives of its assets. In 2011, the study was completed and approved by
the RUS and KPSC. The annual composite depreciation rates used to compute depreciation expense were as
follows:

Jan-Nov 2011 Dec 2011
Electric plant 1.60%-2.47% 0.50%-20.22%
Transmission plant 1.76%-3.24% 1.42%-02.23%
General plant 1.11%-5.62% 2.84%-17.12%

For 2011, 2010, and 2009, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.91%, 1.86%, and 1.85%, respectively.
At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value of such plant is charged
to accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS.

Impairment Review of Long Lived Assets — Long-lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may be impaired. FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, requires the
evaluation of impairment by comparing an asset's carrying value to the estimated future cash flows the asset is
expected to generate over its remaining life. If this evaluation were to conclude that the future cash flows were
not sufficient to recover the carrying value of the asset, an impairment charge would be recorded based on the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair value (less costs to sell for assets to be disposed of by
sale) as a charge to net margin.

Inventory — Inventories are carried at average cost and include coal, petroleum coke, lime, limestone, oil and
gas used for electric generation, and materials and supplies used for utility operations. Emission allowances are
carried in inventory at a weighted average cost by each vintage year. Issuances of allowances are accounted for
on a vintage basis using a monthly weighted average cost.

Restricted Investments — Investments are restricted under KPSC order to establish certain reserve funds for
member rate mitigation in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction. These investments have been classified as
held-to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost (see note 9).

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Income Taxes — Big Rivers was formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization as described in Internal
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(12). To retain tax-exempt status under this section, at least 85% of the Big Rivers'
receipts must be generated from transactions with the Company’s members. In 1983, sales to nonmembers
resulted in Big Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can meet the 85% member income
requirement, the Company will not be eligible for tax exempt status and will be treated as a taxable cooperative.

As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitled to exclude the amount of patronage allocations to members from
taxable income. Income and expenses related to non-patronage sourced operations are taxable to Big Rivers.
Big Rivers files a federal income tax return and certain state income tax returns.

Under the provisions of FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax assets and
liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting purposes and amounts
reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon these
temporary differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which these differences are expected to reverse.
Deferred income tax expense or benefit is based on the change in assets and liabilities from period to period,
subject to an ongoing assessment of realization. Tax benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or



expected to be taken, in a tax return are recorded only when the more-likely than-not recognition threshold is
satisfied and measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
settlement.

() Patronage Capital — As provided in the bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year's patronage-sourced income,
both operating and nonoperating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of the bylaws, the
amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall not be less than the greater of regular taxable
patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable patronage-sourced income.

(m) Derivatives — Management has reviewed the requirements of FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and has
determined that certain contracts the Company is party to may meet the definition of a derivative under FASB
ASC 815. The Company has elected the Normal Purchase and Normal Sale exception for these contracts and,
therefore, the contracts are not required to be recognized at fair value in the financial statements.

(n) Fair Value Measurements — FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the
exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal, or
most advantageous, market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. FASB ASC 820 establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to
measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs when possible. The
three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

e |evel 1 —quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

® level 2 - observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar
assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets
that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data; and

® level 3-unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair values of the assets or liabilities, including certain pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.




2. LG&E LEASE AGREEMENT

Big Rivers, LG&E and KU, Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), and LG&E Energy Marketing (LEM),
closed effective July 17, 2009, a transaction resulting in a mutually acceptable early termination of the 1998 LG&E
Lease Agreement (referred herein as the Unwind Transaction or Unwind). LG&E and KU, WKEC, and LEM are
collectively referred to in the notes as “LG&E and KU Entities.” This transaction was approved by the KPSC and the
RUS. The Unwind Transaction resulted in Big Rivers recognizing a net gain of $537,978. This transaction resulted

in the acquisition of assets, the assumption of liabilities, the forgiveness of liabilities, and the establishment of

a regulatory reserve prescribed by the KPSC in their approval of the transaction. Assets and liabilities in the
Unwind Transaction were accounted for at fair value or recorded value, as appropriate. The gain from the Unwind

Transaction is summarized as follows:

Assets received:
Cash
Coleman scrubber
Inventory
Construction in progress
Utility plant assets
SO2 allowances

Liabilities (assumed) forgiven:
Economic Reserve
Rural Economic Reserve
Post-retirement benefits liability
Residual value payments obligation
LEM Settlement Note

Recognition of (expenses) income:
Deferred lease income
Deferred loss from termination of sale/leaseback
Deferred loss from LEM Marketing Payment/Settlement Note
Unwind transaction costs
Other

Gain on unwind transaction

Unwind
Gain

$506,675
98,500
55,000
23,074
19,679
980

(157,000)
(60,856)
(8,768)
145,251
15,440

7,187
(73,829)
(14,520)
(18,991)

156

$537,978

The terms of the LG&E Lease Agreement as originally structured are outlined in the following text.

On July 15, 1998 (Effective Date), a lease was consummated (Lease Agreement), whereby Big Rivers leased its
generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E and
KU. Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC operated the generating facilities and maintained title to all energy
produced. Throughout the lease term, in order for Big Rivers to fulfill it obligation to supply power to its members,
the Company purchased substantially all of its power requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation

(LEM), a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E and KU, pursuant to a power purchase agreement.

Big Rivers continued to operate its transmission facilities and charged LEM tariff rates for delivery of the energy
produced by WKEC and consumed by LEM'’s customers. The significant terms of the Lease Agreement were

as follows:



a. WKEC was to lease and operate Big Rivers’ generation facilities through 2023.
b. Big Rivers retained ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease term.
c. WKEC paid Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain adjustments.

d. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and the first two years
of the annual lease payments. In accordance with FASB ASC 840, Leases, the Company amortized these payments
to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

e. Big Rivers continued to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the Aluminum
Smelters, through its power purchase agreements with LEM and the Southeastern Power Administration, based

on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When economically feasible, the Company also obtained the power
necessary to supply its member loads, excluding the Aluminum Smelters, in the open market. Kenergy Corp.'s retail
service for the Aluminum Smelters was served by LEM and other third party providers that included Big Rivers. To
the extent the power purchased from LEM did not reach pre-determined minimums, the Company was required to
pay certain penalties. Also, to the extent additional power was available to Big Rivers under the LEM contract, Big
Rivers made sales to nonmembers.

f. LEM reimbursed Big Rivers the margins expected from the Aluminum Smelters, defined as the net cash flows
that Big Rivers anticipated receiving if the Company had continued to serve the Aluminum Smelters’ load, as filed
in the Rate Hearing (the Monthly Margin Payments).

g. WKEC was responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers was partially
responsible for ordinary capital expenditures (Nonincremental Capital Costs) for the generation facilities over the
term of the Lease Agreement, generally up to predetermined annual amounts. At the end of the lease term, Big
Rivers was obligated to fund a “Residual Value Payment” to LG&E and KU for such capital additions during the
lease (see note 1). Adjustments to the Residual Value Payment were made based upon actual capital expenditures.
Additionally, WKEC made required capital improvements to the facilities to comply with new laws or changes

to existing laws (Incremental Capital Costs) over the lease life (the Company was partially responsible for such
costs—20% prior to termination of the lease) and the Company was required to submit another Residual Value
Payment to LG&E and KU for the undepreciated value of WKEC's 80% share of these costs, at the end of the lease.
The Company had title to these assets during the lease and upon lease termination.

h. Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 (the LEM Settlement Note) to be repaid over the
term of the Lease Agreement, with an interest rate at 8% per annum, in consideration for LEM’s assumption of the
risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and the increased
responsibility for financing capital improvements. The Company recorded this obligation as a component of
deferred charges with the related payable recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying balance sheets. This
deferred charge was amortized on a straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction.

i. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a nonrefundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, which was recorded
as a component of deferred charges. This amount was amortized on a straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of
the Unwind Transaction.

j- During the lease term, Big Rivers was entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the Company owed
LEM under the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first 55 months of the lease term, Big Rivers
received a credit of $89. For the year 2011, Big Rivers was to receive a credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012 through
2023, the Company was to receive a credit of $4,111 annually.




In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company was allowed to purchase power in

the open market rather than from LEM, incurring penalties when the power purchased from LEM did not meet
certain minimum levels, and to sell excess power (power not needed to supply its jurisdictional load) in the open
market (collectively referred to as Arbitrage). Pursuant to the New RUS Promissory Note (currently the RUS Series
A Note) and the RUS ARVP Note (currently the RUS Series B Note), the benefit, net of tax, as defined, derived from
Arbitrage had to be divided as follows: one-third, adjusted for capital expenditures, was used to make principal
payments on the New RUS Promissory Note; one-third was used to make principal payments on the RUS ARVP
Note; and the remaining value was retained by the Company.

3. UTILITY PLANT

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, utility plant is summarized as follows:

2011 2010
Classified plant in service:

Production plant $1,706,243 $1,689,024
Transmission plant 238,738 237,689
General plant 33,744 18,937
Other 543 543
1,979,268 1,946,193

Less accumulated depreciation 936,355 909,501
1,042,913 1,036,692

Construction in progress 49,150 54,874
Utility plant — net $1,092,063 $1,091,566

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, was $548, $684, and $133, respectively.

The Company has not identified any material legal asset retirement obligations, as defined in FASB ASC 410, Asset
Retirement and Environmental Obligations. In accordance with regulatory treatment, the Company records an
estimated net cost of removal of its utility plant through normal depreciation. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
the Company had approximately $41,449 and $38,000, respectively, related to nonlegal removal costs included in
accumulated depreciation.




4. DEBT AND OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A detail of long-term debt at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

2011 2010
RUS Series A Promissory Note, stated amount of $523,192, stated
interest rate of 5.75%, with an imputed interest rate of 5.84%
maturing July 2021 $521,250 $558,731
RUS Series B Promissory Note, stated amount of $245,530, no
stated interest rate, with interest imputed at 5.80%, maturing

December 2023 123,049 116,165
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, fixed interest rate of
6.00%, maturing in July 2031 83,300 83,300

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate
(average interest rate of 3.30% and 3.27% in 2011 and 2010,

respectively), maturing in June 2013 58,800 58,800
Total long-term debt 786,399 816,996
Current maturities 72,145 7,373
Total long-term debt — net of current maturities $714,254 $809,623

The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 31:

Year Amount
2012 $ 72,145
2013 79,260
2014 21,661
2015 22,955
2016 231,882
Thereafter 358,496

Total $786,399

(@) RUS Notes — On July 15, 1998, Big Rivers recorded the New RUS Promissory Note and the RUS ARVP Note at
fair value using the applicable market rate of 5.82%. On the Unwind Closing Date, the New RUS Note and the
ARVP Note were replaced with the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A and the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series
B, respectively. After an Unwind Closing Date payment of $140,181, the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A is
recorded at an interest rate of 5.84%. The RUS 2009 Series B Note is recorded at an imputed interest rate of
5.80%. The RUS Notes are collateralized by substantially all assets of the Company and secured by the Indenture
dated July 1, 2009 between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association.



(b)

Pollution Control Bonds — In June 2010, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Series 2010A Bonds), the proceeds of which are supported by a
promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate. These bonds bear interest at a fixed rate of
6.00% and mature in July 2031.

The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Series 1983
(Series 1983 Bonds), the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the
same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in June 2013.

The Series 1983 Bonds are supported by a liquidity facility issued by Credit Suisse First Boston, which was
assigned to Dexia Credit in 2006. In addition, the Series 1983 Bonds are supported by a municipal bond
insurance and surety policy issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation. Big Rivers has agreed to reimburse
Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under the municipal bond insurance policy or the surety policy.
Both Series are secured by the Indenture dated July 1, 2009 between the company and U.S. Bank National
Association.

The Series 1983 Bonds are subject to a maximum interest rate of 13.00%. The December 31, 2011 interest rate on
the Series 1983 Pollution Control Bonds was 3.25%.

Notes Payable — Notes payable represent the Company’s borrowing on its line of credit with the National Rural
Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC) and CoBank, ACB (CoBank). The maximum borrowing capacity
on the lines of credit is $100,000 consisting of $50,000 each for CFC and CoBank. In March 2011, Big Rivers
paid down the $10,000 of borrowings outstanding on the CoBank line of credit at December 31, 2010. The
Company had no borrowings outstanding on the lines of credit at December 31, 2011. Letters of credit issued
under an associated Letter of Credit Facility with CFC reduced the borrowing capacity on the CFC line of credit
by $5,375 and $5,928 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Advances on the CFC line of credit bear
interest at a variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2014. The
CFC variable rate is equal to the CFC Line of Credit Rate, which is defined as “the rate published by CFC from
time to time, by electronic or other means, for similarly classified lines of credit, but if not published, then the
rate determined for such lines of credit by CFC from time to time.” Advances on the CoBank line of credit bear
interest at a variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2012. The
CoBank variable rate is a fixed rate per annum (for interest periods of 1, 2, 3 and 6 months) equal to LIBOR plus
the Applicable Margin as determined by the Company’s credit rating. On February 25, 2011, a $2,500 CFC line
of credit, available to the Company to finance storm emergency repairs and expenses related to electric utility
operations, matured.

Covenants — Big Rivers is in compliance with all debt covenants associated with both long-term and short-term
debt. The Company’s Indenture and its line of credit with CFC require that a Margins for Interest Ratio (MFIR)

of at least 1.10 be maintained for each fiscal year. The CoBank line of credit agreement requires that at the end
of each fiscal year the Company have a Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) of not less than 1.20. Big Rivers’
lines of credit with CFC and CoBank require Equity to Asset ratios of 12% and 15%, respectively. Big Rivers’ 2011
MFIR was 1.12, its DSCR was 1.47 and the Asset to Equity Ratio was 27%.




5. RATE MATTERS

The rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consist of a demand charge per kilowatt (kW) and an energy charge per
kilowatt hour (kWh) consumed as approved by the KPSC. The rates include specific demand and energy charges for
its members’ two classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under its jurisdiction.
For the large industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based on each customer’s maximum demand
during the current month. Effective September 1, 2011, the Company received approval from the KPSC to base the
member rural demand charge on its Maximum Adjusted Net Local Load (as defined in Big Rivers tariff).

Prior to the Unwind Transaction the demand and energy charges were not subject to adjustments for increases

or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. In conjunction with the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC approved the
implementation of certain tariff riders; including a fuel adjustment clause and an environmental surcharge, offset
by an unwind surcredit (a refund to tariff members of certain charges collected from the Aluminum Smelters in
accordance with the contract terms). The net effect of these tariffs is recognized as revenue on a monthly basis with
an offset to the regulatory liability — member rate mitigation described below.

The net impact of the tariff riders to members rates is currently mitigated by a Member Rate Stability Mechanism
(MRSM) that was funded by certain cash amounts received from the E.ON Entities in connection with the Unwind
Transaction (the Economic and Rural Economic Reserves) and held by Big Rivers as restricted investments. An
offsetting regulatory liability — member rate mitigation was established with the funding of these accounts.

In its order approving the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC stipulated that Big Rivers file a rate case within three years
of the Unwind Closing Date or by July 2012. On March 1, 2011, the company filed an application with the KPSC
requesting, among other things, authority to adjust its rates for wholesale electric service. The KPSC entered an
order on November 17, 2011, granting Big Rivers an annual revenue increase of $26,745. One of the intervenors

in the case has filed an appeal seeking, among other things, an approximate $6,200 reduction in the revenue relief
granted in the order, and will presumably ask that any relief obtained be retroactive to the effective date of the rates
approved in the order (September 1, 2011). Big Rivers has also sought rehearing on certain matters raised in the
order that could increase Big Rivers’ annual revenue by $2,735.

The wholesale rates established for the members nonsmelter large direct-served industrial customers (the Large
Industrial Rate) provide the basis for pricing the energy consumed by the Aluminum Smelters. The primary
component of the pricing used for the Aluminum Smelters is an energy charge in dollars per megawatt hour (MWh)
determined by applying the Large Industrial Rate to a load with a 98% load factor, and adding an additional charge
of $0.25 per MWh. The other components reflected in the pricing of the Aluminum Smelters’ energy usage are
certain charges and credits as provided for under the terms of the Aluminum Smelters’ wholesale electric service
agreements between Big Rivers and Kenergy Corp. (Kenergy Corp. is the retail provider for the Aluminum Smelters
load).




6.  INCOME TAXES

At December 31, 2011, Big Rivers had a Nonpatron Net Operating Loss Carryforward of approximately $32,434
expiring at various times between 2011 and 2031, and an Alternative Minimum Tax Credit Carryforward of

approximately $7,138, which carries forward indefinitely.

The Company has not recorded any regular income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, as the Company has utilized federal net operating losses to offset any regular taxable income during
those years. Had the Company not had the benefit of a net operating loss carryforward, the Company would have
recorded $3,613, $3,846, and $19,619 in current regular tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010

and 2009, respectively.

The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, were as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards

Member rate mitigation
Fixed asset basis difference
RUS Series B Note

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
RUS Series B Note

Bond refunding costs

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax asset (prevaluation allowance)

Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax asset

A reconciliation of the Company'’s effective tax rate for 2011, 2010 and 2009, follows:

Federal rate

State rate — net of federal benefit
Permanent differences

Patronage allocation to members

Tax benefit of operating loss carryforwards and other

Alternative minimum tax

Effective tax rate

2011 2010
$12,812 $16,730
7,138 6,038
10,326 10,326
3,980 10,752
19,689 14,767
53,945 58,613
(9) (8)

(9) (8)
53,936 58,605
(563,936) (58,605)
$ - $ -

2011 2010 2009
35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
4.5 4.5 4.5

0.9 0.5 -
(40.8) (38.8) (35.4)
0.4 (1.2) (4.1)
3.5 3.0 0.2
3.5% 3.0% 0.2%




The Company files a federal income tax return, as well as certain state income tax returns. The years currently

open for federal tax examination are 2007 through 2011 and 1996 through 1997, due to unused net operating loss
carryforwards. The major state tax jurisdiction currently open for tax examination is Kentucky for years 2004 through
2011 and years 2001 through 2003, also due to unused net operating loss carryforwards. The Company has not
recorded any unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities related to federal or state income taxes.

The Company classifies interest and penalties as an operating expense on the income statement and accrued
expense in the balance sheet. No material interest or penalties have been recorded during 2011, 2010, or 2009.

7. POWER PURCHASED

Prior to the Unwind Transaction and in accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplied all of the
members’ requirements for power to serve their customers, other than the Aluminum Smelters. Contract limits
were established in the Lease Agreement and included minimum and maximum hourly and annual power purchase
amounts. Big Rivers could not reduce the contract limits by more than 12 MW in any year or by more than a total of
72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers failed to take the minimum requirement during any hour or year,
Big Rivers was liable to LEM for a certain percentage of the difference between the amount of power actually taken
and the applicable minimum requirement.

Although Big Rivers was required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual amounts

of power from LEM, the lease did not prevent Big Rivers from paying the associated penalty in certain hours to
purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or reselling a portion of its purchased power to a third
party. The power purchases made under this agreement for the year ended December 31, 2009, was $51,592 and is
included in power purchased and interchanged on the statement of operations.

8.  PENSION PLANS

(@) Defined Benefit Plans— Big Rivers has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all
employees who meet minimum age and service requirements and who were employed by the Company prior to
the plans closure dates cited below. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of service and
the five highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last ten years of employment. Big Rivers’ policy is to
fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

The salaried employees defined benefit plan was closed to new entrants effective January 1, 2008, and the
bargaining employees defined benefit plan was closed to new hires effective November 1, 2008. The Company
simultaneously established base contribution accounts in the defined contribution thrift and 401(k) savings plans,
which were renamed as the retirement savings plans. The base contribution account for an eligible employee,
which is one who meets the minimum age and service requirements, but for whom membership in the defined
benefit plan is closed, is funded by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of the employee’s
pay, depending on his or her age.

The Company has adopted FASB ASC 715, Compensation — Retirement Benefits, including the requirement to
recognize the funded status of its pension plans and other postretirement plans (see note 11 — Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions). FASB ASC 715 defines the funded status of a defined benefit pension plan as
the fair value of its assets less its projected benefit obligation, which includes projected salary increases, and
defines the funded status of any other postretirement plan as the fair value of its assets less its accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation.

FASB ASC 715 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end
balance sheet and requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements certain additional information
related to net periodic benefit costs for the next fiscal year. The Company’s pension and other postretirement
benefit plans are measured as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.



The following provides an overview of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plans.

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its noncontributory defined benefit pension plans at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

201 2010
Benefit obligation — beginning of period $28,804 $25,493
Service cost — benefits earned during the period 1,279 1,289
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,296 1,368
Benefits paid (481) (806)
Actuarial loss 845 1,460
Benefit obligation — end of period $31,743 $28,804

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $25,482 and $21,977 at December
31,2011 and 2010, respectively.

A reconciliation of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

201 2010
Fair value of plan assets — beginning of period $25,267 $22,270
Actual return on plan assets 324 2,707
Employer contributions 2,890 1,096
Benefits paid (481) (806)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period $28,000 $25,267

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans at December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

201 2010

Benefit obligation — end of period $(31,743) $(28,804)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period 28,000 25,267
Funded status $ (3,743) $ (3,637)




Components of net periodic pension costs for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009,
were as follows:

2011 2010 2009

Service cost $1,279 $1,289 $1,241
Interest cost 1,296 1,368 1,466
Expected return on plan assets (1,737) (1,533) (1,332)
Amortization of prior service cost 14 19 19
Amortization of actuarial loss 461 584 834
Settlement loss - - 1,690
Net periodic benefit cost $1,313 $1,727 $3,918

A reconciliation of the pension plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31,
2011 and 2010, follows:

2011 2010

Prior service cost $ (26) $ (40
Unamortized actuarial (loss) (11,151) (9,354)
Accumulated other comprehensive income $(11,177) $(9,394)

In 2012, $14 of prior service cost and $696 of actuarial loss is expected to be amortized to periodic benefit cost.

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

2011 2010

Prior service cost $ 14 $ 19
Unamortized actuarial (loss) (1,797) 297
Other comprehensive income $(1,783) $ 316

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, amounts recognized in the balance sheets were as follows:

2011 2010

Deferred credits and other $(3,743) $(3,537)




Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation and determine the net periodic benefit cost were

as follows:
2011 2010 2009
Discount rate — projected benefit obligation 4.26% 4.95% 5.59%
Discount rate — net periodic benefit cost 4.95 5.59 6.38
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.00 4.00 4.00
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.25 7.25 7.25

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for each fiscal
year is chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying anticipated long-term
returns and long-term volatility for various asset categories to the target asset allocation of the plans, as well as
taking into account historical returns.

Using the asset allocation policy adopted by the Company noted in the paragraph below, we determined the
expected rate of return at a 50% probability of achievement Level based on (a) forward-looking rate of return
expectations for passively managed asset categories over a 20-year time horizon and (b) historical rates of return
for passively managed asset categories. Applying an approximately 80%/20% weighting to the rates determined
in (a) and (b), respectively, produced an expected rate of return of 7.28%, which was rounded to 7.25%.

Big Rivers utilizes a third party investment manager for the plan assets, and has communicated thereto the
Company’s Retirement Plan Investment Policy, including a target asset allocation mix of 50% U.S. Equities (an
acceptable range of 45%-55%), 15% International Equities (an acceptable range of 10%-20%), and 35% fixed
income (an acceptable range of 30%-40%). As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the investment allocation was
56% and 58%, respectively, in U.S. Equities, 8% and 9%, respectively, in International Equities, and 36% and
33%, respectively, in fixed income. The objective of the investment program seeks to (a) maximize return on
investment, (b) minimize volatility, (c) minimize company contributions, and (d) provide the employee benefit in
accordance with the plans. The portfolio is well diversified and of high quality. The average quality of the fixed
income investments must be “A"” or better. The equity portfolio must also be of investment grade quality. The
performance of the investment manager is reviewed semi-annually.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair value of Big Rivers’ defined benefit pension plan assets by asset
category are as follows:

December 31,

Level 1 Level 2 20m
Cash and money market $ 2,129 $ - $ 2129
Equity Securities:
U.S. large-cap stocks 10,178 - 10,178
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 3,365 - 3,365
U,S. small-cap stock mutual funds 1,666 - 1,666
International stock mutual funds 2,168 - 2,168
Preferred stock 493 - 493
Fixed:
TIPS Bond Fund 723 - 723
U.S. Government Agency Bonds - 1,085 1,085
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds - 3,258 3,258
U.S. Corporate Bonds - 2,630 2,630
Global bond fund - 305 305

$20,722 $7,278 $ 28,000




December 31,

Level 1 Level 2 2010
Cash and money market $ 1517 % - $ 1517
Equity Securities:
U.S. large-cap stocks 9,731 - 9,731
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 2,926 - 2,926
U,S. small-cap stock mutual funds 1,448 - 1,448
International stock mutual funds 2,194 - 2,194
Preferred stock 490 - 490
Fixed:
TIPS bond fund 161 - 161
U.S. Government Agency Bonds - 1,843 1,843
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds - 2,635 2,635
U.S. Corporate Bonds - 2,322 2,322

$18,467 $6,800 $25,267

Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2011
are as follows:

Years Ending

December 31 Amount
2012 $ 2,330
2013 4,386
2014 1,799
2015 3,196
2016 3,265
2017 — 2020 10,986

Total $25,962

In 2012, the Company expects to contribute $970 to its pension plan trusts.

(b) Defined Contribution Plans — Big Rivers has two defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially all
employees who meet minimum age and service requirements. Each plan has a thrift and 401(k) savings section
allowing employees to contribute up to 75% of pay on a pre-tax and/or after-tax basis, with employer matching
contributions equal to 60% of the first 6% contributed by the employee on a pre-tax basis.

A base contribution retirement section was added and the plan name changed from thrift and 401(k) savings
to retirement savings, effective January 1, 2008, for the salaried plan and November 1, 2008, for the bargaining
plan. The base contribution account is funded by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of
pay, depending on the employee'’s age.

The Company's expense under these plans was $4,464 and $4,389 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively.



c) Deferred Compensation Plan — Big Rivers sponsors a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for its eligible
employees who are members of a select group of management or highly compensated employees. The
purpose of the plan is to allow participants to receive contributions or make deferrals that they could not receive
or make under the salaried employees qualified defined contribution retirement savings plan (formerly the thrift
and 401(k) savings plan) as a result of nondiscrimination rules and other limitations applicable to the qualified
plan under the Internal Revenue Code. The nonqualified plan also allows a participant to defer a percentage of
his or her pay on a pre-tax basis.

The nonqualified deferred compensation plan is unfunded, but the Company has chosen to finance its
obligations under the plan, including any employee deferrals, through a rabbi trust. The trust assets remain a
part of the Company's general assets, subject to the claims of its creditors. The 2011 employer contribution was
$58 and deferred compensation expense was $81. As of December 31, 2011, the trust asset was $283 and the
deferred liability was $202.

9. RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS

The amortized costs and fair values of Big Rivers restricted investments held for member rate mitigation at
December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2011 2010
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Costs Values Costs Values

Cash and money market $12,765 $ 12,764 $12,812 $12,812
Debt Securities:

U.S. Treasuries 62,073 63,917 60,941 62,582

U.S. Government Agency 88,324 88,485 143,809 143,922

Total $163,162 $165,166 $217,562 $219,316

Gross unrealized gains and losses on restricted investments at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

2011 2010
Gains Losses Gains Losses
Cash and money market $ - $ - $ - $ -
Debt Securities:
U.S. Treasuries 1,843 - 1,641 -
U.S. Government Agency 161 - 331 217
Total $ 2,004 $ - $ 1,972 $ 217




Debt securities at December 31, 2011 and 2010 mature, according to their contractual terms, as follows (actual
maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights):

2011 2010
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Costs Values Costs Values
In one year or less $ 43,021 $ 43,092 $ 71,111 $ 71,193
After one year through five years 120,141 122,074 146,451 148,123
Total $163,162 $165,166 $217,562 $219,316

Gross unrealized losses on investments and the fair values of the related securities, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, were:

2011 2010
Less Than 12 Months Less Than 12 Months
Fair Fair
Losses Values Losses Values
Debt securities:

U.S. Treasuries $ - $ - $ - $ -
U.S. Government Agency - - 217 15,783
Total $ - 3 - $ 217 $ 15,783

The unrealized loss positions were primarily caused by interest rate fluctuations. The number of investments in an
unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 was zero and one, respectively. Since the company does
not intend to sell and will more likely than not maintain each debt security until its anticipated recovery, and no
significant credit risk is deemed to exist, these investments are not considered other-than-temporarily impaired.

10. FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about
fair value measures. It applies under other accounting standards that require or permit fair value measurements and
does not require any new fair value measurements.

The carrying value of accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short maturity.
At December 31, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents included short-term investments in an institutional
money market government portfolio account classified as trading securities under ASC 320, Investments — Debt and
Equity Securities, that were recorded at fair value which were determined using quoted market prices for identical
assets without regard to valuation adjustment or block discount (a Level 1 measure), as follows:



1.

201 2010

Institutional money market government portfolio $44,844 $44,774

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within other deposits and investments
due to It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within other deposits and
investments due to these being untraded companies.

Big Rivers' long-term debt at December 31, 2011 consists of RUS notes totaling $644,299, variable rate pollution
control bonds in the amount of $58,800, and fixed rate pollution control bonds in the amount of $83,300 (see

note 4). The RUS debt cannot be traded in the market and, therefore, a value other than its outstanding principal
amount cannot be determined. The fair value of the Company’s variable rate pollution control debt is par value, as
each variable rate reset effectively prices such debt to the current market. At December 31, 2011, the fair value of
Big Rivers' fixed rate pollution control debt was determined based on quoted prices in active markets of identical
liabilities (Level 1 measure) and totaled $86,399.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. Generally,
except for generation bargaining retirees, Big Rivers pays 85% of the premium cost for all retirees age 62 to 65. The
Company pays 25% of the premium cost for spouses under age 62. For salaried retirees age 55 to age 62, Big Rivers
pays 25% of the premium cost. Beginning at age 65, the Company pays 25% of the premium cost if the retiree is
enrolled in Medicare Part B. For each generation bargaining retiree, Big Rivers establishes a retiree medical account
at retirement equal to $1,200 per year of service up to 30 years ($1,250 per year for those retiring on or after January
1, 2012). The account balance is credited with interest based on the 10-year treasury rate subject to a minimum of
4% and a maximum of 7%. The account is to be used for the sole purpose of paying the premium cost for the retiree
and spouse.

The discount rates used in computing the postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost were as
follows:

20Mm 2010 2009
Discount rate — projected benefit obligation 4.29% 4.96% 5.78%
Discount rate — net periodic benefit cost 4.96 5.78 6.32

The health care cost trend rate assumptions as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, were as follows:

201 2010
[nitial trend rate 7.40% 7.60%
Ultimate trend rate 450 450
Year ultimate trend is reached 2028 2028



A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

20Mm 2010
One-percentage-point decrease:
Effect on total service and interest cost components  $ (211) $ (201)
Effect on year end benefit obligation (1,056) (1,131)
One-percentage-point increase:
Effect on total service and interest cost components 254 236
Effect on year end benefit obligation 1,226 1,306

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its postretirement plan at December 31, 2011
and 2010, follows:

201 2010
Benefit obligation — beginning of period $ 15,864 $ 13,864
Service cost — benefits earned during the period 1,253 1,313
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 754 743
Participant contributions 160 85
Benefits paid (611) (313)
Actuarial loss 620 172
Benefit obligation — end of period $ 18,040 $ 15,864

A reconciliation of the Company’s postretirement plan assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

20M 2010
Fair value of plan assets — beginning of period $ = $ =
Employer contributions 451 228
Participant contributions 160 85
Benefits paid (611) (313)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period $ = $ =

The funded status of the Company’s postretirement plan at December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

20M 2010

Benefit obligation — end of period $(18,040) $(15,864)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period - -
Funded status $(18,040) $(15,864)




The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and
2009, were as follows:

20M 2010 2009

Service cost $1,253 $1,313 $ 878
Interest cost 754 743 464
Amortization of prior service cost 17 17 17

Amortization of actuarial (gain) - - (17)
Amortization of transition obligation 31 31 31
Net periodic benefit cost $2,055 $2,104 $1,373

A reconciliation of the postretirement plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at December
31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

20Mm 2010

Prior service cost $(130) $(147)
Unamortized actuarial gain (loss) (385) 235
Transition obligation (31) (62)
Accumulated other comprehensive income $(546) $ 26

In 2012, $18 of prior service cost, $0 of actuarial gain, and $31 of the transition obligation is expected to be
amortized to periodic benefit cost.

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2011 and 2010, follows:

20m 2010

Prior service cost $ 17 $ 18
Unamortized actuarial gain (620) (172)
Transition obligation 31 30
Other comprehensive loss $(572) $(124)

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, amounts recognized in the balance sheets were as follows:

20m 2010

Accounts payable $ (762) $ (600)
Deferred credits and other (17,278) (15,264)
Net amount recognized $(18,040) $(15,864)
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Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2011 are as follows:

Year Amount
2012 $ 761
2013 963
2014 1,148
2015 1,277
2016 1,383
2017-2021 8,754

Total $14,286

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit plan,
which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the extent
an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours such excess hours are paid at 20% of the employee’s base
hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded for the postretirement sick leave
benefit is $579 and $391 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The postretirement expense recorded was
$191, $21, and $45 for 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively, and the benefits paid were $3, $5, and $78 for 2011, 2010,
and 2009, respectively.

RELATED PARTIES

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of $151,472,
$151,001, and $125,826, respectively. In addition, for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, Big
Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Aluminum Smelters and Domtar Paper loads of $306,420, $281,473 and
$167,885, respectively.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $40,314 and $36,636,
respectively.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Big Rivers is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the results of such litigation cannot
be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that the final outcome will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial statements.

Big Rivers plans to seek KPSC approval for its 2012 environmental compliance plan (ECP) in an April 2012 filing. This
ECP will consist of $283,490 of capital projects, primarily for a new scrubber at the D.B. Wilson station and a new
selective catalytic reduction facility at the R.D. Green station, and certain additional operations and maintenance
costs. The purpose of the ECP is to allow Big Rivers to comply, in the most cost-effective manner, with the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency Cross-State Air Pollution Rule, and Mercury and Other Air Toxics Standards.
Among other things, the ECP filing will seek to recover the costs of the ECP through an amendment to Big Rivers’
existing environmental surcharge tariff rider, an automatic cost-recovery mechanism that is similar in function to the
fuel adjustment clause. The regulatory process is expected to last six months after the filing date.






FlVE—YEAR REV' EVV Years Ended December 31 — (Dollars in thousands)

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS

Operating Revenue:
Power Contracts Revenue
Lease Revenue
Total Operating Revenue

Operating Expenses:
Fuel for Electric Generation
Power Purchased
Operations (Excluding Fuel), Maintenance, Other
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Interest Expense and Other:
Interest
Other — net
Total Interest Expense & Other

Operating Margin
Non-Operating Margin

NET MARGIN
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET

Total Utility Plant
Accumulted Depreciation
Net Utility Plant

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Reserve Account Investments’
Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Equities (deficit)

Long-term Debt?

Regulatory Liability — Member Rate Mitigation
Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

ENERGY SALES (MWh)
Member Rural
Member Large Industrial
Smelter Contracts
Other
Total Energy Sales

SOURCES OF ENERGY (MWh)
Generated
Purchased
Losses and Net Interchange
Total Energy Available

NET CAPACITY (MW)
Net Generating Capacity Owned
Rights to HMP&L Station Two
Other Net Capacity Available

"Includes investment income receivable.
%Includes current maturities of long-term obligations.

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
$561,989 $527,324 $341,333 $214,758 $271,605
= - 32,027 58,423 58,265

561,989 527,324 373,360 273,181 329,870
226,229 207,749 80,655 - -
112,262 99,421 116,883 114,643 169,768
137,213 134,660 87,645 32,858 31,436
35,407 34,242 32,485 31,041 30,632
511,111 476,072 317,668 178,642 231,836
45,226 46,570 59,898 72,710 70,851
320 425 3.309 6.868 103
45,546 46,995 63,207 79,578 70,954
5,332 4,257 (7,515) 15,061 27,080

268 2,734 538,845 12,755 20,097
$5.600 $6.991 $531,330 $27.816 $47,177
$2,028418  $2,001,067 $1,986,373  $1,791,772 $1,764,924
936,355 909,501 908,099 879,073 853,290
1,092,063 1,091,566 1,078,274 912,699 911,634
44,849 44,780 60,290 38,903 148,914
164,399 218,955 244,641 - =
116,611 116,884 122,278 122,834 253,610
$1,417,922  $1,472,185  $1,505483  $1.074436  $1.314,168
$389,820 $386,575 $379,392 $ (154,602) $(174,137)
786,399 816,996 848,652 987,349 1,022,345
169,001 185,893 207,348 - -
72,702 82,721 70,191 241,689 466,950
$1.417,922  $1.472,185  $1,605483  $1,074.436  $1.314,158
2,371,106 2,481,390 2,239,445 2,386,916 2,406,446
973,093 930,168 919,687 925,793 921,359
6,854,820 6,348,431 2,886,491 - =
3,056,106 2,209,431 1,746,438 1,844,677 2,836,789
13,256,125 11,969,420 7,790,961 5,157,386 6,163,694
10,284,350 9,895,512 3,715,544 - -
2,998,361 2,220,994 4,166,916 5,211,789 6,213,682
(27,586) (147,086) (91,499) (54,403) (50,088)
13,256,125 11,969,420 7,790,961 5,157,386 6,163,594
1,444 1,444 1,444 1,459 1,459

202 207 212 217 217

178 178 178 178 178



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

201 Third Street (42420) phone 270.827.2561
PO Box 24 (42419-0024) fax 270.827.2558
Henderson, KY www.bigrivers.com
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Bigéﬁivers!

ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Our MissiON OurR VALUES
Big Rivers will safely deliver low cost, reliable = Safety

wholesale power and cost-effective shared © Integrity

services desired by the members. = Excellence

“ Member and Community Service
' Respect for the Employee
Our VISION - Teamwork

- . X ¢ Environmentally Conscious
Big Rivers will be viewed as one of the top v

G&Ts in the country and will provide services the
members desire in meeting future challenges.

FINANGCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007, and 2006 | (Dollars in thousands)

. . . = @ = :
Margins 6,991 531,330 27,816 47,177 34,542
Equity 386,675 379,392 (154,602) (174,137) (217,371)
Capital Expenditures® 42,683 58,388 22,760 18,682 13,189
Cash & Investment Balance 44,780 60,290 38,903 148,914 96,143
RUS Series A Note Voluntary
Prepayment Status 23,859 - - - 34,995
Times Interest Earned Ratio 1.15 9.85 1.37 1.64 1.47
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 1.47 2.44 1.17 2.04 1.86
Cost of Debt 5.73% 6.33% 6.33% 5.76% 5.83%
Cost of Capital 7.93% 8.39% 8.33% 7.75% 7.82%

* Big Rivers’ share only.
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Blg Rivers

ELECTRIC CORPORATION

ABOUT THE BiIc RIVERS SYSTEM

Big Rivers Electric Corporation ("Big Rivers") is
a member-owned, not-for-profit, generation and
transmission cooperative (G&T). We provide
wholesale electric power and services to three
distribution cooperative members across 22
counties in western Kentucky.

The member cooperatives are Jackson Purchase
Energy Corporation, headqguartered in Paducah;
Kenergy Corp., headquartered in Henderson;
and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation, headquartered in Brandenburg.
Together, they distribute retail electric power
and provide other services to more than 112,000
homes, farms, businesses and industries.

Incorporated in June of 1961, the mission of
Big Rivers is to safely deliver low cost, reliable
wholesale power and cost-effective shared
services desired by the members, Business
operations revolve around seven core values:
teamwork, integrity, excellence, safety,
member and community service, environmental
consciousness, and respect for the employee.

With headquarters in Henderson, Big Rivers
owns and operates 1,444 megawatts (MW) of
generating capacity in four stations.

Kenneth C. Coleman 443 MW Hawesville, Ky.
Robert A, Reid 130 MW  Robards, Ky.
Robert D. Green 454 MW Robards, Ky.

D. B. Wilson 417 MW  Centertown, Ky.

Owned Generation 1,444 MW

Total generation available is 1,829 MW, including
rights to Henderson Municipal Power and Light
("HMP&L") Station Two and contracted capacity
from Southeastern Power Administration
("SEPA").

Owned Generation 1,444 MW
HMP&L Station Two 207 MW
SEPA 178 MW
Total Generation 1,829 MW

THE MIsSsIiON OF BIG RIVERS IS TO SAFELY DELIVER

AND

WHOLESALE POWER
SHARED SERVICES
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High voltage electric power is delivered to the Constantly focused on the needs and local
member cooperatives over a system of 1,266 priorities of the member cooperatives, Big Rivers
miles of transmission lines and 22 substations provides assistance in areas such as information
owned by Big Rivers. Twenty-two interconnects technology, mapping and planning, safety

link our system with seven surrounding utilities. programs and training, economic development,

education and customer support services,
Big Rivers is led by an experienced management

team and is governed by a six-member board As long-standing members of Touchstone
of directors. The board is comprised of two Energy®, Big Rivers and the member cooperatives
representatives from each distribution cooperative. pledge to serve western Kentucky with integrity,
We employ over 600 people at seven locations accountability, innovation and a commitment to
in Kentucky, who actively contribute to the community. Keeping the cost of electricity low
communities we serve. and the reliability high has always been a priority.
INDIANA .
] Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation ) Ohio River

Meade
County

1 Kenergy Corp.
1 Meade County RECC

‘B

}
Hancock l
Cosusty
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ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Big;/?ﬁjoverS

MEMBER COOPERATIVES

Kelly Nuckols, President & CEO
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Sandy Novick, President & CEO
Kenergy Corp

Burns Mercer, President & CEQ
Meade County RECC

JACKSON PURCHASE EMERGY CORPORATION

(270) 442-7321
www.JPEnergy.com

Serves: Ballard, Carlisle, Graves, Livingston, Marshall and McCracken
Headquartered: Paducah, KY
Number of accounts: 29,152

Miles of line: 2,909

KENERGY CORP.

(800) 844-4832
www. kenergycorp.com

Serves: Breckinridge, Caldwell, Crittenden, Daviess, Hancock, Henderson,
Hopkins, Livingston, Lyon, MclLean, Muhlenberg, Ohio, Union and
Webster

Headquartered: Henderson, KY
Number of meters: 54,991
Miles of line: 7,023

MEADE COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC
COOPERATIVE CORPORATION

Meade County RECC
(270) 422-2162 ‘
WWW.MECrecc.coop Your Touchstone Energy® Cooperative &t

Serves: Breckinridge, Grayson, Hancock, Hardin, Meade and Ohio
Headquartered: Brandenburg, KY

Number of meters: 28, 267

Miles of line: 2,977



http://kenergycorp.com
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BOoARD OF DIRECTORS

Standing (left to right):
Dr. James Sills, Chair
Meade County RECC

Wayne Elliott, Vice-Chair
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

William Denton
Kenergy Corp.

Seated (left to right):

l.ee Bearden
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Paul Edd Butler
Meade County RECC

Larry Elder, Secretary-Treasurer
Kenergy Corp.

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Standing (left to right): David Crockett, Seated (left to right):
Marty Littrel, Communications & V.P. System Operations Mark Hite, V.P. Accounting
Community Relations Manager James Haner, C. William Blackburn, Senior V.P
Albert Yockey, V.P. Governmental VP Administrative Services Financial & Energy Services & CFO
Relations & Enterprise Risk James Miller, Corporate Counsel Mark Bailey, President & CEO
Management '

Paula Mitchell, Executive Assistant Robert Berry, VP Production




The year 2010 marked transition and significant
achievement for Big Rivers Electric Corporation.
This was our first complete year operating as a
full-fledged generation and transmission coopera-
tive, since the Unwind closing in July 2009.

During 2010 many of the longer-term initiatives,
planned to be finished following the Unwind clos-
ing, were successfully completed.

« Major renovation was completed in April at
the central headquarters building to accom-
modate the additional employees return-
ing to Big Rivers from the former Western
Kentucky Energy central office following the
Unwind consolidation.

- $83.3 million of poliution control bonds
were refinanced in June.

= An energy efficiency study of the member
systems was completed, with results to be
implemented in 2011,

MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD CHAIR AND CEO

An integrated resource plan was developed
and filed with the Kentucky Public Service
Commission.

Implementation began on a workforce re-
tirement transition plan in the power gen-
eration department.

Information technology support was migrat-
ed from E.ON to Big Rivers’ contracted HP/
EDS and internal resources.

The Oracle information systems business
platform conversion was successfully com-
pleted in November.

Kentucky Public Service Commission ap-
proval for Big Rivers to join the Midwest
Independent Transmission System Opera-
tor (Midwest ISO) was sought and secured,
and the company successfully integrated in
December.

Generation dispatch responsibility migrated
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to ACES Power Marketing from E.ON upon
our joining the Midwest 1SO.

System microwave expansion and internal
communication ties with Big Rivers' gener-
ating stations were completed.

Undertaking these projects with a relatively small
employee complement, while simultaneously
embracing a newly integrated business, required
strong organizational planning and a dedicated
work force. That effort was most evident by our
ability to complete these objectives while achiev-
ing several significant operational results within
the same year.

= Employee safety targets were exceeded.

= (Generating plants operated at new all-time
record levels.

. Earning targets were achieved while keep-
ing members' rates amongst the lowest in
Kentucky and the rest of the nation.

: Transmission reliability was at a high level.
« Qur strategic plan was updated.

In December the Big Rivers board of directors
elected new officers. Dr. James Sills of Meade
County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
became the new board chair while Wayne Elliott
of Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation was
chosen vice-chair, and Larry Elder of Kenergy
Corp. became the secretary-treasurer.

We at Big Rivers are grateful to the outgoing
board chair, Bill Denton, for his 12 years of stead-
fast leadership that included six-plus years of
tortuous deliberations that lead to the successful
completion of the Unwind. His effort, support,
and guidance helped lead Big Rivers to its best
financial condition in its history following the ter-

THE FUTURE...

mination of the lease agreement with E.ON U.S.

Looking ahead, we see a new set of challenges.
There have been a number of significant rules
proposed by the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (“EPA"} that could lead to a dramatic
increase in the price of electricity and have a
significant impact on how we run our business.
A great deal of uncertainty exists around these
proposed environmental regulations and their
impacts on rates, reliability, our operations and
the economy.

Both the board of directors and our staff are
committed to examining the potential impacts

of these regulations and to communicate what
they mean to regulators, legislatures, and our
members. Clearly, we must retool our approach
to successfully meet these as well as other chal-
lenges ahead.

One constant that will remain as this effort pro-
gresses will be our dedicated and loyal workforce
who will continue to help us successfully navi-
gate the uncertain waters ahead.

We are certain that through good communica-
tions and teamwork, we will continue to achieve
our mission of safely providing low cost and reli-
able electricity and attain our vision to be viewed
as one of the top generation and transmission
cooperatives in the country.

Dr. James Sills
Chair, Board of Directors

/Wffﬂ M&“@%\

Mark A. Bailey
President and CEQ
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LLECTRIC CORPORATION

At Big Rivers Electric Corporation, our board of directors and senior leadership team believe corpo-
rate values are instrumental in our guest to continue to meet our mission and attain our vision of
being viewed as one of the top generation and transmission cooperatives (G&Ts) in the country.

These values: teamwork, integrity, excellence, safety, member and community service, environ-
mentally conscience and respect for the employee form the basis of the framework of the remain-

der of this report.

TEAMWORK

As a power supplier owned by the distribution
cooperatives it serves, Big Rivers’ mission is to
safely deliver low cost, reliable wholesale power
and cost-effective shared services desired by

our members. In order to achieve this target, Big
Rivers relies on a dedicated workforce composed
of employees committed to the company's
suceess. Teamwork is a core value for Big Rivers
since it is one of the key factors necessary for
the company to achieve its mission.

Big Rivers continued its partnership with

HP Enterprise Services to install new Oracle
business platform software, which went live in
November 2010. Since then all locations and
departments run on the integrated system. The
new system was designed, built and tested
during most of 2010. The entire staff worked
diligently to get the new system up and running,
while simultaneously continuing to perform
regular business duties. This cutting-edge
technology should improve the performance,
quality and reliability of our computer
applications.

Big Rivers became the thirty-fifth transmission-
owning member of the Midwest Independent
Transmission System Operator (" Midwest ISO")
in December 2010 and the fifth new member
since November 2009. The Midwest ISO is a
non-profit and revenue-neutral transmission
organization that provides electricity at the
lowest price while managing one of the largest
energy markets in the world, involving nearly $23

=]

billion in energy transactions per year.

Midwest ISO has a reliability footprint that
covers all or parts of 13 states, plus the Canadian
province of Manitoba. Big Rivers integration
brings the Midwest ISO's total market generation
to more than 145,000 megawatts. Membership
provides Big Rivers market access to 57,453
miles of interconnected transmission lines and
up to 347 market participants.

Big Rivers worked much of 2010 to file and
secure approval from the Kentucky Public Service
Commission {"KPSC") to join the Midwest ISO.
After nearly a year of work, Big Rivers reached a
settlerment with the Kentucky Attorney General
and the Kentucky Industrial Utilities Customers,
which led to final KPSC approval for full
integration into the Midwest energy markets.

Teaming with the Midwest ISO is important to
Big Rivers because the relationship allows the
company to meet its North American Electric
Reliability Corporation's mandated emergency
reserve requirements. Our membership into
the Midwest ISO provides market services for
energy, operating reserves, and transmission
service as well as serving as Big Rivers'
regional balancing authority. This arrangement
ensures reliable operation of our generation and
transmission system while increasing our access
to wholesale power markets. Working with

the Midwest ISO was the most cost-effective
alternative for meeting these requirements,
which helps Big Rivers fulfill its mission.
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ELECTRIC CORPORATION

INTEGRITY

Big Rivers makes every effort to operate trans-
parently in all aspects of its operations including
environmental compliance, regulatory matters,
procurement and risk management.

Energy production and development, and its
effect on the environment, will continue to be a
hot topic in the halls of Congress for quite some
time. Because of new and proposed environmen-
tal regulations, compliance has been and will con-
tinue to be at the forefront of Big Rivers’ genera-
tion and transmission operations.

The company currently meets all standards
promulgated by the EPA. However, the impact of
proposed EPA air, waste and water regulations
are of major concern. Clean air transport rule,
hazardous air pollutants, coal combustion residu-
als and water related issues are the top concerns

associated with these aggressive regulations.

Big Rivers’ wholesale rates are estimated to
increase 39 percent due to required pollution
control equipment additions that are estimated to
cost $785 million by 2015, We further estimate,
should the EPA classify coal ash as hazardous
waste, that this would necessitate Big Rivers to
reduce its use of approximately 3.7 million tons
of Kentucky-mined coal annually.

Big Rivers refinanced $83.3 million of pollution
control bonds over the past year. To do this,

it was necessary for the company to have its
investment-grade credit rating reaffirmed by each
of the three leading agencies—Moody's Inves-
tors Service, Fitch Ratings Ltd. and Standard &
Poor’s.




Over the past year, Big Rivers acquired coal to
burn in its generating stations and satisfy the
company's hedge policy, which is geared to-
wards purchasing fuel over a rolling five-year
portfolio. This fuel-hedge policy is designed to
jower the risk of price unpredictability in the coal
markets and to help assure Big Rivers has suffi-
cient coal supply to meet our members’ electric-
ity requirements.

RETOOLING FOR THE FUTURE...

In order to make sure the company stays on
track, Big Rivers formed an internal risk manage-
ment committee to share strategic information
among departments, identify potential risks of
significance to the company and then manage
those risks.
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EXCELLENCE

Big Rivers continued its excellent performance
in its generation, transmission, and engineering
services.

On the generation side, in 2010 the power sta-
tions set new, all-time performance records in
reliability and efficient use of materials and equip-
ment.

One of these records involved the Equivalent
Availability Factor (EAF), the percentage of time a
generating unit is available for power production.
The higher the percentage, the more efficiently
and productive the generating system is run-
ning. EAF in 2010 reached 93.7 percent, which
shattered 1982's single-year record high of 89.9
percent. This 2010 record for unit availability beat
the past 20-year average by more than 7 percent.

Another generation record set over the past year
occurred in the Equivalent Forced Outage Rate
(EFORY), the percentage of time a generating

unit is unexpectedly off-line. In 2010, Big Rivers’
EFOR was only 3.6 percent, which not only set a
new all-time record low, but also was 25 percent
lower than the past 15-year average. Leading the
way was Big Rivers’ Green Station Unit 2, which
at 230 days experienced the longest continuous
run for any generating unit in the company’s his-
tory.

Big Rivers also surpassed standards of excel-
lence in several other areas of generation ser-

Bic RIVERS IS CONFIDENT IT WILL CONTINUE

WITH

vices. The net heat rate, which measures how
efficiently the energy contained in the coal
burned in our generating units is converted to
electricity, greatly exceeded the company’s 2010
targets, saving nearly $3.6 million in fuel costs.
As noted elsewhere in this report, several signifi-
cant safety milestones were also achieved while
the generating stations were operating at record
performance levels.

In 2010, Big Rivers also converted Sebree Sta-
tion’s combustion turbine from fuel oil to natural
gas to improve its reliability and reduce its air
emissions and production costs.

These strides in generation services would be
meaningless if Big Rivers did not deliver electric-
ity to the member cooperatives. That's where Big
Rivers’ excellence in transmission comes into
play. The transmission system was highly reliable
in 2010. Big Rivers’ system average interruption
duration index (SAIDI) was a 21 percent improve-
ment over the past 20-year average.

In an effort to continue to strengthen the trans-
mission system’s performance, a number of im-
provements were made in 2010. A few of those
included: installing new conductor on the Cole-
man Station extra high voltage line, completing

a re-conductor project on the Paradise tap to the
Paradise transmission line, constructing a 69-ki-
lovolt transmission line from Falls of Rough to
McDaniels, relocating transmission infrastructure

FOR YEARS TO COME.
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at Havana Creek from Reid Station to Hopkins
County to improve transmission reliability, modi-
fying the National Aluminum substation to pro-
vide direct service to a Kenergy customer located
in Hancock County, and completing repairs on a
50 megavolt-ampere transformer that was dam-
aged in the 2009 ice storm.

Big Rivers also made excellent strides in engi-
neering. Efforts included the development of a
long-range engineering plan in cooperation with
the member cooperatives’ engineering staffs. In
addition, communication technicians completed
an expansion of the microwave digital network
that connects Big Rivers’ headquarters in Hen-
derson to each of its generating stations. Efforts
were also made over the past year to replace the

Morganfield microwave radio network.

With strides made in generation, transmission
and engineering, Big Rivers is confident it will
continue serving our member cooperatives with
reliable and low cost excellence for years to
come.
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ELECTRIC CORPORATION

SAFETY
Big Rivers reached several substantial safety Adding a safety component in 2010 within
milestones in 2010 including: the Oracle R12 system that allows the com-
pany to monitor each employee’s training
Achieving its lowest Occupational Safety history.
and Health Administration (OSHA) record-
able incident rate in five years; A number of individual locations also achieved

safety milestones in 2010 including:
Experiencing only one lost-time incident,

which matched the company's best perfor- Coleman Station employees reached four
mance in its history; years with no lost-time incidents on January
6 and received the Governor's Safety Award




SAFETY IS THE

EXPEGCTATIONS OF

for achieving over a million hours with no
lost-time incidents.

 Coleman Station employees reached two
years without a recordable incident on
June 7.

. Sebree Station employees reached one year
with no lost-time incidents on January 19.

+ Sebree Station employees reached 500,000

RETOOLING FOR THE FUTURE...

O5HA RECORDABLE LosT-TiME NUMBER OF
INCIDENT RATE INCIDENT RATE VEHICLE INCIDENTS
2006 251 2006 0.54 2006 5
2007 1.87 w07 0.51 2007 3
2008 218 2008 2017
i 2008 3
2009 -::1.49 2009 - 0.50
2009 5
2010 .1.47 : 20107016
B Rivers average Bug Rwvers averags w0 1
Kentucky average Kentucky average Big Rivers average 3.6
8 [ 05 15 25 [ 1 2 3 4 5

Incident Bate 7 of incidants x 200,000 / # of hours worked Incident Rate 4 of incidents x 200 800 / # of hours worked

FOR ALL DECISIONS AND

© Wilson Station employees reached three

WORKFORGE.

man-hours worked without a lost-time inci-
dent in April.

years with no lost-time incidents on May 15.
Headquarters employees reached one

year with no lost-time incidents on
September 29,
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MEMBER AND COMMUNITY SERVICE

Promoting energy efficiency allows our member
cooperatives’ consumers to reduce their monthly
power bills and to delay the need for additional
expensive generating facilities. To help facilitate
these energy-efficiency efforts, Big Rivers under-
took a demand side management study in 2010
to identify efficiency opportunities for the mem-
bers.

This study examined various cost-effective op-
tions to identify those projects with the most po-
tential to succeed. A total of eight pilot projects
were selected to be pursued:

» Manufactured home weatherization;
= Residential weatherization;

- HVAC and refrigeration tune up;

« Clothes washer replacement;

¢« Refrigerator replacement;

+ LED and induction security lighting;
 Commercial high-efficiency lighting replace-

ment; and
» Energy Star new home program.

These pilot projects include financial incentives,
product evaluation, process development and
marketing tests. Big Rivers and its members will

PROMOTING

CONSUMERS TO

THEIR MONTHLY POWER BILLS.

develop the successful pilot projects into full
fledged energy-efficiency programs that member
cooperatives can offer to their consumers.

Big Rivers also continued working with its mem-
bers to provide real-time outage monitoring
equipment to their members. This allows the
distribution cooperative consumers to report
outages on the Web, which is extremely helpful
in storm situations. It also allows customers to
see outage locations on maps of the cooperative
member system.

As a generation and transmission cooperative,
Big Rivers' responsibility goes beyond simply
generating and transmitting reliable electricity.
The company also believes that energizing local
charities is part of its mission. Big Rivers em-
ployees helped in several community fundraisers
this past year, including United Way, Habitat for
Humanity, March for Babies, Relay for Life and
the WBKR Christmas Wish program. Additionally,
Big Rivers employees served in advisory posi-
tions for chambers of commerce, regional eco-
nomic development organizations, school boards,
universities, Leadership Kentucky, and regional
hospital boards.

Big Rivers encourages its employees to be in-

volved in community and civic activities. Similar
to previous years, United Way was the premier

CALLOWS
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non-profit organization supported by Big Rivers
employees. Employees contributed $154,000 to
United Way during the 2010 employee campaign,
which was a 5 percent increase over 2009 record
levels. Not only did employee contributions in-
crease, but so did employee participation levels,
with nearly 79 percent of our employees doing
s0. These significant efforts made Big Rivers one
of the largest contributors in the region to United
Way for the second straight year.

For over a decade, Big Rivers has continued to
support the Philippine Project, which brings elec-
tric power and the accompanying economic ben-
efits to remote regions of the Philippine Islands.
Much as was done in the United States in the

THE FUTURE...

1930s, this project brings electricity to individual
localities to improve village development and
further energize the region. In addition, low-inter-
est loans are provided to develop house-wiring
programs and to increase local business oppor-
tunities for the people of the Philippine Islands.
Big Rivers is proud to be a part of this humanitar-
ian project that has impacted the lives of several
thousand people.

17
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ENVIRONMENTALLY CONSCIOUS

Helping wildlife is important to Big Rivers. The
company has teamed up with the Kentucky De-
partment of Fish and Wildlife Resources ("KD-
FWR") to install a nesting box for falcons and to
improve wildlife habitat.

After months of planning, the first peregrine
falcon nesting box was installed at Coleman Sta-
tion in Hawesville in August. Big Rivers offered
KDFWR personnel the use of a crane to secure
the nesting box, which rests on the eighth floor
of one of the units. KDFWR and Big Rivers hope
to entice a mated pair of falcons to use this new
nesting box to raise their young during the up-
coming spring mating season.

The Promoting Our Wildiife & Energy Resources

18

(POWER) program continued its three-year test
through 2010. The program works in partnership
with KDFWR to improve wildlife habitat and also
helps reduce right-of-way transmission line cor-
ridor maintenance costs. The POWER program
offers free technical assistance and payments to
landowners who complete pre-approved wildlife
habitat projects in transmission line right-of-way
areas. |n turn, these practices reduce the need to
manage vegetation.

In 2010, Big Rivers completed work to meet ad-
ditional EPA spill prevention containment regula-
tions. We embrace being good environmental
stewards, which is evident by our effort to pre-
vent pollutants from entering waterways.
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REsPECT FOR THE EMPLOYEE

Employees are the backbone of any successful
company. It is no different at Big Rivers. By keep-
ing every employee safe, focused and motivated,
we improve morale, instill employee confidence
in their ability to achieve our mission and contin-
ue serving our member cooperatives with excel-
lence.

After completing the transition to incorporate
operation of its generating units into its current
management structure, employees began to look
more closely at preparing for the future, all while
keeping Big Rivers’ day-to-day operations running
smoothly.

To help that occur, the company is continuing to
refine its succession plan. Ensuring new employ-
ees carry the same level of passion, knowledge,
and work ethic that retiring employees have is a
top priority. By identifying and developing talent
who will succeed retiring employees, Big Rivers

will have skilled staff ready to face the challenges
ahead. The company is very thankful for all the
hard work its employees have done over the
years.

Corporate-wide employee meetings are held on a
regular basis to assist with two-way communica-
tion between front line staff and senior manage-
ment. These meetings cover key topics like the
company'’s strategic and safety plans. Keeping

an open line of communication is key to making
sure all employees are on the same page, while
working to move Big Rivers towards a successful
future.

Left. Big Rivers Environmental Scientist,
Samantha Howard, discussed possible sites

for the nesting box with Kate Heyden, an avian
biologist with KDFWR, Several factors had to be
considered when choosing a location, includ-
ing how much foot traffic that particular area
received. Careful selection was taken to find a
spot where the birds would feel at ease.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW: 2010

Big Rivers’ mission is to provide low-cost, reliable
wholesale electricity and cost-effective shared
services to the member distribution cooperatives—
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, Kenergy
Corp. and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation. They, in turn, provide retail electric
service to their members, totaling 112,735 at
December 31, 2010.

The year 2010 marked the first complete calendar
year of post-UUnwind operations for Big Rivers (see
Note 2 of the audited financial statements), as the
E.ON lease agreements terminated July 16, 2009
at midnight, at which time Big Rivers resumed
operational control of its 1,444 MW of owned
generating facilities and 312 MW of Henderson
Municipal Power & Light Station Two. The company
also owns transmission assets, principally 1,266
miles of transmission lines and 22 transmission
substations. Net utility plant at December 31,
2010 was $1,091.6 million, and total assets were

$1.472.2 million.

2001; $16.8 NET MARGINS
2002‘ $10.1 Dollars in millions
2003 $18.3

2004E 522.0

2005! $26.3

20061' $34.5

2007i $47.2

2008 $27.8

2009 $531.3
2010; $7.0
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EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Dollars in millions

2001 $(328.7)
2002 - %(319.0)
2003 - ${300.3)
2004 $(278.3)

2005 $(251.9)

2006 $217.4)

2007 $(174.1) J

2008 5(154.6)1

2009 $379.4

2010 o $386.6 -
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During 2010, Big Rivers continued its
transformational return to a fully operating
generation and transmission cooperative; its mode
of operation prior to July 17, 1998, when the E.ON
lease agreements became effective. Financially,
2010 was a successful year for Big Rivers, as the
company completed the year with a favorable set of
key financial metrics, discussed below.

Net Margins and Equities

The 2010 net margin was $7 million, resulting in a
1.15 times interest earned ratio (TIER) and margins
for interest ratio (MFIR), and a 1.47 debt service
coverage ratio (DSCR). Equities to total assets were
26.26 percent at December 31, 2010, and equities to
total capitalization were 32.32 percent.

While the 2009 net margin was $531.3 million, when
the one-time $538 million Unwind gain is excluded,
2009 reflected a loss of $6.6 million. There are three




items that explain the majority of the $13.6 million
net improvement in the 2010 net margin (2010 net
margin of $7 million plus 2009 net loss, as adjusted,
of $6.6 million). First, electric operating margin
reflects a $4.4 million unfavorable variance for the
first full year of post-Unwind operations, principally
due to a depressed market price for off-system
sales, resulting from the continued weak economy.
Second, interest expense and other reflects a $16.2
million favorable variance, primarily due to a $222.1
million reduction in long-term debt since 2008.
Third, following a thorough analysis during 2010,
the balance of the reserve for obsolescence that
was established for certain materials and supplies
inventory upon the Unwind closing was written off,
resulting in a non-operating margin of $1.9 million.

Energy Sales and Electric Revenues

MWh sales increased to 11,969,420 MWh in 2010,
up from 7,790,961 MWh in 2009, a 53.63 percent
increase. The primary reason for the MWh sales

ENERGY SALES
Megawatt-hours (MWhs) in millions

Because a full year of Unwind operations is reflected,

RETOOLING FOR THE FUTURE...

increase is the additional 2,887,641 MWh sold to the
aluminum smelters, an 83.43 percent increase over
2009, reflecting a full year of post-Unwind sales to
the aluminum smelters.

Non-smelter member sales increased 233,963 MWh
in 2010, or 7.28 percent, mostly due to hot summer
weather. Sales of surplus energy to non-members
(off-system sales) increased 1,056,955 MWh in
2010, or 94.61 percent, also reflective of full year of
post-Unwind operations.

Electric energy revenue increased to $514.5 million
in 2010, up from $326.7 million in 2009.

ELECTRIC
REVENUES
Dollars in millions

0 110 220 330 440 550
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Wholesale Revenue

Big Rivers has all-requirements wholesale power
contracts with its non-smelter members through
December 31, 2043. Rural member wholesale
revenue per MWh was $45.15 in 2010, versus
$41.13in 2009. Large industrial member wholesale
revenue per MWh was $41.85 in 2010, versus
$36.55 in 2009. The 11.29 percent non-smelter
member revenue per MWh increase in 2010 is
primarily due to higher fuel cost recovered through
the fuel adjustment clause. The aluminum smelter
wholesale contracts with Kenergy Corp. terminate
December 31, 2023. Aluminum smelter wholesale
revenue per MWh was $44.05 in 2010, versus
$47.54 in 2009. Big Rivers’ wholesale member

WHOLESALE MEMBER RATES
Dollars per megawatt-hour (MWh}
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tariff rates and the aluminum smelter contracts

are regulated by the Kentucky Public Service
Commission ("KPSC") and the Rural Utilities Service
("RUS").

Wholesale power market prices continue to be
depressed, as has been the case since 2008. The
revenue per MWh received by Big Rivers for its off-
system sales was $37.90 in 2010, up from $30.91
received in 2009, but significantly below the off-
system sales rate of $48.03 received in 2007.

Lines of Credit and Letters of Credit

Big Rivers has two $50 million lines of credit
available to it, one with CoBank, ACB ("CoBank"),
expiring July 16, 2012, and the other with National
Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
("CFC") that expires July 16, 2014. The CFC line

of credit contains a $10 million embedded letter of
credit facility. At December 31, 2010, $10 million

is outstanding under the CoBank line of credit, and
letters of credit totaling $5.9 million are outstanding
with CFC.

Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2010, debt to total assets is
55.50 percent. Big Rivers significantly reduced its
long-term debt by $222.1 million over the past two
years to $817 million at December 31, 2010, down
from $1,039.1 million at December 31, 2008. The
effective interest rate thereon, at December 31,
2010, is 5.70 percent. The company must refinance
$60 million of the 5.75 percent RUS Series A Note
by October 1, 2012 and another $200 million thereof
by January 1, 2016. The RUS Series A Note, having
a December 31, 2010 fair value of $558.7 million
and a stated value of $561 million, has a final
maturity of July 1, 2021. The non-interest bearing
RUS Series B Note, having a December 31, 2010
fair value of $116.2 million and a stated value of
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$245.5 million, has no payment due until maturity on
December 31, 2023.

Big Rivers has two issues of tax-exempt pollution
control bonds outstanding, totaling $142.1 million.
The larger of the two issues was refinanced June 8,
2010—the $83.3 million County of Ohio, Kentucky,
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A.
These Series 2010A Bonds now bear interest ata 6
percent fixed rate, with a maturity date of July 15,
2031. The second issue—the $58.8 million County
of Ohio, Kentucky, Pollution Control Revenue Bonds,
Series 1983—are variable rate demand bonds
currently being held by the liquidity provider, bearing
an interest rate of 3.25 percent.

Liquidity

Liguidity is good, as cash and cash equivalents total
$44.8 million at December 31, 2010. Additionally,
the company has the two lines of credit totaling
$100 million discussed earlier, Also of significance,
at December 31, 2010, Big Rivers had voluntarily
prepaid $23.9 million on its 5.75 percent RUS Series
A Note, which the company may claw back by
avoiding future quarterly debt service payments.

Big Rivers funded all of its operating expenses

and capital expenditures in 2010 without any new
borrowing. Capital expenditures totaled $42.7 million
in 2010, versus $568.4 million in 2009.

Depreciation Study and Cost-of-Service Study

The March 6, 2009 order of the Kentucky Public
Service Commission in the Unwind case mandated
that Big Rivers file for a general review of its financial
operations and wholesale member tariff rates,
including a depreciation study and a cost-of-service
study, by July 16, 2012. Big Rivers has not had a
wholesale tariff rate increase in twenty years, and
the existing depreciation study has been in effect
since July 1998. Accordingly, the company filed an

application with the KPSC on March 1, 2011, seeking
to increase its member wholesale tariff rates. Per the
application, the member revenue increase is stated
at $29.6 million, a 6.85 percent increase in total
member revenue. Big Rivers anticipates the KPSC
will order the rate increase request effective as of
September 1, 2011,

CASH AND

2001 $59.2
CAsSH EQUIVALENTS
2002 $20.1 R
i Dollars in millions
2003 $15.8
2004 $54.9
2005 $67.3
2006 $96.1
2007 $148.9
2008 $38.9
2000 $60.3
2010 $44.8 } 1 é
0 30 60 90 120 150




”A KPMG LLP

1601 Market Street
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Independent Auditors® Report

The Board of Directors and Members
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (the Company) as of
December 31, 2010 and the related statements of operations, equities, and cash flows for the year then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The accompanying financial
statements of the Company as of December 31, 2009 and for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
were audited by other auditors whose report thereon dated March 26, 2010, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those statements.

We conducted our andit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant cstimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred 1w above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 2010, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 25, 2011,
on our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this
report in considering the results of our audit.

KPMe LP

March 25,2011

HKPHG (LP i a Delowzre bmted dalily partnecani,
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BALANCE S5HEETS

As of December 31, 2010 and 2008 — (Dollars in thousands}

Assets 2010
UTILITY PLANT - Net $ 1,091,666
RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS — Member rate mitigation 217,662
OTHER DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS — At cost 5,473
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 44,780
Accounts receivable 45,905

Fuel inventory 37,328
Non-fuel inventory 23,218

Prepaid expenses 2,502

Total current assets : 153,733

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER 3,851
TOTAL $1,472,185

Equities and Liabilities
CAPITALIZATION.

Equities $ 386,575
Long-term debt 808,623
Total capitalization 1,196,198
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current maturities of long-term obligations 7.373
Notes payable 10,000
Purchased power payable 1,616
Accounts payable 29,782
Accrued expenses 10,627
Accrued interest 11134
Total current liabilities 70,432
DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER:
Regulatory liabilities — Member rate mitigation 185,893
Other 19,662
Total deferred credits and other 205,555
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (see Note 14)
TOTAL

_$ 1,472,185

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2009

_81,078274
243,225

5,342

60,290
47,493
37,830
20,412

3,233

169,258

9,384

$ 1,505,483

$ 379,392

834,367

1,213,769

14,185

3,362
30,657
9,864

9,097

67,165

207,348

17,211

224,559

_8 1,605,483

25




STATEMENTS 0OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 — (Dollars in thousands)
2010 2009 2008
OPERATING REVENUE $ 527,324 $ 341,333 $214,758
LEASE REVENUE - 32,027 58,423
Total operating revenue 527,324 373,360 273,181
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation 207,749 80,655 -
Power purchased and interchanged 99,421 116,883 114,643
Production, excluding fuel 52,507 22,381 -
Transmission and other 35,273 35,444 28,600
Maintenance 46,880 29,820 4,258
Depreciation and amortization 34,242 32,485 31,041
Total operating expenses 476,072 317,668 178,542
ELECTRIC OPERATING MARGIN 51,252 55,692 94,639
INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER:
Interest 46,570 59,898 65,719
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease - - 6,991
Amortization of loss from termination of long-term lease - 2,172 81
Income tax expense 259 1,026 5,934
Other - net 166 112 123
Total interest expense and other 46,995 63,207 79,578
OPERATING MARGIN 4,257 (7,515) 15,061
NON-OPERATING MARGIN:
Interest income on restricted investments under
long-term lease - - 8,742
Gain on Unwind transaction (see Note 2) - 537,978 -
Interest income and other 2,734 867 4,013
Total non-operating margin 2,734 538,845 12,755
NET MARGIN $ 6,991 $ 531,330 $ 27,816
s6 See accompanying notes to financial statements.




STATEMENTS 0OF EQUITIES ( DEFICIT)
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 — {Dollars in thousands)

BALANCE — December 31, 2007
Comprehensive income:
Net margin
Defined benefit plans

Total comprehensive income

BALANCE — December 31, 2008
Comprehensive income:
Net margin
Defined benefit plans

Total comprehensive income

BALANCE —~ December 31, 2009
Comprehensive income:

Net margin
Defined benefit plans

Total comprehensive income

BALANCE — December 31, 2010

Other Equities

Consumers’

Accumulated

Total Accumulated Donated Contributions Other
Equities Margin Capital and to Debt Comprehensive
{Deficit) {Deficit) Memberships Service Income

$ (174,137) $ (174,639) $764 $ 3,681 $ (3,943}

27,816 27,816 - - -

(8,281) - - - (8,281)

19,535 27,816 - ~ (8,281)

(154,602) (146,823) 764 3,681 (12,224)
531,330 531,330 - - -
2,664 - - - 2,664
533,994 531,330 - - 2,664
379,392 384,507 764 3,681 {9,660)
6,991 6,991 - - -

192 - - - 192

7,183 6,991 - - 192

$ 386,575 $ 391,498 $ 764 $ 3,681 $ (9,368)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CAsH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 - (Dollars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net margin
Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Increase in restricted investments under long-term lease
Decrease in deferred AMT Income Taxes
Amortization of deferred loss (gain) on sale-leaseback — net
Deferred lease revenue
Residual value payments obligation gain
Interest compounded - RUS Series B Note
Increase in obligations under long-term lease
Noncash gain on Unwind transaction
Cash received for member rate mitigation
Noncash member rate mitigation revenue
Changes in certain assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Deferred charges

Purchased power payable

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Other — net

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from disposition of investments related to sale-leaseback
Proceeds from restricted investments
Purchases of restricted investments and other deposits & investments
Net cash provided by (used in} investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on long-term obligations
Proceeds from long-term obligations
Principal payments on short-term notes payable
Proceeds from short-term notes payable
Payments upon termination of sale-leaseback
Debt issuance cost on bond refunding

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

2010 2009 2008
$ 6,991 $ 531,330 $ 27,816
37,650 37,084 34,320
- - (2,502)

- - 5,035

- 2,172 (1,187)

- (3,768) (4,582)

- (3,881) (6,748)

6,499 6,136 5,841

- - 2,749

- (269,441) -

- 217,856 -
(23,953) (12,033) -
1,588 (26,049) 6,218
(2,304) (3,497) 12
731 (2,783) (319)
1,261 (1,538) 1,871
(1,846) (5,973) (3,702)
(875) 24,825 899
2,800 7,881 327
555 6,852 (4,940)
29,087 505,173 61,108
(42,683) (58,388) (22,760)
- - 222,739

28,143 8,982 -
- (252,798) {401)
(14,540) (302,204) 199,578
{121,355) (168,956) {40,838)
83,300 - -
- (12,380) -

10,000 - -

- - (329,859)

(2,002) (246) -
(30,057) (181,582) (370,697)
(15,510) 21,387 (110,011)
$ 60,290 $ 38,903 $ 148914
$ 44,780 $ 60,290 $ 38,903
$ 37,268 $ 51,078 $ 74,819
260 626 1,220

=g See accompanying notes to financial statements.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009 (Doliars in thousands)

1.  ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

{a)

(b)

fc)

(d)

{e]

A

General Information — Big Rivers Electric Corporation {"Big Rivers” or the "Company”), an electric generation
and transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution cooperatives (Kenergy
Corp., Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation)

under all requirements contracts, excluding the power needs of two large aluminum smelters {the ”Aluminum
Smelters”). Additionally, Big Rivers sells power under separate contracts to Kenergy Corp. for the Aluminum
Smelters load and markets power to nonmember utilities and power marketers. The members provide electric
power and energy to industrial, residential, and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western
Kentucky counties. The wholesale power contracts with the members remain in effect until December 31,
2043, Rates to Big Rivers’ members are established by the Kentucky Public Service Commission {KPSC) and
are subject to approval by the Rural Utilities Service (RUS). The financial statements of Big Rivers include

the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB)} Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
980, Certain Types of Regulation, which was adopted by the Company in 2003, and gives recognition to the
ratemaking and accounting practices of the KPSC and RUS.

in 1999, Big Rivers Leasing Corporation (BRLC) was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of Big Rivers.
BRLC's principal assets were the restricted investments acquired in connection with the 2000 sale leaseback
transaction discussed in Note 4. The sale leaseback transaction was terminated on September 30, 2008 and
BRLC was dissolved on July 7, 2008, in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction {See Note 2).

Management evaluated subseguent events up to and including March 25, 2011, the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

Principles of Consolidation — The financial statements of Big Rivers include the accounts of Big Rivers and its
wholly owned subsidiary, BRLC. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Estimates — The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based upon
management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the financial statements.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.

System of Accounts — Big Rivers’ maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of
Accounts as prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies retain
authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Adjustments to RUS
accounting have been made to make the financial statements consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America.

Revenue Recognition — Revenues generated from the Company's wholesale power contracts are based on
month end meter readings and are recognized as earned. Prior to its termination, in accordance with FASB
ASC 840, Leases, Big Rivers' revenue from the Lease Agreement was recognized on a straight line basis over
the term of the lease. The major components of this lease revenue include the annual lease payments and the
Monthly Margin Payments (described in Note 2}.

Utility Plant and Depreciation — Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of
contracted services, materials, labor, overhead, and an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction.
Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total cost of
$250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the
effective rate of Big Rivers' weighted average debt to the accumulated expenditures for qualifying projects
included in construction in progress.




(g)

th)

(i)

(il

Prior to July 17, 2009, the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction (see Note 2}, and in accordance with the
terms of the Lease Agreement, the Company generally recorded capital additions for Incremental Capital
Costs and Nonincremental Capital Costs expenditures funded by LG&E and KU Energy LLC (formerly E.ON
U.S. LLC) as utility plant to which the Company maintained title. A corresponding obligation to LG&E and

KU Energy LLC (LG&E and KU) was recorded for the estimated portion of these additions attributable to the
Residual Value Payments {see Note 2}. A portion of this obligation was amortized to lease revenue over the
useful life of those assets during the remaining lease term. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009,
the Company recorded $0 and $5,567, respectively, for such additions in utility plant. The Company recorded
$0, $3,881, and $6,748 in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, as related lease revenue in the accompanying
financial statements. All amounts recorded for 2009 reflect the period prior to the Effective Date of the Unwind
Transaction. Under the terms of the Unwind Transaction, LG&E and KU waived their right to the Residual Value
Payment, and the Company recognized a gain.

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, and in addition to the capital costs funded by LG&E and KU {see Note
2) that were recorded by the Company as utility plant and lease revenue, LG&E and KU also incurred certain
Nonincremental Capital Costs and Major Capital Improvements (as defined in the Lease Agreement) for which
they waived rights to a Residual Value Payment by Big Rivers upon lease termination. Such amounts were not
recorded as utility plant or lease revenue by the Company during the lease. In connection with the Unwind
Transaction the Company recognized a gain of $19,679 for the Nonincremental Capital assets for which LG&E
and KU had waived rights to.

LG&E and KU constructed a scrubber {Major Capital Improvement) at Big Rivers' Coleman plant. The scrubber
achieved commercial acceptance in January 2007. The Company acquired the Coleman scrubber at no cost
under the terms of the Unwind Transaction, recognizing a gain of $98,500 in 2009.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight line method over the estimated remaining
service lives, as approved by the RUS and KPSC. The annual composite depreciation rates used to compute
depreciation expense were as follows:

Electric plant 1.60%-2.47%
Transmission plant 1.76%-3.24%
General plant 1.11%-5.62%

For 2010, 2009, and 2008, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.86%, 1.85%, and 1.85%,
respectively. At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value of such
plant is charged to accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS.

Impairment Review of Long Lived Assets — Long lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. This review is performed in accordance with FASB ASC
360, Property, Plant, and Equipment as it relates to impairment of long lived assets. FASB ASC 360 establishes
one accounting mode! for all impaired long lived assets and long lived assets to be disposed of by sale or
otherwise. FASB ASC 360 requires the evaluation of impairment by comparing an asset’s carrying value to the
estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to generate over its remaining life. If this evaluation were to
conclude that the carrying value of the asset is impaired, an impairment charge would be recorded based on the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair value {less costs to sell for assets to be disposed of
by sale) as a charge to operations or discontinued operations.

Inventory — Inventories are carried at average cost and include coal, petroleum coke, lime, limestone, oil and
gas used for electric generation, and materials and supplies used for utility operations. Emission allowances are
carried in inventory at a weighted average cost by each vintage year. Issuances of allowances are accounted for
on a vintage basis using a monthly weighted average cost.

Restricted Investments — Investments are restricted under KPSC order to establish certain reserve funds for
member rate mitigation in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction. These investments have been classified as
held-to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost {see Note 10).

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.




{k} Income Taxes — Big Rivers was formed as a tax exempt cooperative organization described in Internal
Revenue Code Section 501{(c)(12). To retain tax exempt status under this section, at least 85% of the Big Rivers’
receipts must be generated from transactions with the Company's members. In 1983, sales to nonmembers
resulted in Big Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can meet the 85% member income
requirement, the Company will not be eligible for tax exempt status and will be treated as a taxable cooperative.

As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitied to exclude the amount of patronage allocations to members from
taxable income. Income and expenses related to nonmember operations are taxable to Big Rivers. Big Rivers
files a Federal income tax return and certain state income tax returns.

Under the provisions of FASB ASC 740, /ncome Taxes, Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax assets and
liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting purposes and amounts
reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon these
temporary differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which these differences are expected to reverse.
Deferred income tax expense or benefit is based on the change in assets and liabilities from period to period,
subject to an ongoing assessment of realization. Tax benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or
expected to be taken, in a tax return are recorded only when the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is
satisfied and measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
settlement.

Patronage Capital — As provided in the bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year's patronage-sourced
income, both operating and nonoperating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of the
bylaws, the amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall not be less than the greater of
regular taxable patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable patronage-sourced income.

{m} Derivatives — Management has reviewed the requirements of FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and

~—

has determined that certain contracts the Company is party to may meet the definition of a derivative under
FASB ASC 815. The Company has elected the Normal Purchase and Normal Sale exception for these contracts
and, therefore, the contracts are not required to be recognized at fair value in the financial statements.

Fair Value Measurements — The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal, or most advantageous, market for the asset

or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Fair Values
Measurements Topic establishes a three-Level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure
fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs when possible. The three
levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

e |evel 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

s |evel 2 — observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and
liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data; and

o [ evel 3— unobservable inputs that are supported by littie or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities, including certain pricing models, discounted
cash flow methodologies and similar technigues that use significant unobservable inputs.




LG&E LEASE AGREEMENT

Big Rivers, LG&E and KU, Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), and LG&E Energy Marketing (LEM),
closed effective July 17, 2009, a transaction resulting in a mutually acceptable early termination of the 1998 LG&E
Lease Agreement {referred herein as the “Unwind Transaction” or "Unwind"). LG&E and KU, WKEC, and LEM are
collectively referred to in the Notes as "LG&E and KU Entities.” This transaction was approved by the KPSC and the
RUS. The Unwind Transaction resuited in Big Rivers recognizing a net gain of $537,978. This transaction resulted

in the acquisition of assets, the assumption of liabilities, the forgiveness of liabilities, and the establishment of a
regulatory reserve prescribed by the KPSC in their approval of the transaction. Assets and liabilities in the unwind
transaction were accounted for at fair value or recorded value, as appropriate. The gain from the Unwind Transaction
is summarized as follows:

Unwind
Gain
Assets received:
Cash $506,675
Coleman scrubber 98,500
Inventory 55,000
Construction in progress 23,074
Utility plant assets 19,679
SO2 allowances 980
Liabilities (assumed) forgiven:
Economic Reserve (157,000)
Rural Economic Reserve (60,856)
Post-retirement benefits liability (8,768)
Residual value payments obligation 145,251
LEM Settlement Note 15,440
Recognition of {expenses) income:
Deferred lease income 7,187
Deferred loss from termination of salefleaseback (73,829)
Deferred loss from LEM Marketing Payment/Settlement Note (14,520)
Unwind transaction costs (18,991)
Other 156
Gain on unwind transaction $537,978

The terms of the LG&E Lease Agreement as originally structured are outlined in the following text.

On July 15, 1998 (Effective Date), a lease was consummated (Lease Agreement), whereby Big Rivers leased its
generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E and

KU. Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC operated the generating facilities and maintained title to all energy
produced. Throughout the lease term, in order for Big Rivers to fulfill its obligation to supply power to its members,
the Company purchased substantially all of its power requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation
(LEMY), a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E and KU, pursuant to a power purchase agreement.

Big Rivers continued to operate its transmission facilities and charged LEM tariff rates for delivery of the energy
produced by WKEC and consumed by LEM'’s customers. The significant terms of the Lease Agreement were as
follows:




WKEC was to lease and operate Big Rivers' generation facilities through 2023.

Big Rivers retained ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease term.
WKEC paid Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain adjustments

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and the first two
years of the annual lease payments. In accordance with FASB ASC 840, Leases, the Company amortized these
payments to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

Big Rivers continued to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the Aluminum
Smelters, through its power purchase agreements with LEM and the Southeastern Power Administration,
based on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When economically feasible, the Company also obtained the
power necessary to supply its member loads, excluding the Aluminum Smelters, in the open market. Kenergy
Corp.'s retail service for the Aluminum Smelters was served by LEM and other third-party providers that
included Big Rivers. To the extent the power purchased from LEM did not reach pre-determined minimums, the
Company was required to pay certain penalties. Also, to the extent additional power was available to Big Rivers
under the LEM contract, Big Rivers made sales to nonmembers.

L.LEM reimbursed Big Rivers the margins expected from the Aluminum Smelters, defined as the net cash flows
that Big Rivers anticipated receiving if the Company had continued to serve the Aluminum Smelters’ load, as
filed in the Rate Hearing {the "Monthly Margin Payments”}

WKEC was responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers was partially
responsible for ordinary capital expenditures (Nonincremental Capital Costs) for the generation facilities over
the term of the Lease Agreement, generally up to predetermined annual amounts. At the end of the lease

term, Big Rivers was obligated to fund a “Residual Value Payment” to LG&E and KU for such capital additions
during the lease (see Note 1). Adjustments to the Residual Value Payment were made based upon actual capital
expenditures. Additionally, WKEC made required capital improvements to the facilities to comply with new

laws or a changes to existing laws (Incremental Capital Costs) over the lease life (the Company was partially
responsible for such costs: 20% through 2010) and the Company was required to submit another Residual
Value Payment to LG&E and KU for the undepreciated value of WKEC's 80% share of these costs, at the end of
the lease. The Company had title to these assets during the lease and upon lease termination

Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 {the "LEM Settlement Note") to be repaid over the
term of the Lease Agreement, with an interest rate at 8% per annum, in consideration for LEM's assumption

of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and

the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The Company recorded this obligation as a
component of deferred charges with the related payable recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying
balance sheets. This deferred charge was amortized on a straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the
Unwind Transaction.

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a nonrefundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, which was
recorded as a component of deferred charges. This amount was amortized on a straight-line basis up to the
Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction.

During the lease term, Big Rivers was entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the Company owed
LEM under the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first 55 months of the lease term, Big Rivers
received a credit of $89. For the year 2011, Big Rivers was to receive a credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012
through 2023, the Company was to receive a credit of $4,111 annually.




In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company was allowed to purchase power in the
open market rather than from LEM, incurring penalties when the power purchased from LEM did not meet certain
minimum levels, and to sell excess power (power not needed to supply its jurisdictional load) in the open market
(collectively referred to as "Arbitrage”). Pursuant to the New RUS Promissory Note (currently the RUS Series A
Note) and the RUS ARVP Note (currently the RUS Series B Note), the benefit, net of tax, as defined, derived from
Arbitrage had to be divided as follows: one-third, adjusted for capital expenditures, was used to make principal
payments on the New RUS Promissory Note; one-third was used to make principal payments on the RUS ARVP
Note; and the remaining value was retained by the Company.

UTILITY PLANT

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, utility plant is summarized as follows:

2010 2009
Classified plant in service:

Production plant $1,689,024 $1,675,733
Transmission plant 237,689 236,639
General plant 18,937 18,201
Other 543 543
1,946,193 1,931,116

Less accumulated depreciation 909,501 908,099
1,036,692 1,023,017

Construction in progress 54,874 55,257
Utility plant — net $1,091,566 $1,078,274

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, was $684, $133, and $492,
respectively.

The Company has not identified any material legal asset retirement obligations, as defined in FASB ASC 410,
Asset Retirement Obligations. In accordance with regulatory treatment, the Company records an estimated net
cost of removal of its utility plant through normal depreciation. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company
had approximately $38,000 and $35,835, respectively, related to non-legal removal costs included in accumulated
depreciation.

SALE-LEASEBACK

On April 18, 2000, the Company completed a sale-leaseback of two of its utility plants, including the related
facilities and equipment. The sale-leaseback provided Big Rivers a $1,089,000 fixed price purchase option, at the
end of each lease term (25 and 27 years), which, together with future contractual interest receipts, would be fully
funded

On September 30, 2008, the Company completed an early termination of the sale-leaseback transaction. The
termination was precipitated by the June 2008 downgrade of the claims-paying ability of Ambac Assurance
Corporation (Ambac). Ambac served as insurer of Big Rivers’ payment obligations, thereby providing credit support
under the transaction. Ambac's downgrade exposed the Company to adverse consequences under the contractual
terms of the transaction and after consideration of alternative options, Big Rivers ultimately settled on termination




as the preferred solution. Proceeds from disposition of the restricted investment and payments required under the
termination agreements were $222,739 and $329,5659, respectively, reflecting a net cash payment of $107,120. To
meet its remaining obligations Big Rivers' entered into a $12,380 promissory note (see Note b} with Philip Morris
Capital Corporation (PMCC). A net loss of $77,001 resulting from the early termination of the sale-leaseback was
recorded as a regulatory asset and was amortized up to the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction; with the
balance of the regulatory asset reflected as an offset to the gain recognized from the Unwind Transaction.

Prior to termination the sale-leaseback transaction was recorded as a financing for financial reporting purposes
and a sale for Federal income tax purposes. In connection therewith, in 2000, Big Rivers received $866,676 of
proceeds and incurred $791,626 of related obligations. Pursuant to a payment undertaking agreement with a
financial institution, Big Rivers effectively extinguished $656,029 of these obligations with an equivalent portion
of the proceeds. The Company also purchased investments with an initial value of $146,647 to fund the remaining
$135,697 of the obligations. Interest received and paid was recorded to these accounts up to the date of lease
termination. The Company paid 7.567% interest on its obligations related to long-term lease and received 6.89% on
its related investments. The Company made a $64,000 principal payment on the New RUS Promissory Note with
the remaining proceeds. The $75,050 gain was deferred and was amortized up to the date of lease termination,
with the Company recognizing $1,998 in 2008

The unamortized balance of the deferred loss was recognized in 2009 in conjunction with the unwind transaction
described in Note 2 based on agreement with the KPSC

Amounts recognized in the statement of operations related to the sale-leaseback for the year ended December 31,
2008, were as follows:

2008
Power contracts revenue {revenue discount
adjustment — see Note 6) $(2,453)
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease:
Interest expense $ 8,989
Amortize gain on sale-leaseback __{1,998)
Net interest on obligations related to
long-term lease $6,991
Interest income on restricted investments under -
fong-term lease $8,742

Interest income and other $779




5.

DEBT AND OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A detail of long-term debt at December 31, 2010 and 2009, is as follows:

2010 2009

RUS Series A Promissory Note, stated amount of, $561,061, stated

interest rate of 5.75%, with an imputed interest rate of 5.84%

maturing July 2021 $558,731 $596,786
RUS Series B Note, stated amount of $245,530, no stated interest

rate, with interest imputed at 5.80%, maturing December 2023 116,165 109,666
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, fixed interest rate of

6.00%, maturing in July 2031 83,300 -

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate

{average interest rate of 3.56% and 10.50% in 2010 and 2009,

respectively), maturing in October 2022 - 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate

(average interest rate of 3.27% and 3.22% in 2010 and 2009,

respectively), maturing in June 2013 58,800 58,800
Total long-term debt 816,996 848,652
Current maturities 7,373 14,185
Total long-term debt — net of current maturities $809,623 $834,367

The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 31:

{a)

Year Amount
2011 7,373
2012 76,078
2013 79,275
2014 21,676
2015 22,968
Thereafter 609,626

Total $816,996

RUS Notes — On July 15, 1998, Big Rivers recorded the New RUS Promissory Note and the RUS ARVP Note
at fair value using the applicable market rate of 5.82%. On the Unwind Closing Date, the New RUS Note and
the ARVP Note were replaced with the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A and the RUS 2008 Promissory
Note Series B, respectively. After an Unwind Closing Date payment of $140,181, the RUS 2009 Promissory
Note Series A is recorded at an interest rate of 5.84%. The RUS 2009 Series B Note is recorded at an imputed
interest rate of 5.80%. The RUS Notes are collateralized by substantially all assets of the Company and secured
by the Indenture dated July 1, 2009 between the Company and U S. Bank National Association




b}

(c)

(d)

{e)

Pollution Control Bonds — in June 2010, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Series 2010A Bonds), the proceeds of which are supported by a
promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate. These bonds bear interest at a fixed rate
of 6.00% and mature in July 2031. Proceeds from the Series 2010A Bonds were used to refund the $83,300,
County of Ohio, Kentucky, Periodic Auction Rate Securities, Series 2001A.

The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Series 1983,
the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate
as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in June 2013.

The Series 1983 bonds are supported by a liquidity facility issued by Credit Suisse First Boston, which was
assigned to Dexia Credit in 2006. In addition, the Series 1983 bonds are supported by a municipal bond
insurance and surety policy issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation. Big Rivers has agreed to reimburse
Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under the municipal bond insurance policy or the surety policy
Both Series are secured by the Indenture dated July 1, 2009 between the company and U.S. Bank National
Association.

The Series 1983 are subject to a maximum interest rate of 13%. The December 31, 2010 interest rate on the
Series 1983 Pollution Control Bonds was 3.25%.

LEM Settlement Note — On July 15, 1998 Big Rivers executed the Settlement Note with LEM. The
Settlement Note required Big Rivers to pay to LEM $19,676, plus interest at 8% per annum over the lease
term. The principal and interest payment was approximately $1,822 annually. On the Unwind Closing Date,
in connection with the Unwind Transaction the remaining balance on the Settlement Note in the amount of
$15,440 was forgiven.

Notes Payable — Notes payable represent the Company’s borrowing on its line of credit with the National
Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation {CFC) and CoBank, ACB (CoBank). The maximum borrowing
capacity on the lines of credit is $100,000 consisting of $50,000 each for CFC and CoBank. Big Rivers had
$10,000 of borrowings outstanding, at an interest rate of 2.46%, on the CoBank line of credit at December 31,
2010. Letters of credit issued under an associated Letter of Credit Facility with CFC reduced the borrowing
capacity on the CFC line of credit by $5,928. Advances on the CFC line of credit bear interest at a variable rate
and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2014. The CFC variable rate is equal
to the CFC Line of Credit Rate, which is defined as “the rate published by CFC from time to time, by electronic
or other means, for similarly classified lines of credit, but if not published, then the rate determined for such
lines of credit by CFC from time to time.” Advances on the CoBank line of credit bear interest at a variable rate
and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2012. The CoBank variable rate is
a fixed rate per annum {for interest periods of 1, 2, 3 and 6 months) equal to LIBOR plus the Applicable Margin
as determined by the Company's credit rating. At December 31, 2010 the Company had available to it a $2,5600
line of credit with CFC to finance storm emergency repairs and expenses related to electric utility operations
with a February 25, 2011 maturity date.

Covenants — Big Rivers is in compliance with all debt covenants associated with both long-term and short-
term debt. The Company’s Indenture and its line of credit with CFC require that a Margins for Interest Ratio
(MFIR) of at least 1.10 be maintained for each fiscal year. The CoBank line of credit agreement requires that at
the end of each fiscal year the Company have a Debt Service Coverage Ratio {DSCR) of not less than 1.20. Big
Rivers' 2010 MFIR was 1.15 and its DSCR was 1.47.

6. RATE MATTERS

The rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consist of a demand charge per kW and an energy charge per kWh
consumed as approved by the KPSC. The rates include specific demand and energy charges for its members’ two
classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under its jurisdiction. For the large
industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based on each customer's maximum demand during the
current month. Each members rural demand charge is based upon the maximum coincident demand of their rural
delivery points.




Prior to the Unwind Transaction the demand and energy charges were not subject to adjustments for increases
or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. In conjunction with the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC approved the
implementation of certain tariff riders, including a fuel adjustment clause and an environmental surcharge, offset
by an unwind surcredit {a refund to tariff members of certain charges collected from the Aluminum Smelter in
accordance with the contract terms). The net effect of these tariffs is recognized as revenue on a monthly basis
with an offset to the regulatory liability - member rate mitigation described below.

The net impact of the tariff riders to members rates is currently mitigated by a Member Rate Stability Mechanism
(MRSM} that was funded by certain cash amounts received from the E.ON Entities in connection with the Unwind
Transaction (the Economic and Rural Economic Reserves) and held by Big Rivers as restricted investments. An
offsetting regulatory liability — member rate mitigation was established with the funding of these accounts.

In its order approving the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC stipulated that Big Rivers file a rate case within three years
of the Unwind Closing Date or by July 2012. On March 1, 2011, the Company filed an application with the KPSC
requesting authority to adjust its rates for wholesale electric service.

Effective since September 1, 2000, and continuing through August 31, 2008, the KPSC approved Big Rivers’
request for a $3,680 annual revenue discount adjustment for its members, effectively passing the benefit of the
sale-leaseback transaction (see note 4) to them. On September 1, 2008, Big Rivers' discontinued the revenue
discount adjustment to its members in conjunction with the sale-leaseback termination.

The wholesale rates established for the members non-smelter large direct-served industrial customers (the “Large
Industrial Rate"”) provide the basis for pricing the energy consumed by the Aluminum Smelters. The primary
component of the pricing used for the Aluminum Smelters is an energy charge in dollars per MWh determined by
applying the Large Industrial Rate to a load with a 98% load factor, and adding an additional charge of $0.25 per
MWh. The other components reflected in the pricing of the Aluminum Smelters’ energy usage are certain charges
and credits as provided for under the terms of the Aluminum Smelters’ wholesale electric service agreements
between Big Rivers and Kenergy Corp. {Kenergy Corp. is the retail provider for the Aluminum Smelters load).

INCOME TAXES

As a result of the sale-leaseback terminations in 2008 (see Note 4), Big Rivers no longer considers that it is

more likely than not that it will recover its net deferred tax assets (which consisted of Net Operating Loss (NOL)
Carryforwards, Alternative Minimum Tax {AMT) Credit Carryforwards, Fixed Asset Book to Tax Differences,
Economic Reserve Book to Tax Differences, and RUS Series B Note Book to Tax Differences). An income statement
charge of $5,035 relating the AMT amounts carried forward at January 1, 2008 together with a charge of $900
relating to the 2008 AMT obligation were recorded in the Statement of Operations for 2008. AMT charges were
recorded in the Statement of Operations for 2010 and 2009 in the amount of $259 and $1,025, respectively.

At December 31, 2010, Big Rivers had a Nonpatron Net Operating Loss Carryforward of approximately $42,354
expiring at various times between 2010 and 2030, and an Alternative Minimum Tax Credit Carryforward of
approximately $6,038, which carries forward indefinitely.

The Company has not recorded any regular income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008, as the Company has utilized federal net operating losses to offset any regular taxable income during
those years. Had the Company not had the benefit of a net operating loss carryforward, the Company would have
recorded $3,846, $19,619, and $20,363 in current regular tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively




The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, were as follows:

2010 2009
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward $16,730 $20,990
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 6,038 7,052
Member rate mitigation 10,326 10,326
Fixed asset basis difference 10,752 11,420
RUS Series B Note 14,767 -
Total deferred tax assets 58,613 49,788
Deferred tax liabilities:
RUS Series B Note - (23,793}
Bond refunding costs (8) -
Total deferred tax liabilities (8) (23,793)
Net deferred tax asset (prevaluation allowance) 58,605 25,995
Valuation allowance {58,605) {25,995)
Net deferred tax asset $ - $ -
A reconciliation of the Company's effective tax rate for 2010, 2009 and 2008, follows:
2010 2009 2008
Federal rate 350% 35.0% 35.0%
State rate — net of federal benefit 45 4.5 4.5
Permanent differences 0.5 - -
Patronage allocation to members (38.8) (35.4) (31.3)
Tax benefit of operating loss carryforwards and other (1.2) (4.1) (8.2)
Alternative minimum tax 3.0 0.2 18.0
Effective tax rate 3.0% 0.2% 18.0%

recorded any unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities related to federal or state income taxes.

8. POWER PURCHASED

and the applicable minimum requirement.

The Company files a federal income tax return, as well as certain state income tax returns. The years currently

open for federal tax examination are 2006 through 2010 and 1995 through 1997, due to unused net operating loss
carryforwards. The major state tax jurisdiction currently open for tax examination is Kentucky for years 2003 through
2010 and years 2001 through 2002, also due to unused net operating loss carryforwards. The Company has not

The Company classifies interest and penalties as an operating expense on the income statement and accrued
expense in the balance sheet. No material interest or penalties have been recorded during 2010, 2009, or 2008.

Prior to the Unwind Transaction and in accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplied all of the
members' requirements for power to serve their customers, other than the Aluminum Smelters. Contract limits
were established in the Lease Agreement and included minimum and maximum hourly and annual power purchase
amounts. Big Rivers could not reduce the contract limits by more than 12 MW in any year or by more than a total of
72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers failed to take the minimum requirement during any hour or year,
Big Rivers was liable to LEM for a certain percentage of the difference between the amount of power actually taken
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Although Big Rivers was required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual amounts
of power from LEM, the lease did not prevent Big Rivers from paying the associated penalty in certain hours
to purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or reselling a portion of its purchased power to
a third party. The power purchases made under this agreement for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
2008, were $51,592 and $99,700, respectively, and are included in power purchased and interchanged on the
statement of operations.

PENSION PLANS

(a) Defined Benefit Plans— Big Rivers has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all

employees who meet minimum age and service requirements and who were employed by the Company prior
to the plans closure dates cited below. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of service
and the five highest consecutive years' compensation during the last ten years of employment. Big Rivers'
policy is to fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974.

The salaried employees defined benefit plan was closed to new entrants effective January 1, 2008, and the
bargaining employees defined benefit plan was closed to new hires effective November 1, 2008. The Company
simultaneously established base contribution accounts in the defined contribution thrift and 401(k) savings
plans, which were renamed as the retirement savings plans. The base contribution account for an eligible
employee, which is one who meets the minimum age and service requirements, but for whom membership in
the defined benefit plan is closed, is funded by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of the
employee's pay, depending on his or her age.

The Company has adopted FASB ASC 715, Defined Benefit Plans, including the requirement to recognize the
funded status of its pension plans and other postretirement plans (see Note 12 - Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions). FASB ASC 715 defines the funded status of a defined benefit pension plan as the fair value of
its assets less its projected benefit obligation, which includes projected salary increases, and defines the funded
status of any other postretirement plan as the fair value of its assets less its accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation.

FASB ASC 715 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end
balance sheet and requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements certain additional information
related to net periodic benefit costs for the next fiscal year. The Company’s pension and other postretirement
benefit plans are measured as of December 31, 2010 and 2008.

The following provides an overview of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plans.

A reconciliation of the Company's benefit obligations of its noncontributory defined benefit pension plans at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2809
Benefit obligation — beginning of period $25,493 $24,253
Service cost — benefits earned during the period 1,289 1,241
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,368 1,466
Participant contributions {lump sum repayment) - 40
Plan settlements - 262
Benefits paid (806) (3,945)
Actuarial loss 1,460 2,176

Benefit obligation — end of period $28,804 $25,493




The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $21,977 and $18,630 at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

A reconciliation of the Company's pension plan assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009, follows.

2010 2009
Fair value of plan assets — beginning of period $22,270 $20,295
Actual return on plan assets 2,707 4,820
Employer contributions 1,096 1,060
Participant contributions (lump sum repayment) - 40
Benefits paid (806) (3,945)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period $25,267 $22,270

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans at December 31, 2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2009

Benefit obligation — end of period $(28,804) $(25,493)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period 25,267 22,270
Funded status $ (3,537) $ (3,223)

Components of net periodic pension costs for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, were
as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Service cost $1,289 $1,241 $1,072
Interest cost 1,368 1,466 1,220
Expected return on plan assets {1,533) (1,332) (1,516)
Amortization of prior service cost 19 19 19
Amortization of actuarial loss 584 834 247
Settlement loss - 1,690 —
Net periodic benefit cost $1,727 $3,918 $1,042

A reconciliation of the pension plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31,
2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2009
Prior service cost $ (40) (59)
Unamortized actuarial {(loss) (9,354) (9,651)

Accumulated other comprehensive income $(9,394) $(9,710)




In 2011, $19 of prior service cost and $560 of actuarial loss is expected to be amortized to periodic benefit cost

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income at December 31, 2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2009

Prior service cost $ 19 $ 19
Unamortized actuarial {loss) 297 3,675
Other comprehensive income $ 316 $ 3,594

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounts recognized in the statement of financial position were as follows:

2010 2009

Deferred credits and other $(3,637) $(3,223)

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation and determine the net periodic benefit cost were

as follows:
2010 2009 2008
Discount rate — projected benefit obligation 4.95% 5.59% 6.38%
Discount rate — net periodic benefit cost 5.69 6.38 6.25
Rates of increase in compensation leveis 4.00 4.00 4.00
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.25 7.25 7.25

The expected long term-rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for each fiscal
year is chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying anticipated long-term
returns and long-term volatility for various asset categories to the target asset allocation of the plans, as well as
taking into account historical returns.

Using the asset allocation policy adopted by the Company noted in the paragraph below, we determined the
expected rate of return at a 50% probability of achievement Level based on (a) forward looking rate of return
expectations for passively managed asset categories over a 20-year time horizon and (b) historical rates of
return for passively managed asset categories. Applying an approximately 80%/20% weighting to the rates
determined in (a) and (b}, respectively, produced an expected rate of return of 7.28%, which was rounded to
7.25%.

Big Rivers utilizes a third party investment manager for the plan assets, and has communicated thereto the
Company's Retirement Plan Investment Policy, including a target asset allocation mix of 50% U.S. Equities

{an acceptable range of 45-55%), 16% International Equities {(an acceptable range of 10-20%), and 356% fixed
income (an acceptable range of 30-40%). As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the investment allocation was
58% and 55%, respectively, in U.S. Equities, 9% and 11%, respectively, in International Equities, and 33% and
34%, respectively, in fixed income. The objective of the investment program seeks to (a} maximize return on
investment, (b} minimize volatility, {c] minimize company contributions, and {d) provide the employee benefit in
accordance with the plans. The portfolio is well diversified and of high quality. The average quality of the fixed
income investments must be “A” or better. The Equity portfolio must also be of investment grade quality. The
performance of the investment manager is reviewed semi annually.
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At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of Big Rivers' defined benefit pension plan assets by asset
category, as required by FASB ASC 320 (see Note 1), are as follows:

December 31,
Leve! 1 Level 2 2010
Cash and money market $ 1,517 $ - $ 1517
Equity Securities:
U.S. large-cap stocks 9,731 - 9,731
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 2,926 - 2,926
U,S. small-cap stock mutual funds 1,448 - 1,448
International stock mutual funds 2,194 - 2,194
Preferred stock 490 - 490
Fixed:
TIPS Bond Fund 161 - 161
U.S. Government Agency Bonds - 1,843 1,843
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds - 2,635 2,635
J.S. Corporate Bonds —- 2,322 2,322
$18,467 $6,800 $25,267
December 31,
Level 1 Level 2 2009
Cash and money market $ 815 $ - $ 815
Equity Securities:
U S. large-cap stocks 8,680 - 8,580
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 2,064 - 2,064
U,S. small-cap stock mutual funds 1,282 - 1,282
International stock mutual funds 2,328 - 2,328
Preferred stock 404 - 404
Fixed:
U.S. Government Agency Bonds - 2,139 2,139
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds - 2,282 2,282
U.S. Corporate Bonds — 2,376 2,376

$15,473  $6,797 $22,270

Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2010 are
as follows:

Years Ending

December 31 Amount
2011 $ 1,788
2012 2,115
2013 3,939
2014 1,787
2015 3,139
2016-2020 12,017

Total $24,785

Iin 2011, the Company expects to contribute $949 to its pension plan trusts




{b} Defined Contribution Plans - Big Rivers has two defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially
all employees who meet minimum age and service requirements. Each plan has a thrift and 401(k) savings
section allowing employees to contribute up to 75% of pay on a pre-tax and/or after-tax-basis, with employer
matching contributions equal to 60% of the first 6% contributed by the employee on a pre-tax basis.

A base contribution retirement section was added and the plan name changed from thrift and 401(k) savings to
retirement savings, effective January 1, 2008, for the salaried plan and November 1, 2008, for the bargaining
plan. The base contribution account is funded by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of
pay, depending on the employee's age.

The Company's expense under these plans was $4,389 and $355 for the years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009, respectively.

{c) Deferred Compensation Plan — Effective May 1, 2008, Big Rivers established a nonqualified deferred
compensation plan for its eligible employees who are members of a select group of management or highly
compensated employees. The purpose of the plan is to allow participants to receive contributions or make
deferrals that they could not receive or make under the salaried employees qualified defined contribution
retirement savings plan {formerly the thrift and 401(k) savings plan) as a result of nondiscrimination rules and
other limitations applicable to the qualified plan under the Internal Revenue Code. The nonqualified plan also
allows a participant to defer a percentage of his or her pay on a pre-tax basis

The nonqualified deferred compensation plan is unfunded, but the Company has chosen to finance its
obligations under the plan, including any employee deferrals, through a rabbi trust. The trust assets remain a
part of the Company’s general assets, subject to the claims of its creditors. The 2010 employer contribution was
$61 and deferred compensation expense was $108. As of December 31, 2010, the trust asset was $205 and
the deferred liability was $165.

10. RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS

The amortized costs and fair values of Big Rivers restricted investments held for member rate mitigation at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

2010 2009
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Costs Values Costs Values

Cash and money market $12,812 $12,812 $ 25,186 $ 25,186
Debt Securities:

U.S. Treasuries 60,941 62,582 67,895 67,474

U S Government Agency 143,809 143,922 150,144 150,181

Total $217,562 $219,316 $243,225 $242,841

Gross unrealized gains and losses on restricted investments at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows.

2010 2009
Gains Losses Gains Losses
Cash and money market $ - 3 - $ - $ -
Debt Securities:
U S Treasuries 1,641 - 12 434
U.S. Government Agency 331 217 79 11

Total $ 1,972 $ 217 $ 91 $ 475




Debt securities at December 31, 2010 and 2009 mature, according to their contractual terms, as follows (actual
maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights).

2010 2009
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Costs Values Costs Values
In one year or less $ 71,111 $ 71,193 $ 46,102 $ 46,112
After one year through five years 146,451 148,123 197,123 196,729
Total $217,562 $219,316 $243,225 $242,841

Gross unrealized losses on investments and the fair values of the related securities, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, were.

2010 2009

Less Than 12 Months Less Than 12 Months

Fair Fair

Losses Values Losses Values

Debt securities:

U.S. Treasuries $ - $ - $ 434 $ 59,872
U.S. Government Agency 217 15,783 41 45,026
Total 3 217 $ 15,783 $ 475 $104,898

The unrealized loss positions were primarily caused by interest rate fluctuations. The number of investments in an
unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was one and eight, respectively. Since the company
does not intend to sell and will more likely than not maintain each debt security until its anticipated recovery, and no
significant credit risk is deemed to exist, these investments are not considered other-than-temporarily impaired.

11. FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measures. It applies under other accounting standards
that require or permit fair value measurements and does not require any new fair value measurements.

The carrying value of accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short maturity.
At December 31, the Company's cash and cash equivalents included short-term investments in an institutional
money market government portfolio account classified as trading securities under ASC 320 that were recorded

at fair value which were determined using quoted market prices for identical assets without regard to valuation
adjustment or block discount (a Level 1 measure), as follows:

2010 2009

Institutional money market government portfolio $44,774 $59,887




12.

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within other deposits and investments
due to these being untraded companies.

Big Rivers' long-term debt at December 31, 2010 consists of RUS notes totaling $674,896, variable rate pollution
control bonds in the amount of $58,800, and fixed rate poliution control bonds in the amount of $83,300 (see

Note 5). The RUS debt cannot be traded in the market and, therefore, a value other than its outstanding principal
amount cannot be determined. The fair value of the Company's variable rate pollution control debt is par value, as
each variable rate reset effectively prices such debt to the current market. At December 31, 2010, the fair value of
Big Rivers’ fixed rate pollution control debt was determined based on quoted prices in active markets of identical
liabilities (Level 1 measure) and totaled $82,099

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. Generally,
except for generation bargaining retirees, Big Rivers pays 85% of the premium cost for all retirees age 62 to 65.

The Company pays 25% of the premiumn cost for spouses under age 62. For salaried retirees age 55 to age 62, Big
Rivers pays 26% of the premium cost. Beginning at age 65, the Company pays 25% of the premium cost if the
retiree is enrolled in Medicare Part B. For each generation bargaining retiree, Big Rivers establishes a retiree medical
account at retirement equal to $1,200 per year of service up to 30 years ($1,250 per year for those retiring on or
after January 1, 2012). The account balance is credited with interest based on the 10-year treasury rate subject to a
minimum of 4% and a maximum of 7% . The account is to be used for the sole purpose of paying the premium cost
for the retiree and spouse.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Medicare
Act) was enacted. The Medicare Act created Medicare Part D, a new prescription drug benefit that is available to all
Medicare-eligible individuals, effective January 1, 2006. National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA),
the provider of Big Rivers' health plan coverage through the NRECA Group Benefits Trust, chose to become a
Medicare Part D provider. Effective January 1, 2006, Part D coverage is the only drug coverage available to Big
Rivers' Medicare-eligible retirees

The discount rates used in computing the postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost were as
follows:

2010 2009 2008
Discount rate — projected benefit obligation 4.96% 578% 6.32%
Discount rate — net periodic benefit cost 5.78 6.32 585

The health care cost trend rate assumptions as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, were as follows:

2010 2009
Initial trend rate 7.60% 7.70%
Ultimate trend rate 4.50 4.50

Year ultimate trend is reached 2028 2028




A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

2010 2009
One-percentage-point decrease:
Effect on total service and interest cost components  $  (201) $ (i38)
Effect on year end benefit obligation (1,131) (989)
One-percentage-point increase:
Effect on total service and interest cost components 236 162
Effect on year end benefit obligation 1,306 1,134

A reconciliation of the Company's benefit obligations of its postretirement plan at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
follows:

2010 2009
Benefit obligation — beginning of period $ 13,864 $ 2,948
Service cost — benefits earned during the period 1,313 878
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 743 464
Transaction benefit obligation assumed in the unwind - 8,768
Participant contributions 85 48
Plan amendments - 175
Benefits paid (313) (203)
Actuarial loss 172 786
Benefit obligation — end of period $ 15,864 $13,864

A reconciliation of the Company's postretirement plan assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2009
Fair value of plan assets — beginning of period $ - $ -
Employer contributions 228 155
Participant contributions 85 48
Benefits paid (313) (203)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period $ - $ -

The funded status of the Company'’s postretirement plan at December 31, 2010 and 2008, follows:

2010 2009

Benefit obligation — end of period $(15,864) $(13,864)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period - -

Funded status $(15,864) $(13,864)




The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and
2008, were as follows:

2010 2008 2008

Service cost $1,313 $ 878 $ 129
Interest cost 743 464 167
Amortization of prior service cost 17 17 2

Amortization of actuarial (gain) - (17) (60)
Amortization of transition obligation 31 31 31
Net periodic benefit cost $2,104 $1,373 $ 269

A reconciliation of the postretirement plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31,
2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2008

Prior service cost $(147) $(165)
Unamortized actuarial gain 235 407
Transition obligation (62) (92)
Accumulated other comprehensive income $ 26 $ 150

In 2011, $18 of prior service cost, $0 of actuarial gain, and $31 of the transition obligation is expected to be
amortized to periodic benefit cost.

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income at December 31, 2010 and 2009, follows:

2010 2008
Prior service cost $ 18 $(157)
Unamortized actuarial gain (172) (803)
Transition obligation 30 30

Other comprehensive loss $(124) $(930)




At December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounts recognized in the statement of financial position were as follows:

2010 2009

Accounts payable $ (600) $ (424)
Deferred credits and other (15,264) (13,440)
Net amount recognized $(15,864) $(13,864)

Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2010 are as follows:

Year Amount
2011 $ 600
2012 813
2013 995
2014 1,201
2015 1,355
2016-2020 8,685

Total $13,649

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit plan
which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the extent
an employee's sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours such excess hours are paid at 20% of the employee’s
base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded for the postretirement sick
leave benefit is $391 and $375 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The postretirement expense recorded
was $21, $45, and $62 for 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, and the benefits paid were $5, $78, and $0 for 2010,
2009, and 2008, respectively.

13. RELATED PARTIES

For the years ended Decernber 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of $151,001,
$125,826, and $114,514, respectively. In addition, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, Big
Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Aluminum Smelters and Domtar Paper (formerly Weyerhaeuser) loads of
$281,473, $167,885, and $55,124, respectively.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $36,636 and $35,524,
respectively.

Revenue and offsetting expense amounts related to Big Rivers' energy services department reservation of the
Company's transmission {in accordance with its Open Access Transmission Tariff) for third party sales in 2010 and
2009, were $12,129, and $10,099, respectively.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Big Rivers is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the results of such litigation cannot
be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that the final outcome will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial statements.




Big Rivers

ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Our MIissiON:

BiIG RIVERS wiILL SAFELY DELIVER

DESIRED BY THE MEMBERS.




Our VISION:

Bic RIVERS WILL BE VIEWED AS ONE OF THE
IN THE COUNTRY

AND WILL
THE

IN MEETING FUTURE CHALLENGES




Our VALUES:

. ELECTRIC CORPORATION




FIVE-YEAR REVIEW Years Ended December 31 — (Dollars in thousands}

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS

Operating Revenue:
Power Contracts Revenue
Lease Revenue
Total Operating Revenue

Operating Expenses:
Fuel for Electric Generation
Power Purchased
Operations (Excluding Fuel), Maintenance, Other
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Interest Expense and Other:
Interest
Other — net
Total Interest Expense & Other

Operating Margin
Non-Operating Margin

NET MARGIN
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET

Total Utility Plant
Accumuited Depreciation
Net Utility Plant

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Reserve Account Investments'
Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Equities {deficit)

Long-term Debt?

Regulatory Liability - Member Rate Mitigation
Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

ENERGY SALES - MWhs
Member Rural
Member Large Industrial
Smelter Contracts
Other
Total Energy Sales

SOURCES OF ENERGY - MWhs
Generated
Purchased
Losses and Net Interchange
Total Energy Available

NET CAPACITY - MWSs
Net Generating Capacity Owned
Rights to HMP&L Station Two
Other Net Capacity Available

'Includes investment income receivable
’Includes current maturities of long-term obligations

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
$527,324 $341,333 $214,758 $271,605 $200,692
- 32,027 58,423 58,265 57,896
527,324 373,360 273,181 329,870 258,588
207,749 80,655 - - -
98,421 116,883 114,643 169,768 114,516
134,660 87,645 32,858 31,436 25,336
34,242 32,485 31,041 30,632 30,408
476,072 317,668 178,542 231,836 170,260
46,570 59,898 72,710 70,851 70,259
425 3.309 6,868 103 111
46,985 63,207 79,578 70,954 70,370
4,257 (7,615) 15,061 27,080 17,958
2,734 538,845 12,765 20,097 16,584
$6.991 $5631,330 $27.816 $47,177 $34.642
$2,001,0867 $1,886,373 $1,791,772 $1,764,924 $1,744,315
909,501 908,098 879.073 853.290 826,647
1,091,666 1,078,274 912,699 911,634 917,668
44,780 60,280 38,803 148,914 96,143
218,955 244,641 - - -
116884 122,278 122,834 253,610 240,578
$1,472,185 $1.505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158 $1,254,389
$386,575 $ 379,392 $ (154,602) $(174,137) $(217,371)
816,996 848,552 987,349 1,022,345 1,041,075
185,893 207,348 - - -
82,721 70,191 241,689 465,950 430,685
$1.472.185 $1,505.483 $1,074.436 $1.314,158 $1,254,389
2,481,390 2,239,445 2,386,916 2,406,446 2,231,554
930,168 919,687 925,793 921,359 956,502
6,348,431 2,885,491 - - -
2,209,431 1,746,438 1,844,677 2,835,789 2,062,286
11,968,420 7,790,961 5.157.386 6,163,594 5,250,342
9,895,612 3,715,544 - - -
2,220,994 4,166,916 5,211,789 6,213,682 5,294,138
(147,086) {91,499) (54,403} (50,088) (43.796)
11,969,420 7,790,961 5,157,386 6,163,694 5,260,342
1,444 1,444 1,458 1,459 1,459
207 212 217 217 217
178 178 178 178 178
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ELECTRIC CORPORATION

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

201 Third Street {42420) phone 270.827.2561
PO Box 24 (42419-0024) fax 270.827.25568
Henderson, KY www,bigrivers.com



http://www.bigrivers.com
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Our Mission Our Values

Big Rivers will safely deliver low cost, » Teamwork
reliable wholesale power and cost-effective

shared services desired by the Members. + Integrity
- Excellence
Our Vision . Safety

Big Rivers will be viewed as one of the
top G&Ts in the country and will provide
services the Members desire in meeting . Environmental Consciousness
future challenges.

+ Member and Community Service

- Respect for the Employee

Financial Highlights

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, 2007, 2006, and 2005 —~ (Dollars in thousands)

Margins 531,330 27816 47177 34,542 26,343
Equity 379,392 (154,602) (174,137) {217,371} {251,913)
Capital Expenditures* 58,388 22,760 18,682 13,189 12,904
Cash & Investment Balance 60,290 38,903 148,914 96,143 67264
Times Interest Earned Ratio 9.86 1.37 1.64 1.47 1.37
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.44 117 2.04 1.86 1.79
Cost of Debt 6.33% 6.33% 5.76% 5.83% 5.57%
Cost of Capital 8.39% 8.33% 775% 782% 7.58%
* Big Rivers’ share only
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About the Big Rivers System

Big Rivers Electric Corporation is a member
owned, not-forprofit, generation and transmission
cooperative (G&T). We provide wholesale

electric power and services to three distribution
cooperative members across 22 counties in
western Kentucky.

The member cooperatives are Jackson Purchase
Energy Corporation, headquartered in Paducah;
Kenergy Corp., headquartered in Henderson;
and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation, headquartered in Brandenburg.
Together, they distribute retail electric power
and provide other services to more than 111,000
homes, farms, businesses and industries.

Incorporated in June of 1961, the mission of

Big Rivers is to safely deliver low cost, reliable
wholesale power and cost-effective shared
services desired by the members. Business
operations revolve around seven core values:
teamwork, integrity, excellence, safety, member
and community service, environmental
consciousness, and respect for the employee.

With headquarters in Henderson, Big Rivers
owns and operates 1,444 megawatts (MW) of
generating capacity in four stations,

Kenneth C. Coleman 443 MW Hawesville, Ky.
Robert A. Reid 130 MW  Robards, Ky.
Robert D. Green 454 MW Robards, Ky.

D. B. Wilson 417 MW  Centertown, Ky.
Owned Generation 1,444 MW

Total generation available is 1,834 MW, including
rights to Henderson Municipal Power and Light
{("HMP&L") Station Two and contracted capacity
from Southeastern Power Administration
{("SEPA").

Owned Generation 1,444 MW
HMP&L Station Two 212 MW
SEPA 178 MW
Total Generation 1,834 MW

Blglﬁ@%

8. Wilson Station




High voltage electric power is delivered to the
member cooperatives over a system of 1,262
miles of transmission lines and 80 substations
owned by Big Rivers or the distribution members.
Twenty-two interconnects link our system with
seven surrounding utilities.

Big Rivers is led by an experienced management
team and is governed by a sixmember

board of directors. The board is comprised of
two representatives from each distribution
cooperative. We employ approximately 600
people at seven locations in Kentucky, who
actively contribute to the communities we serve.

Constantly focused on the needs and local
priorities of the member cooperatives, Big Rivers
provides assistance in areas such as information
technology, mapping and planning, safety
programs and training, economic development,
education and customer support services.

As long-standing members of Touchstone
Energy®, Big Rivers and the member
cooperatives pledge to serve western Kentucky
with integrity, accountability, innovation and a
commitment to community. Keeping the cost of
electricity low and the reliability high has always
been a priority.
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Member Cooperatives

Kelly Nuckols, President & CEO
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Sandy Novick, President & CEO
Kenergy Corp

Burns Mercer, President & CEO
Meade County RECC

JACKSON PURCHASE ENERGY CORPORATION

(270} 442-7321
www.JPEnergy.com

Serves: Ballard, Carlisle, Graves, Livingston, Marshall and McCracken
Headquartered. Paducah, KY
Number of meters: 29,147

Miles of line: 2,901

KENERGY CORP.

(800) 844-4832
www.kenérgycorp.com

Serves: Breckinridge, Caldwell, Crittenden, Daviess, Hancock, Henderson,
Hopkins, Livingston, Lyon, McLean, Muhlenberg, Ohio, Union and Webster

Headquartered: Henderson, KY
Number of meters: 54,844
Miles of line: 7009

MEADE COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC

COOPERATIVE CORPORATION '

Meade County RECC
(270) 422-2162 e
WWW.MCrece.coop Your Touchstone Enesgy” Couperative )gE;

Serves: Breckinridge, Grayson, Hancock, Hardin, Meade and Ohio
Headquartered Brandenburg, KY

Number of meters 28,005

Miles of line: 2,978



http://kenergycorp.com

Board of Directors

Back row (left to right):

Dr. James Sills, Vice-Chair
Meade County RECC

Wayne Elliott
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

William Denton, Chair
Kenergy Corp.

Front row (left to right).

Lee Bearden, Secretary-Treasurer
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Paul Edd Butler
Meade County RECC

Larry Elder
Kenergy Corp.

Management Team

Back row {left to right):

Albert Yockey, V.P. Governmental Relations &
Enterprise Risk Management

David Crockett, V.P. System Operations

Paula Mitchell, Executive Assistant

Jennifer Keach, Community Relations Manager
James Miller, Corporate Counsel

James Haner, V.P. Administrative Services

Front row {left to right);
Robert Berry, V.P. Production

C. William Blackburn, Senior V.P. Financial &
Energy Services & Chief Financial Officer

Mark Bailey, President & CEO
Mark Hite, VP Accounting




We will remember 2009 as one of important
achievement for Big Rivers and our member
cooperatives—Jackson Purchase Energy
Corporation, Kenergy Corp., and Meade County
RECC. It was a year of challenge and celebration
as many obstacles were overcome to reinvent
ourselves as a financially strong electric generation
and transmission cooperative.

Following years of work and intense negotiations,
the much anticipated Unwind came to fruition in
July of 2009. As a result of the lease termination
agreement with £.ON U.S., Big Rivers’ equities to
total capitalization improved to 31 percent as of
December 31, 2009, the strongest in the history
of the company.

While the positive financial impact to our business
was an important element of the Unwind, we had
the task of resuming operation and maintenance
responsibility for our generating stations as

well as integrating employees, systems, and
processes. Our strategic plan was developed to

Message from the Board Chair and CEO

address those challenges. Big Rivers’ corporate
values will remain at the forefront as the company
fulfills its mission to safely deliver low cost,
reliable wholesale power and cost-effective
shared services desired by our members. These
values—teamwork, integrity, excellence, safety,
member and community service, environmental
consciousness, and respect for the employee—
are the basis for much of the remainder of this
report. Beyond our business strategy, Big Rivers
will continue to thrive because of our culture,
values and the dedication of our employees.

Itis a new day at Big Rivers. We are proud to be
part of this new company and look forward to
serving our members and our communities in
2010 and beyond.

Vool s a7k

William Denton Mark A. Bailey W\
Chair, Board of Directors President and CEO




Year in Review: 2009

%

It's a new day at Big Rivers Electric Corporation, and we are
looking forward with confidence and optimism. The increasing
impact of government regulation, renewable energy, and
increased power demand are all on the horizon. We are laying
a foundation today, so we can continue to provide reliable,

affordable electricity well into the future.




The Unwind

The Unwind was the term used for the
transaction that ended the agreements under

which E.ON U.S. subsidiary Western Kentucky
Energy Corp. ("WKEC") had been operating the

generating stations owned by Big Rivers,

Those agreements, originally signed in 1998,
were set to run through 2023. However, both

companies had been working for several years
to “unwind” the arrangement. The transaction
went through a meticulous review process
and was completed in July 2009—after
careful study by the Kentucky Public Service
Commission, Big Rivers' creditors, member
cooperatives, Henderson Municipal Power &
Light and others.

Teamuwork

To proactively enhance Big Rivers' reputation
and build trust with members and other key
stakeholders, we must maintain a well-trained,
engaged workforce dedicated to the success
of the member cooperatives. In the past year,

teamwork has been a fundamental building block

in our organizational transition.

When the Unwind transaction was completed,
and the generating stations returned to Big
Rivers' operational control, there was still much
to be accomplished. Bringing systems, policies,
procedures and employees together required

organizational planning and a strong commitment

to work together.

Some 488 employees of WKEC, many of
whom worked for Big Rivers prior to the 1998
lease agreement, came back under the Big
Rivers umbrella, many with new jobs and new
responsibilities.

The transition went smoothly, and Big Rivers
emerged as a financially strong electric
generation and transmission cooperative.
Immediate rate hikes were avoided that would
have been otherwise necessary, and Big
Rivers and the member cooperatives can now
participate more competitively in economic
development efforts throughout the western
Kentucky region.




In addition to returning operation of the
generating stations back to Big Rivers, the
complex transaction included new long-term
power contracts with Century Aluminum and Rio
Tinto Alcan aluminum smelters.

The smelters’ power contracts with sources
outside of Big Rivers were set to expire in
2010/2011, leaving them with no long-term
source of affordable energy. Without the closing
of the Unwind transaction, the cost of power to
the smelters would have likely risen to market
rates, which could have potentially driven them

out of business causing a loss of 1,200 local jobs.

Instead, long-term smelter contracts were tied
to the successful closing of the Unwind. To
help retain those jobs, Big Rivers and Kenergy
Corp. now provide power to the smelters at
affordable rates.

To efficiently manage the growing business,
stabilize costs and provide better service, Big
Rivers signed an eight-year contract with EDS,
an HP Enterprise Services company, in 2009.
EDS is installing Oracle software to improve
the performance, quality and reliability of
computer applications, and will also manage
Big Rivers’ workplace devices for approximately
600 employees, including PCs, notebooks and
handheld devices.

The use of Oracle software affects all
departments at Big Rivers, and successful
implementation requires teamwork. However,
the benefits will be many, including simplified
business processes, consolidated records, lower
maintenance costs, online tracking, reduced
paper flow and streamlined approval processes.
We will have this new Oracle Business Suite
installed and operating by fall 2010




Integrity

In today’s marketplace, more than ever,
transparency is critical to the procurement
process. After Big Rivers regained operational
control of our power generating facilities, it was
important to find the best price to meet solid fuel
requirements, while at the same time optimizing
portfolio options.

For the first time in 12 years, Big Rivers went
into the open market to procure solid fuel. Risk
management is a vital factor in procurement.
Processes and policies were designed to ensure
cross-departmental participation, oversight,
evaluation, review and concurrence of action.

Big Rivers’ internal risk management committee,
comprised of senior management, instituted
solid fuel transaction authorization and hedge
policies. Each month, this committee and the
board of directors review and assess the solid
fuel supply portfolio and inventory relative to the
generation forecast to meet member load and
marketplace opportunities.

Enterprise risk management strengthens
corporate integrity, while enhancing corporate
decision making. Big Rivers periodically reviews
and updates policies and key performance
indicators throughout the organization.




Excellence

As a generation and transmission cooperative,

it is our job to safely provide members with
reliable, affordable electricity, To do this, we must
proactively manage our assets and business
growth to benefit all members and their member
consumers.

One measure of excellence in the electric
industry is reliability. Big Rivers' Equivalent
Forced Qutage Rate, the percentage of time

a generating unit is off-line unexpectedly, was
3.7 percent for 2009. This is better than the
North American Electric Reliability Corporation
{"NERC") industry average for comparable units,
which is 6.9 percent.

To improve reliability at our D. B. Wilson facility,
the station underwent the largest and most

expensive planned maintenance outage in

the history of the company, at a total cost of
approximately $36 million. At the peak of the
planned outage, more than 850 contract workers
were on site and worked 413,026 hours. Big
Rivers employees worked 108,444 hours during
this outage with no recordable safety incidents.

Excellence means going above and beyond, even
in times of disaster. In late January 2009, an

ice storm described as Kentucky's “worst-ever
natural disaster” struck with such breadth and
force that all but two of the state's 24 electric
cooperatives reported damage from the storm.

The storm rendered many roads impassable
because of downed trees and, in some cases,
downed utility lines. Big Rivers employees







worked tirelessly in adverse conditions to restore
the transmission system from the effects of

the ice storm. Through teamwork and help

from member cooperatives and contractors,

all transmission service was restored in
approximately eight days.

Reliability also depends on maintenance. [n
maintaining the Big Rivers system, especially
substation equipment and transmission lines,
we work to minimize outage risks. As part of

an ongoing maintenance program, transmission
employees inspected and treated 4,220 poles
and replaced 125. They treated 367 miles of right-
of-way land with herbicide and performed a full-
width cut on 108 miles. Employees also tested
29 circuit breakers and 24 transformers, as well
as 72 substation and transmission line switches.
An aerial inspection of our fransmission system
was completed four times.

Several construction projects were also completed
in 2009. Upgrades were made to secondary
containment at the Hardinsburg and Meade
County substations, in accordance with the

Spill, Prevention, Control, and Countermeasure
rule from the EPA. Two transmission lines

were relocated at the request of the Kentucky
Department of Transportation, and a 69kV line and

terminal were added in McCracken County.

Utilities must maintain contingency reserve to
meet compliance requirements of NERC and

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
("FERC"). Big Rivers had met the reserve
requirement through membership in the Midwest
Contingency Reserve Sharing Group. This group,
composed of Midwest Independent System
Operator ("Midwest ISO") members and eleven
other utilities, dissolved at the end of 2009, and
Big Rivers needed to find an alternative.

In December 2009, Big Rivers agreed to

pursue integration with the Midwest ISO as a
transmission-owning member. The Midwest 1SO
has agreed to provide all required contingency
reserve during the integration process. Big Rivers
continues to actively evaluate other options.

In order to ensure the future integrity of power
supply, the framework for tomorrow has to

be designed today. That is why preparation is
underway for a new integrated resource plan,
which defines how we will meet the future
energy needs of the member cooperatives. This
includes evaluation of demand control, energy
efficiency and energy conservation, as well as
generation and transmission capital projects.




Safety

Safety is a way of life; therefore, no operating
condition or urgency of service can ever justity
putting employees or the public in harm'’s way.
When the workday is over, we want every
employee to return home in as good a condition
as he or she arrived.

To ensure Big Rivers' safety goals are met, we
developed a new comprehensive program that
includes revised policy guidelines and emergency

action plans and procedures. In addition, the
program provides a process for reviewing the
safety credentials of Big Rivers' contractors.

Safety practices benefit our collective well-
being and financial strength. Employee injuries
cause countless hours of pain and impact the
organization's efficiency. By investing in safety
training, we will save money by minimizing
time lost to injury and reduce the company's
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Incident Rate = # of incidents x 200.000 / # of hours worked

liability. The morale gained by employees as a
result of training is another bonus that cannot be
measured in dollars and cents.

To measure the effectiveness of our safety
practices, our program includes the use of key
performance indicators, goals and milestones,
which quantify our progress.

The Kenneth C. Coleman Station in Hawesville
is a shining example of how Big Rivers meets
its safety goals. In January 2009, Coleman

Incident Rate = # of incidents x 200,000 / # of hours worked

3.0

employees completed three years without a lost-
time injury, and by the end of the year, posted an
impressive 1,449 days with no lost-time injuries.
During 2009, the Coleman Station received its
eighth Governor's Safety Award for working
750,000 hours without a lost-time injury.

As Big Rivers continues to grow, our safety
practices will evolve. We will continue to evaluate
our safety initiatives and update them yearly. We
do this because we believe that no matter where
we stand, there is always room for improvement.




Big Rivers exists to serve three distribution
cooperative members and their member

industries.

audits, power factor correction, operational
assessments and on-site education for

energy efficiency initiatives for member-

additional youth outreach. Communication

site development.

members' information technology support,

development and maintenance in the areas

consumers. One way we do this is by assisting
with the members’ safety programs—ranging
from topics such as OSHA required training to
defensive driving programs through the National
Safety Council. In addition, we provide public
safety training for schools, fire departments and

We also provide energy audits, power quality
commercial and industrial memberconsumers.
Other programs offered by Big Rivers include
consumers, a sports role model program and
services include education, bill inserts, economic
development, market research, training and web

Big Rivers provides a significant portion of the

both hardware and software, including program

Member and Community Service

of accounting and customer information.

We support a geospatial information system
and digital microwave system for the shared
benefit of our operation and that of the
member cooperatives. We continue to pursue
development of a shared two-way radio
communication system with some mobile data
transfer capabllities.

By sharing governmental relations outreach with
East Kentucky Power Cooperative and Kentucky
Association of Electric Cooperatives, we have
been able to establish effective procedures for
monitoring legislative bills of interest to Big
Rivers and the members.

We take pride in our reputation as an outstanding
corporate citizen and contribute to many
worthwhile organizations throughout the
communities we serve. Employee involvement

is key to our success as a community leader. Big
Rivers employees volunteer countless hours to
nonprofit and civic organizations where we work
and live. Last year, our employees participated in
a number of community fundraisers and efforts,
including the March for Babies, Relay for Life,




Habitat for Humanity, chambers of commerce,
food banks and blood drives.

The generosity of employees was most evident
during the 2009 record-breaking United Way
campaign. Big Rivers posted its largest employee
contribution ever, donating nearly $150,000 to the
cause. Working together, Big Rivers employees
at Sebree Station (comprised of Robert A. Reid,

Robert D. Green and HMP&L Station Two)
achieved an 80 percent employee participation
rate in the United Way campaign. More than 50
percent of Sebree Station employees contributed
one hour of pay per month.

This outpouring of support is an example of Big
Rivers exermplifying the cooperative principle of
"concern for community.”




Respect for the land, its inhabitants and its
natural resources is important to Big Rivers. After
all, we are named after the peaceful rivers that
flow through our region.

The Promoting Our Wildlife & Energy Resources
(POWER) program improves wildlife habitat

and also helps control maintenance costs for
transmission line corridors. The program involves
offering free technical assistance and payments
to landowners who complete pre-approved
wildlife habitat practices in utility rights-of-way
areas. In turn, these practices reduce utilities’
need to manage vegstation. This program,
conducted in partnership with the Kentucky

Environmenial Consciousness

Department of Fish and Wildlife Resources, is
being tested as a pilot project in designated areas
of the Big Rivers system

The central laboratory located in Henderson,

and the laboratories located at each generating
station, excelled in annual evaluations conducted
by Environmental Resource Associates. Each year,
the industry-leading group provides unknown
samples for laboratories to evaluate as a condition
of the Kentucky Pollutant Discharge Elimination
Systemn permits. Test reports are sent to state and
federal environmental protection agencies for their
review. All Big Rivers laboratories scored excellent
marks on all samples tested.




Respect For The Employee

Big Rivers' success depends on the well-being
of our employees. By keeping everyone safe and
focused, we improve company morale and instill
confidence in our mission,

To ensure smooth management transitions
through the future, we continue to refine our
succession plan. identifying and developing
talent will help meet current and future staffing
needs as our workforce ages.

Since the Unwind, we have improved our
communication efforts through several avenues.
To reflect a changing corporate culture,

BigRivers
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we involved employees in revamping our
employee newsletter and intranet home page,
which provides them a vested interest in the
communication process. Timely updates are
sent throughout the company, keeping internal
stakeholders informed of events and items of
interest affecting Big Rivers.

Corporate-wide employee meetings are held on a
regular basis to provide two-way communication
between employees and senior management on
key areas, such as our strategic and safety plans.
This open communication is essential to the
success of our changing organization.

The completion of the Unwind was undoubtedly the major milestone

of 2009, and the advantages gained by the transaction have left us in

a stronger financial position than ever before. Though it took years to

complete, the difference was felt overnight. We are prepared to use our

resources and skills to adapt, innovate and serve as a model for excellence.

As the world changes, Big Rivers looks forward to tomorrow and beyond.




Financial Review: 2009

After several years of activity, 2009 was the year

of "unwinding” the 1998 agreements with certain
subsidiaries of E.ON U.S.—including the lease and
operating agreement whereby Western Kentucky
Energy Corp. {"WKEC"}) operated Big Rivers' owned
generating stations and HMP&L Station Two, and

a power purchase agreement under which Big
Rivers purchased the majority of its power needs
from Louisville Gas and Electric Energy Marketing
{"LEM").

Following conditional approval by the Kentucky
Public Service Commission {"KPSC") on March 6,
2009, the Unwind transaction became effective at
midnight on July 16, 2009. As a result, Big Rivers
recorded a $538.0 million Unwind gain in the 2009
Statement of Operations for agreeing to terminate
early the 1998 agreements, which were originally set
to expire in 2023.

2000} $10.4
2001| $16.8
$10.1
$18.3
$22.0
$26.3
$34.5
$47.2
$27.8

Netl Margins
Dollars in millions

2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

$531.3
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2000 $(345.5) Equiity (deficit)
2001 $(328.7) Dollars in millions

2002 $(319.0)

2003 ${300.3)

2004 $(278.3)

2005 $(251.9)

2006 $(217.4)

2007 $(174.1)

2008 $(154.6)

2009 \ 53794

L L
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Net Margins and Equities

While the Unwind gain reported in the 2009
Statement of Operations was $538.0 million, an
additional #2179 mitlion was reflected only in the
Balance Sheet. This $217.9 million was deposited
into two reserve accounts—the economic reserve
and the rural economic reserve—io be used for
member rate mitigation. These reserve accounts will
serve to offset future non-smelter member fuel and
environmental costs.

At close of the Unwind, Big Rivers resumed
operation of its 1,444 MW owned generation and the
312 MW HMP&L Station Two. Big Rivers currently
has rights to 212 MW of HMP&L Station Two that is
surplus to the needs of Henderson Municipal Power
& Light. Big Rivers also assumed the power supply
obligation for Kenergy's two large aluminum smelter
loads, whose full capacity is 850 MW, however,

due to economic conditions, one of the smelters
currently has one of their pot lines shut down.

Primarily due to the Unwind in 2008, net margins
were *531.3 million versus *27.8 million in 2008—
resulting in a dramatic improvement in Big Rivers’




financial condition, with year end 2009 equities of
$379.4 million and 25.2 percent equities to total assets.

See Note #2 on page 32 for a table that summarizes
the $538.0 million Unwind gain shown in the
Statement of Operations. The Unwind makes
comparability of 2009 net margins to prior years
difficult. The key differences between 2009 and 2008
are briefly described in the following paragraph.

There are five significant items comprising the 2009
net margins variance versus 2008, which are tied to
events that occured with the close of the Unwind
transaction. First, power contracts revenue increased
$126.6 million—primarily due to the increase in
smelter power supply obligation that became
effective with the Unwind-—offset by an $83.2 million
increase in variable power supply cost. Second,
lease revenue was down ¥26.4 miliion, as it stopped
accruing in July 2009 when the 1998 agreements
terminated. Third, fixed operations and maintenance
expenses increased *58.8 million—primarily because
Big Rivers now funds the operation of its generating
stations and its cost-share of HMP&L Station

Two. Fourth, interest expense decreased *12.8
million—due to termination of the sale-leaseback
that occurred during 2008 and the pay down of
$140.2 million Rural Utilities Service ("RUS") debt

on the Unwind closing date. Fifth, interest income
decreased $11.9 million—due to termination of the
sale-leaseback and lower interest rates. All other
Statement of Operations items net to a 6.4 million
favorable variance.

Electric Revenues

As a result of the Unwind, MWh sales increased to
7.8 million in 2009, up from 5.2 million MWh in 2008,
and will increase significantly post-Unwind, when a
full year of Unwind operations is reflected. The key
difference for 2009 is the 2.9 million MWh sold to
the smelters under their new contracts during the
last 5.5 months, resulting in #133.4 million revenue.

Principally due to mild weather and a depressed
economy, non-smeliter member sales declined
163,677 MWh, or 4,64 percent, in 2009 from 2008.
The mild weather resulted in unusually low load
factors for the non-smelter member load, serving
to increase the revenue per kWh sold. An element
of the Unwind, noted earlier, is the use of certain
Unwind proceeds, termed the economic reserve,
to offset the prospective non-smelter member rate
impact of fuel and environmental cost. That rate
impact, reduced by the Unwind rate benefit, while
reflected in revenue, is being withdrawn from the
economic reserve rather than being invoiced to
the non-smelter members. Overall, non-smelter
member revenue increased *11.3 million or 9.88
percent from 2008.

Also, due to the mild weather and economy, the sale
of Big Rivers’ surplus energy, above the needs of the
members, was down 98,238 MWh, or 5.33 percent,
versus 2008. In addition to decline in volume, the
surplus energy rate per MWh sold was 20.77 percent
lower than in 2008. These two factors combined

1o cause this category of electric sales revenue to
decline 24.99 percent.
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Wholesale Rates

Big Rivers' non-smelter member wholesale rates
remain among the lowest in the nation. As Big
Rivers' wholesale member rates have both a demand
and an energy component, an individual member’s
rate is a function of its load factor. The mild weather
and economy experienced during 2009 resulted in an
average monthly rural load factor of 60.82 percent.
Similarly, the average monthly large industrial load
factor for 2009 was 74.10 percent. The rural rate

per MWh sold and invoiced to the members in

2009 was 3700, versus 535.90 in 2008. The large
industrial rate in 2009 was $32.48, versus *31.12 in
2008. In comparing the 2009 rates to the 2008 rates,
also note that—in addition to the lower load factor
experienced in 2009—the 3.3 percent member

rate discount adjustment, associated with the sale-
leaseback, was terminated August 31, 2008. Big
Rivers’ all-requirements wholesale power contracts
with the members were extended during 2009 and
now terminate December 31, 2043. The new smelter
wholesale power contracts with Kenergy terminate
December 31, 2023. Big Rivers' wholesale member
tariff rates are regulated by the KPSC.

Due to certain contractual provisions of the new
smelter contracts that became effective July 16,
2009, Big Rivers’ wholesale rate to Kenergy for

its two large aluminum smelter loads—together
comprising 850 MW at a 98 percent load factor when
at full capacity—averaged $46.22 per MWh.

As noted earlier, Big Rivers markets its available
capacity and energy—surplus to the needs of the
members—ito non-member utilities. Big Rivers is a
memberowner of ACES Power Marketing and utilizes
its services to market surplus power. During 2008,
the continuing downturn in the economy that began
in 2008, the drop in the price of natural gas, and a
further decline in the wholesale power market, both
volume and price, combined to adversely impact
these other sales of electricity. Big Rivers sold its
surplus capacity and energy at an average rate of
$38.66 per MWh in 2009, versus %48.79 in 2008.
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Deloitte & Touche LLP
111 S. Wacker Drive
Chicago, 1L 60606:4301
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Tel: +1 312 486 1000
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
Big Rivers Electric Corporation.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation {the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related statements of operations, equities (deficit), and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 26, 2010,
on our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements

and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with
this report in considering the results of our audit.

Del AZ £ T oudderer

March 26, 2010

tember of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu




Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008 — {Dollars in thousands)

Assels 2009 2008
UTILITY PLANT - Net $ 1,078,274 $ 912,699
RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS — Member rate mitigation 243,225 -
OTHER DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - At cost 5,342 4,693
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 60,290 . 38,903
Accounts receivable 47493 20,464

Fuel inventory 37830 -
Non-fuel inventory 20,412 756
Prepaid expenses 3,233 450
Total current assets 169,258 60,573
DEFERRED LOSS FROMTERMINATION OF SALE-LEASEBACK - 76,001
DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER 9,384 20,470
TOTAL $ 1,505,483 $ 1,074,436

Equities (Deficit) and Liabilities

CAPITALIZATION.:
Equities (deficit) $ 379,392 $ {154,602)
Long-term debt 834,367 987349
Total capitalization 1,213,759 832,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current maturities of long-term obligations 14,185 51,771
Purchased power payable 3,362 9,336
Accounts payable 30,857 5,832
Accrued expenses 9,864 3,134
Accrued interest 9,097 8,018
Total current liabilities 67,165 78,091

DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER:

Deferred lease revenue - 10,955
Residual value payments obligation - 145,145
Regulatory liabilities — Member rate mitigation 207348 -
Other } 17,211 7,498
Total deferred credits and other 224,559 163,698

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (see note 14)

TOTAL $ 1,505,483 $ 1,074,436

See notes to financial statements.




Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 — (Dollars in thousands)

POWER CONTRACTS REVENUE
LEASE REVENUE

Total operating revenue

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Operations:
Fuel for electric generation
Power purchased and interchanged
Production, excluding fuel
Transmission and other

Maintenance

Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses
ELECTRIC OPERATING MARGIN

INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER:
Interest
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease
Amortization of loss from termination of long-term lease
income tax expense
Other - net

Total interest expense and other
OPERATING MARGIN

NON-OPERATING MARGIN:

Interest income on restricted investments under
long-term lease

Gain on Unwind transaction (see Note 2)
Interest income and other

Total non-operating margin

NET MARGIN

2009 2008 2007
$ 341,333 $214,758 $ 271,605
32,027 58,423 58,265
373,360 273,181 329,870
80,655 - -
116,883 114,643 169,768
22,381 - -
35,444 28,600 27196
29,820 4,258 4,240
32,485 31,041 30,632
317,668 178,642 231,836
55,692 94,639 98,034
59,898 65,719 60,932
- 6,991 9,919
2,172 811 -
1,026 5,934 -
112 123 103
63,207 79,578 70,954
(7515) 15,061 27,080
- 8,742 12,481
537978 - -
867 4,013 7616
538,845 12,7565 20,097
$ 531,330 $ 27816 $ 472177




Statements of Equities (Deficit)

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 — {Dollars in thousands}

BALANCE - December 31, 2006
Net margiry/ total comprehensive income

FAS 158 adoption

BALANCE — December 31, 2007

Comprehensive income:
Net margin
FAS 158 funded status adjustment

Total comprehensive income

BALANCE — December 31, 2008

Comprehensive income:

Net margin
FAS 158 funded status adjustment

Total comprehensive income

BALANCE — December 31, 2009

See notes to financial statements.

Other Equities

Consumers’ Accumuiated
Total Accumulated Donated  Contributions Other
Equities Margin Capital and toDebt Comprehensive
(Deficit) (Deficitj  Memberships  Service Income
$ (217377) $ (221,816) $ 764 $ 3,681 3 -
47177 47177 - - -
(3,943) - ~- - (3,943)
{174,137) (174,639} 764 3,681 (3,943)
27816 27816 - - -
(8,281) (8,281)
19,635
(154,602) (146,823) 764 3,681 (12,224)
531,330 531,330 - - -
2,664 2,664
533,994
$ 379,392 $ 384,507 $ 764 $ 3,681 $ (9,560}




Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 — (Dolfars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net margin
Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Increase in restricted investments under long-term lease
Decrease in deferred AMT Income Taxes
Amortization of deferred loss (gain) on sale-leaseback — net
Deferred lease revenue
Residual value payments obligation gain
Increase in RUS Series B Note
Increase in RUS Series A Note
Increase in obligations under long-term lease
Noncash gain on Unwind transaction
Cash received for Member Rate Mitigation
Noncash Member Rate Mitigation revenue
Changes in certain assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Deferred charges
Purchased power payable
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other - net

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from disposition of investments related to sale-leaseback
Proceeds from restricted investments
Purchases of restricted investments and other deposits & investments

Net cash provided by {used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on fong-term obligations
Principal payments on short-term notes payable
Payments upon termination of sale-leaseback
Debt issuance cost on bond refunding

Net cash used in financing activities

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes
Se

o finar

2009 2008 2007
$ 531,330 $ 27816 $ 47177
37084 34,320 33,866
- (2,502) (6,242)
- 5,035 -
2,172 (1,187) (2,900)
(3,768) (4,582) (1,779)
(3,881) (6,748) (6,591)
6,136 5,841 5,572
- - 15,761
- 2,749 6,580
(269,441) - -
217,856 - -
{12,033) - -
(26,049) 6,218 (8,934)
(3,497) 12 43
(2,783) (319) 3,477
(1,538) 1,871 (2,429)
(5,973) (3,702) 3,818
24,825 899 1,566
7,881 327 1,033
6,852 (4,940) (5,465)
505,173 61,108 84,553
(58,388) (22,760) (18,682)
- 222,739 -
8,982 - -
(252,798) (401) (424)
(302,204) 199,578 (19,106)
(168,956) (40,838) (12,676)
(12,380) - -
- (329,859) -
(246) - -
(181,582) (370,697) (12,676)
21,387 (110,011 52,771
38,903 148,914 96,143
$ 60,290 $ 38903 $ 148,914
$ 51,078 $ 74819 $ 45600
$ 626 $ 1220 $ 420




Notes to Financial Statements

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 — {Dollars in thousands)

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General Information — Big Rivers Electric Corporation {"Big Rivers” or the "Company”}, an electric generation and
transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution cooperatives (Kenergy Corp.,
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation) under all
requirements contracts, excluding the power needs of two large aluminum smelters {the "Aluminum Smeiters”).
Additionally, Big Rivers sells power under separate contracts to Kenergy Corp. for the Aluminum Smelters load

and markets power to nonmember utilities and power marketers. The members provide electric power and energy
to industrial, residential, and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. The
wholesale power contracts with the members remain in effect until December 31, 2043. Rates to Big Rivers’
members are established by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) and are subject to approval by the
Rural Utilities Service (RUS). The financial statements of Big Rivers inciude the provisions of FASB ASC 980, Certain
Types of Regulation, which was adopted by the Company in 2003, and gives recognition to the ratemaking and
accounting practices of the KPSC and RUS.

In 1999, Big Rivers Leasing Corporation {BRLC) was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of Big Rivers. BR{L.C's
principal assets were the restricted investments acquired in connection with the 2000 sale-leaseback transaction
discussed in Note 4. The sale-leaseback transaction was terminated on September 30, 2008 and BRLC was
dissolved on July 16, 2009, in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction.

Principles of Consolidation — The financial statements of Big Rivers include the accounts of Big Rivers and its
wholly owned subsidiary, BRLC. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Estimates — The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The
estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based upon management's
evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the financial statements. Actual results may
differ from those estimates.

System of Accounts — Big Rivers' maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System

of Accounts as prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies
retain authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Adjustments to RUS
accounting have been made to make the financial statements consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America.

Revenue Recognition — Revenues generated from the Company's wholesale power contracts are based on
month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned. Prior to its termination, in accordance with FASB ASC 840,
Leases, Big Rivers' revenue from the Lease Agreement was recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of

the lease. The major components of this lease revenue include the annual lease payments and the Monthly Margin
Payments (described in Note 2).

Utility Plant and Depreciation — Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted
services, materials, labor, overhead, and an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements
of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total cost of $250
or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the effective

rate of Big Rivers' weighted-average debt to the accumulated expenditures for qualifying projects included in
construction in progress.




Prior to July 17, 2009, the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction (see Note 2}, and in accordance with the terms
of the Lease Agreement, the Company generally recorded capital additions for Incremental Capitaf Costs and
Nonincremental Capital Costs expenditures funded by E.ON U.S. (formerly LG&E Energy Corporation) as utility plant
to which the Company maintained title. A corresponding obligation to E.ON U.S. was recorded for the estimated
portion of these additions attributable to the Residual Value Payments (see Note 2). A portion of this obligation was
amortized to lease revenue over the useful life of those assets during the remaining lease term. For the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company recorded $5,557 and $10,728, respectively, for such additions in utility
plant. The Company recorded $3,881, $6,748, and $6,591 in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively, as related lease
revenue in the accompanying financial statements. All amounts recorded for 2009 reflect the period prior to the
Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction. Under the terms of the Unwind Transaction, E ON U.S. waived their right
to the Residual Value Payment, and the Company recognized a gain

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, and in addition to the capital costs funded by E.ON U.S. (see Note 2) that
were recorded by the Company as utility plant and lease revenue, E.ON U.S also incurred certain Nonincremental
Capital Costs and Major Capital Improvements {as defined in the Lease Agreement) for which they waived rights

to a Residual Value Payment by Big Rivers upon lease termination. Such amounts were not recorded as utility

plant or lease revenue by the Company during the lease. In connection with the Unwind Transaction the Company
recognized a gain of $19,679 for the Nonincremental Capital assets for which E.ON had waived rights to

E.ON U.S. constructed a scrubber (Major Capital Improvement) at Big Rivers’ Coleman plant The scrubber achieved
commercial acceptance in January 2007 The Company acquired the Coleman scrubber at no cost under the terms of
the Unwind Transaction, recognizing a gain of $98,500 in 2009.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straightline method over the estimated remaining
service lives, as approved by the RUS and KPSC The annual composite depreciation rates used to compute
depreciation expense were as follows:

Electric plant-leased 1.60%-2.47%
Transmission plant 1.76%~3.24%
General plant 111%-5.62%

For 2009, 2008, and 2007, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.85%, 1.85%, and 1.85%, respectively
At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value of such plant is charged to
accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS.

Impairment Review of Long-Lived Assets — Long-lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may be impaired. This review is performed in accordance with FASB ASC 360, Property,
Plant, and Equipment as it relates to impairment of long-lived assets. FASB ASC 360 establishes one accounting
model for all impaired long-lived assets and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale or otherwise. FASB ASC 360
requires the evaluation of impairment by comparing an asset's carrying value to the estimated future cash flows

the asset is expected to generate over its remaining life. If this evaluation were to conclude that the carrying value
of the asset is impaired, an impairment charge would be recorded based on the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and its fair value (less costs to sell for assets to be disposed of by sale} as a charge to operations or
discontinued operations

Restricted Investments — Investments are restricted under KPSC order to establish certain reserve funds for
member rate mitigation in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction. These investments have been classified as held-
to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost (see Note 10)

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly-liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less to be cash equivalents

Income Taxes — As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitled to exclude the amount of patronage allocations to
members from taxable income. Income and expenses related to nonmember operations are taxable to Big Rivers.
Big Rivers files a Federal income tax return and a Kentucky income tax return.




Patronage Capital — As provided in the bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year’s patronage-sourced income,
both operating and nonoperating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of the bylaws, the
amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall not be less than the greater of regular taxable
patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable patronage-sourced income.

Derivatives — Management has reviewed the requirements of FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and
has determined that all contracts meeting the definition of a derivative also qualify for the normal purchases and
sales exception under FASB ASC 815. The Company has elected the Normal Purchase and Normal Sale exception
for these contracts and, therefore, the contracts are not required to be recognized at fair value in the financial
statements,

Fair value measurements —The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or
paid to transfer a liability {an exit price) in the principal, or most advantageous, market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date The Fair Values Measurements Topic
establishes a three-Level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value This hierarchy
requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs when possible. The three levels of inputs used to
measure fair value are as follows:

s level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

o {evel 2 — observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted
prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data, and

e Level 3 — unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and
that are significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities, including certain pricing
models, discounted cash fiow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant
unobservable inputs.

New Accounting Pronouncements — FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, issued in March 2008, establishes
enhanced disclosure requirements concerning derivative instruments and hedging activities. This enhanced
disclosure standard requires that objectives for using derivative instruments be disclosed in terms of underlying

risk and accounting designation in order to better convey the purpose of derivative use in terms of the risks that

the entity is intending to manage. Entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an
entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under
FASB ASC 816 and its related interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect

an entity’'s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. This standard of FASB ASC 815 is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company adopted this standard
of FASB ASC 815 on January 1, 2009, with no impact to the Company’s financial statements.

FASB ASC 855, Subsequent Events, establishes a standard for disclosure of events that occur during the period
between the balance sheet date and the date on which the financial statements are issued. This standard of FASB
ASC 865 is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company has adopted
the disclosure requirements for subseguent events as outiined in ASC 855 and management evaluated subsequent
events up to and including March 26, 2010, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

FASB ASC 105, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, provides a Codification of accounting standards that
supersedes all previously existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards and becomes the authoritative
source of U S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). This standard of FASB ASC 105 is effective for
annual financial statements issued after September 15, 2009. The Company has adopted the Accounting Standard
Codification (ASC) established by FASB ASC 105




LG&E LEASE AGREEMENT

Big Rivers, E.ON U.S. LLC (“E.ON"), Western Kentucky Energy Corporation ("WKEC"}), and LG&E Energy Marketing
{"LEM"), closed effective July 17 2009, a transaction resulting in a mutually acceptable early termination of the
1998 LG&E Lease Agreement (referred herein as the " Unwind Transaction” or “Unwind"”}. E ON, WKEC, and LEM
are coliectively referred to in the Notes as “E.ON Entities” This transaction was approved by the KPSC and the

RUS. The Unwind Transaction resulted in Big Rivers recognizing a net gain of $537978. This transaction resulted

in the acquisition of assets, the assumption of liabilities, the forgiveness of liabilities, and the establishment of a
regulatory reserve prescribed by the KPSC in their approval of the transaction. Assets and liabilities in the unwind
transaction were accounted for at fair value or recorded value, as appropriate. The gain from the Unwind Transaction
is summarized as follows:

Unwind
Gain
Assets received:
Cash $506,675
Coleman scrubber 98,500
Inventory 55,000
Construction in progress 23,074
Utility plant assets 19,679
SO2 allowances 980
Liabilities (assumed) forgiven:
Economic Reserve (157,000)
Rural Economic Reserve (60,856)
Post-retirerment benefits liability (8,768)
Residual value payments obligation 145,251
LEM Settlement Note 15,440
Recognition of {expenses) income:
Deferred lease income 7187
Deferred loss from termination of sale/leaseback (73,829)
Deferred loss from LEM Marketing Payment/Settlement Note (14,520)
Unwind transaction costs (18,991)
Other 156
Gain on unwind transaction $537978

The terms of the LG&E Lease Agreement as originally structured are outlined in the following text

On July 15, 1998 {"Effective Date"), a lease was consummated (" Lease Agreement”), whereby Big Rivers leased
its generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), a wholly owned subsidiary of E.ON

.S Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC operated the generating facilities and maintained title to all energy
produced. Throughout the lease term, in order for Big Rivers to fulfill its obligation to supply power to its members,
the Company purchased substantially all of its power requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation
(LEM), a wholly owned subsidiary of E ON U.S., pursuant to a power purchase agreement

Big Rivers continued to operate its transmission facilities and charged LEM tariff rates for delivery of the energy
produced by WKEC and consumed by LEM’s customers. The significant terms of the Lease Agreement were as
follows:




a. WKEC was to lease and operate Big Rivers’ generation facilities through 2023.

b. Big Rivers retained ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease term.
¢ WKEC paid Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain adjustments

d.  On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and the first two
years of the annual lease payments. In accordance with FASB ASC 840, Leases, the Company amortized these
payments to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

e Big Rivers continued to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the Aluminum
Smelters, through its power purchase agreements with LEM and the Southeastern Power Administration,
based on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When economically feasible, the Company also obtained
the power necessary to supply its member loads, excluding the Aluminum Smelters, in the open market
Kenergy Corp s retail service for the Aluminum Smelters was served by LEM and other third-party providers
that included Big Rivers. To the extent the power purchased from LEM did not reach pre-determined
minimums, the Company was required to pay certain penalties. Also, to the extent additional power was
available to Big Rivers under the LEM contract, Big Rivers made sales to nonmembers.

f. LEM reimbursed Big Rivers the margins expected from the Aluminum Smelters, defined as the net cash flows
that Big Rivers anticipated receiving if the Company had continued to serve the Aluminum Smelters' load, as
filed in the Rate Hearing (the "Monthly Margin Payments”}.

g WKEC was responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities, however, Big Rivers was partially
responsible for ordinary capital expenditures (“Nonincremental Capital Costs”) for the generation facilities over
the term of the Lease Agreement, generally up to predetermined annual amounts. At the end of the lease term,
Big Rivers was obligated to fund a "Residual Value Payment” to E.ON U.S. for such capital additions during
the lease (see Note 1). Adjustments to the Residual Value Payment were made based upon actual capital
expenditures. Additionally, WKEC made required capital improvements to the facilities to comply with new
laws or a changes to existing laws ("Incremental Capital Costs”) over the lease life (the Company was partially
responsible for such costs: 20% through 2010) and the Company was required to submit another Residual
Value Payment to E ON U S. for the undepreciated value of WKEC's 80% share of these costs, at the end of
the lease. The Company had title to these assets during the lease and upon lease termination.

h. Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 (the "LEM Settlement Note") to be repaid over the
term of the Lease Agreement, with an interest rate at 8% per annum, in consideration for LEM's assumption
of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and
the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The Company recorded this obligation as a
component of deferred charges with the related payable recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying
balance sheets. This deferred charge was amortized on a straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the
Unwind Transaction.

i On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a nonrefundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, which was
recorded as a component of deferred charges. This amount was amortized on a straight-line basis up to the
Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction

i During the lease term, Big Rivers was entitled to certain "billing credits” against amounts the Company owed
LEM under the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first 55 months of the lease term, Big
Rivers received a credit of $89 For the year 2011, Big Rivers was to receive a credit of $2,611 and for the years
2012 through 2023, the Company was to receive a credit of $4,111 annually




In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company was allowed to purchase power in the
open market rather than from LEM, incurring penalties when the power purchased from LEM did not meet certain
minimum levels, and to sell excess power (power not needed to supply its jurisdictional load) in the open market
(collectively referred to as “Arbitrage”). Pursuant to the New RUS Promissory Note and the RUS ARVP Note, the
benefit, net of tax, as defined, derived from Arbitrage had to be divided as foliows. one-third, adjusted for capital
expenditures, was used to make principal payments on the New RUS Promissory Note, one-third was used to make
principal payments on the RUS ARVP Note; and the remaining value was retained by the Company.

UTILITY PLANT

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, utility plant is summarized as follows:

2009 2008
Classified plant in service:

Production plant $1,675,733 $ -
Electric plant — leased - 1,535,004
Transmission plant 236,639 230,800
General plant 18,201 17,240
Other 543 543
1,931,116 1,783,587
Less accumulated depreciation 908,089 879,073
1,023,017 904,514
Construction in progress 55,257 8,185
Utility plant — net $1,078,274 $912,699

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 was $133, $492, and $391,
respectively.

The Company has not identified any material legal asset retirement obligations, as defined in FASB ASC 410, Asset
Retirement Obligations. In accordance with regulatory treatment, the Company records an estimated net cost of
removal of its utility plant through normal depreciation. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had a
regulatory liability of approximately $35,835 and $32,696, respectively, related to nonlegal removal costs included in
accumutated depreciation

SALE-LEASEBACK
On April 18, 2000, the Company completed a sale-leaseback of two of its utility plants, including the related facilities

and equipment. The sale-leaseback provided Big Rivers a $1,089,000 fixed price purchase option, at the end of each
lease term (25 and 27 years), which, together with future contractual interest receipts, would be fully funded

On September 30, 2008, the Company completed an early termination of the sale-leaseback transaction. The
termination was precipitated by the June 2008 downgrade of the claims-paying ability of Ambac Assurance
Corporation (Ambac). Ambac served as insurer of Big Rivers’ payment obligations, thereby providing credit support
under the transaction. Ambac's downgrade exposed the Company to adverse consequences under the contractual
terms of the transaction and after consideration of alternative options, Big Rivers ultimately settled on termination
as the preferred solution. Proceeds from disposition of the restricted investment and payments required under the
termination agreements were $222,739 and $329,559, respectively, reflecting a net cash payment of $107.120.To




meet its remaining obligations Big Rivers’ entered into a $12,380 promissory note (see Note 5) with Philip Morris
Capital Corporation (PMCC). A net loss of $77001 resulting from the early termination of the sale-leaseback was
recorded as a regulatory asset and was amortized up to the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction; with the
balance of the regulatory asset reflected as an offset to the gain recognized from the Unwind Transaction.

Prior to termination the sale-leaseback transaction was recorded as a financing for financial reporting purposes

and a sale for Federal income tax purposes. In connection therewith, in 2000, Big Rivers received $866,676 of
proceeds and incurred $791,626 of related obligations. Pursuant to a payment undertaking agreement with a
financial institution, Big Rivers effectively extinguished $656,029 of these obligations with an equivalent portion

of the proceeds. The Company also purchased investments with an initial value of $146,647 to fund the remaining
$135,697 of the obligations. Interest received and paid was recorded to these accounts up to the date of lease
termination. The Company paid 7567 % interest on its obligations related to long-term lease and received 6.89% on
its related investments. The Company made a $64,000 principal payment on the New RUS Promissory Note with
the remaining proceeds. The $75,050 gain was deferred and was amortized up to the date of lease termination, with
the Company recognizing $1,998, and $2,900, in 2008, and 2007, respectively.

The Amount recognized in the statement of financial position related to the sale-leaseback as of December 31,
2008, is as follows:

Deferred loss from termination of sale-leaseback $76,001

The unamortized balance of the deferred loss was recognized in 2009 in conjunction with the unwind transaction
described in Note 2 based on agreement with the KPSC

Amounts recognized in the statement of operations related to the sale-leaseback for the years ended December 31,
2008, and 2007, are as follows:

2008 2007

Power contracts revenue (revenue discount

adjustment — see Note 6) $(2,463) $(3,680)
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease:

Interest expense 8,989 12,819

Amortize gain on sale-leaseback (1,998) (2,900)
Net interest on obligations related to

fong-term lease $6,991 $9,919
Interest income on restricted investments under

long-term lease $8,742 $12,481

Interest income and other $779 $778




5. DEBTAND OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A detail of long-term debt at December 31, 2009 and 2008, is as follows:

2009 2008

RUS Series A Promissory Note, stated amount of, $599,462,

stated interest rate of 5.75%, with an interest rate of 5.84%,

maturing July 2021 $596,786 $ -
New RUS Promissory Note, stated amount of, $768,391, stated

interest rate of 5.75%, with an interest rate of 5.82%,

maturing July 2021 - 765,297
RUS Series B Note, stated amount of $245,530, no stated interest

rate, with interest imputed at 5.80%, maturing December 2023 109,666 -
RUS ARVP Note, stated amount of $245,899, no stated interest

rate, with interest imputed at 5.80%, maturing December 2023 - 103,685
LEM Settlement Note, interest rate of 8.0%, payable in monthly

installments - 15,658
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate

{average interest rate of 10.50% and 8.95% in 2009 and 2008,

respectively), maturing in October 2022 83,300 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate

(average interest rate of 3.22% and 5.14% in 2009 and 2008,

respectively), maturing in June 2013 58,800 58,800
PMCC Promissory Note with an interest rate of 8.56% - 12,380
Total long-term debt 848,552 1,039,120
Current maturities 14,185 51,771
Total long-term debt — net of current maturities $834,367 $987.349

The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 31:

Year Amount
2010 $14,185
2011 14,850
2012 76,081
2013 79,278
2014 21,678
Thereafter 642,480
Total $848,552

RUS Notes — On July 15, 1998, Big Rivers recorded the New RUS Promissory Note and the RUS ARVP Note at fair
value using the applicable market rate of 5.82%. On the Unwind Closing Date, the New RUS Note and the ARVP
Note were replaced with the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A and the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series B,
respectively After an Unwind Closing Date payment of $140,181, the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A is
recorded at an interest rate of 5.84%. The RUS 2009 Series B Note is recorded at an imputed interest rate of

5 80%. The RUS Notes are collateralized by substantially afl assets of the Company and secured by the Indenture
dated July 1, 2009 between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association.




Pollution Control Bonds — The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Periodic Auction
Rate Securities, Series 2001, the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which
bears the same interest rate These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in October 2022.

The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Series 1983, the
proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate as the
bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in June 2013

The Series 1983 bonds are supported by a liquidity facility issued by Credit Suisse First Boston, which was assigned
to Dexia Credit in 2006. Both Series are supported by municipal bond insurance and surety policies issued by Ambac
Assurance Corporation. Big Rivers has agreed to reimburse Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under
the municipal bond insurance policies or the surety policies. Both Series are secured by the Indenture dated July 1,
2009 between the company and U.S. Bank National Association.

These instruments are subject to maximum interest rates of 13% and 18%, respectively. The December 31, 2009
interest rates on the Series 1983 and Series 2001 Pollution Control Bonds were 3.25% and 4.50%, respectively.

LEM Settlement Note — On July 15,1998 Big Rivers executed the Settlement Note with LEM. The Settlement
Note required Big Rivers to pay to LEM $19,676, plus interest at 8% per annum over the lease term. The principal
and interest payment was approximately $1,822 annually On the Unwind Closing Date, in connection with the
Unwind Transaction the remaining balance on the Settlement Note in the amount of $15,440 was forgiven.

PMCC Promissory Note — On September 30, 2008 in conjunction with the early termination of the sale-leaseback
transaction {see Note 4}, Big Rivers executed a promissory note with Phillip Morris Capital Corporation (PMCC)

The note required Big Rives to pay PMCC $12,380, plus interest at 8 5% per annum. On the Unwind Closing Date
Big Rivers repaid the $12,380 principal amount. At December 31, 2009 the Company had no remaining liability
associated with this promissory note

Notes Payable — Notes payable represent the Company's borrowing on its line of credit with the National Rural
Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC) and CoBank, ACB (CoBank). The maximum borrowing capacity

on the lines of credit is $100,000 consisting of $50,000 each for CFC and CoBank. There were no borrowings
outstanding on the line of credit at December 31, 2008, however letter of credits issued under an associated

Letter of Credit Facility with CFC reduced the borrowing capacity by $5,654. Advances on the CFC line of credit
bear interest at a variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2014
Advances on the CoBank fine of credit bear interest at a variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in full by
the maturity date of July 16, 2012.

RATE MIATTERS

The rates charged to Big Rivers' members consist of a demand charge per kW and an energy charge per kWh
consumed as approved by the KPSC. The rates include specific demand and energy charges for its members' two
classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under its jurisdiction. For the large
industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based on each customer’s maximum demand during the
current month. Each members rural demand charge is based upon the maximum coincident demand of their rural
delivery points.

Prior to the Unwind Transaction the demand and energy charges were not subject to adjustments for increases

or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. In conjunction with the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC approved the
implementation of certain tariff riders, including a fuel adjustment clause and an environmental surcharge, offset

by an unwind surcredit {a refund to tariff members of certain charges collected from the Aluminum Smelter in
accordance with the contract terms). The net effect of these tariffs is recognized as revenue on a monthly basis with
an offset to the regulatory liability — member rate mitigation described below.

The net impact of the tariff riders to members rates is currently mitigated by a Member Rate Stability Mechanism
(MRSM) that was funded by certain cash amounts received from the E.ON Entities in connection with the Unwind




Transaction {the Economic and Rural Economic Reserves) and held by Big Rivers as restricted investments. An
offsetting regulatory liability — member rate mitigation was established with the funding of these accounts. Big
Rivers is required to file a rate case with the KPSC within three years of the unwind or July 2012.

Effective since September 1, 2000, and continuing through August 31, 2008, the KPSC approved Big Rivers' request
for a $3,680 annual revenue discount adjustment for its members, effectively passing the benefit of the sale-
leaseback transaction (see Note 4) to them. On September 1, 2008, Big Rivers’ discontinued the revenue discount
adjustment to its members in conjunction with the sale-leaseback termination.

INCOMETAXES

Big Rivers was formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization described in (nternal Revenue Code

Section 501{c}12). To retain tax-exempt status under this section, at least 85% of the Big Rivers' receipts must

be generated from transactions with the Company's members. In 1983, sales to nonmembers resulted in Big
Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can meet the 85% member income requirement, the
Company is a taxable cooperative.

Under the provisions of FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax assets and
liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting purposes and amounts
reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon these temporary
differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which these differences are expected to reverse Deferred income
tax expense or benefit is based on the change in assets and liabilities from period to period, subject to an ongoing
assessment of realization. Tax benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax
return are recorded only when the more-ikely-than-not recognition threshold is satisfied and measured at the largest
amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settiement

As a result of the sale-leaseback terminations in 2008 {see Note 4), Big Rivers no longer considers that it is more
likely than not that it will recover its net deferred tax assets {which consisted solely of Alternative Minimum Tax
(AMT) credit carryforwards). An income statement charge of $5,035 relating the AMT amounts carried forward at
January 1, 2008 together with a charge of $900 relating to the 2008 AMT obligation were recorded in the Statement
of Operations for 2008. An AMT charge of $1,025 was recorded in the Statement of Operations for 2009.

At December 31, 2009, Big Rivers had a nonpatron net operating loss carryforward of approximately $53,138
expiring through 2012, and an alternative minimum tax credit carryforward of approximately $7,052, which carries
forward indefinitely.

The Company has not recorded any regular income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008

and 2007 as the Company has utilized federal net operating losses to offset any regular taxable income during
those years. Had the Company not had the benefit of a net operating loss carryforward, the Company would have
recorded $19,619, $20,363, and $7.724 in current regular tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007 respectively.




The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, were as follows:

2009 2008
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward $20,990 $40,609
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 7052 5,935
Member Rate Mitigation 10,326 -
Fixed asset basis difference 11,420 33,786
Total deferred tax assets 49,7838 80,330
Deferred tax liabilities — ARVP Note (23,793) (25,384)
Net deferred tax asset (prevaluation allowance) 25,995 54,946
Valuation allowance (25,995) (54,946)

Net deferred tax asset $ - $ -

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate for 2009, 2008 and 2007, follows:

2009 2008 2007
Federal rate 35.0 % 350 % 35.0 %
State rate — net of federal benefit 4.5 4.5 45
Patronage allocation to members (35.4} (31.3) (28.0)
Tax benefit of operating loss carryforwards and other (4.1) (8.2) (11.5)
Alternative minimum tax 0.2 18.0 ~
Effective tax rate 0.2 % 18.0 % - %

The Company files a federal income tax return, as well as several state income tax returns. The years currently
open for federal tax examination are 2005 through 2009 and 1990 through 1997 due to unused net operating loss
carryforwards. The major state tax jurisdiction currently open for tax examination is Kentucky for years 2002 through
2009 and years 1990 through 1997 also due to unused net operating loss carryforwards. The Company has not
recorded any unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities related to federal or state income taxes.

The Company classifies interest and penalties as an operating expense on the income statement and accrued
expense in the balance sheet. No interest or penalties have been recorded during 2007, 2008, or 2009

8. POWER PURCHASED

Prior to the Unwind Transaction and in accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplied all of the
members' requirements for power to serve their customers, other than the Aluminum Smelters. Contract limits
were established in the Lease Agreement and included minimum and maximum hourly and annual power purchase
amounts. Big Rivers could not reduce the contract limits by more than 12 MW in any year or by more than a total of
72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers failed to take the minimum requirement during any hour or year,




Big Rivers was liable to LEM for a certain percentage of the difference between the amount of power actually taken
and the applicable minimum requirement

Although Big Rivers was required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual amounts

of power from LEM, the lease did not prevent Big Rivers from paying the associated penalty in certain hours to
purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or reselling a portion of its purchased power to a third
party. The power purchases made under this agreement for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007,
were $51,692, $99,700, and $96,295, respectively, and are included in power purchased and interchanged on the
statement of operations.

PENSION PLANS

Defined Benefit Plans — Big Rivers has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all
employees who meet minimum age and service requirements and who were employed by the Company prior to the
plans closure dates cited below. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of service and the five
highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last ten years of employment. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such
plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement income Security Act of 1974

The salaried employees defined benefit plan was closed to new entrants effective January 1, 2008, and the
bargaining employees defined benefit plan was closed to new hires effective November 1, 2008. The Company
simultaneously established base contribution accounts in the defined contribution thrift and 401(k} savings plans,
which were renamed as the retirement savings plans. The base contribution account for an eligible employee,
which is one who meets the minimum age and service requirements, but for whom membership in the defined
benefit plan is closed, is funded by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of the employee’s pay,
depending on his or her age.

The Company has adopted FASB ASC 715, Defined Benefit Plans, including the requirement to recognize the funded
status of its pension plans and other postretirement plans (see Note 12 — Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions). FASB ASC 715 defines the funded status of a defined benefit pension plan as the fair value of its assets
less its projected benefit obligation, which includes projected salary increases, and defines the funded status of any
other postretirement plan as the fair value of its assets less its accumulated postretirement benefit obligation.

FASB ASC 715 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its yearend
balance sheet and requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements certain additional information related
to net periodic benefit costs for the next fiscal year. The Company’s pension and other postretirement benefit plans
are measured as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.

The following provides an overview of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plans

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its noncontributory defined benefit pension plans at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, follows:

2009 2008
Benefit obligation — beginning of period $24,253 $19,889
Service cost — benefits earned during the period 1,241 1,072
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,466 1,220
Participant contributions (lump sum repayment) 40 318
Plan settlements 262 -
Benefits paid (3,945) (248)
Actuarial loss 2,176 2,002

Benefit obligation — end of period $25,493 $24,253




The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $18,630 and $18,568 at December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively

A reconciliation of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008, follows:

2009 2008
Fair value of plan assets — beginning of period $20,295 $21,820
Actual return on plan assets 4,820 (5,095)
Employer contributions 1,060 3,500
Participant contributions {lump sum repayment) 40 318
Benefits paid (3,945) (248)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period $22,270 $20,295

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans at December 31, 2009 and 2008, follows.

2008 2008
Benefit obligation — end of period $(25,493) $(24,253)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period 22,270 20,295
Funded status $(3,223) $(3,958)

Components of net periodic pension costs for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, were as

follows:

2009 2008 2007
Service cost $1,241 $1,072 $958
Interest cost 1,466 1,220 1,058
Expected return on plan assets (1,332} (1,516) {1,167)
Amortization of prior service cost 19 19 19
Amortization of actuarial loss 834 247 285
Settlement loss 1,690 - ~
Net periodic benefit cost $3,918 $1,042 $1,1563

A reconciliation of the pension plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2009
and 2008, follows.

2009 2008
Prior service cost $ (59) $ (78
Unamortized actuarial (loss) {9,651) {13,226)

Accumulated other comprehensive income $(9,710) $(13,304)




The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income at December 31, 2009 and 2008, follows:

2009 2008
Prior service cost $ 19 $ 19
Unamortized actuarial (loss) 3,675 {8,365)
Other comprehensive income $3,594 $(8,346)

2008 2008

Deferred credits and other $(3,223) $(3,958)

follows:
2009 2008 2007
Discount rate — projected benefit obligation 559% 638% 626%
Discount rate — net periodic benefit cost 6.38 6.25 575
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.00 4.00 4.00
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 725 725 725

historical returns

(a) and (b}, respectively, produced an expected rate of return of 728%, which was rounded to 7256%

Big Rivers utilizes a third party investment manager for the plar{ assets, and has communicated thereto the

reviewed semi-annually.

in 2010, $19 of prior service cost and $560 of actuarial loss is expected to be amortized to periodic benefit cost.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, amounts recognized in the statement of financial position were as follows:

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation and determine the net periodic benefit cost were as

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for each fiscal year is
chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying anticipated long-term returns and long-
term volatility for various asset categories 1o the target asset allocation of the plans, as well as taking into account

Using the asset allocation policy adopted by the Company noted in the paragraph below, we determined the
expected rate of return at a 50% probability of achievement Level based on {a) forward-looking rate of return
expectations for passively-managed asset categories over a 20-year time horizon and (b) historical rates of return
for passively-managed asset categories. Applying an approximately 80%/20% weighting to the rates determined in

Company’s Retirement Plan Investment Policy, including a target asset allocation mix of 50% U S. Equities (an
acceptable range of 45-55%), 156% International Equities (an acceptable range of 10-20%), and 35% fixed income
{an acceptable range of 30-40%} As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the investment allocation was 55% and 40%,
respectively, in U S. Equities, 11% and 7%, respectively, in International Equities, and 34% and 63%, respectively,

in fixed income. The objective of the investment program seeks to {a) maximize return on investment, {b) minimize
volatility, (c) minimize company contributions, and (d} provide the employee benefit in accordance with the plans. The
portfolio is well diversified and of high quality. The average quality of the fixed income investments must be "A” or
better. The Equity portfolio must also be of investment grade quality The performance of the investment manager is




At December 31, 2009, the fair value of Big Rivers' defined benefit pension plan assets by asset category are as
follows:

Level1 Level2 Total
Cash and Money Market $ 815 $ - $ 815
Equity Securities:
U.S. large-cap stocks 8,680 - 8,580
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 2,064 - 2,064
U,S. small-cap stock mutual funds 1,282 - 1,282
International stock mutual funds 2,328 - 2,328
Preferred stock 404 - 404
Fixed:
U.S. Government Agency Bonds - 2,139 2,139
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds - 2,282 2,282
U.S. Corporate Bonds - 2,376 2,376

$15,473  $6,797 $22,270

Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2009 are as follows:

Years Ending

December 31 Amount
2010 $2,033
2011 1,868
2012 2,91
2013 4,043
2014 2,041
2015-2019 13,642
Total $26,538

In 2010, the Company expects to contribute $1,096 to its pension plan trusts.

Defined Contribution Plans — Big Rivers has two defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially all
employees who meet minimum age and service requirements. Each plan has a thrift and 401(k) savings section
allowing employees to contribute up to 75% of pay on a pre-tax and/or aftertax basis, with employer matching
contributions equal to 80% of the first 6% contributed by the employee on a pre-tax basis.

A base contribution retirement section was added and the plan name changed from thrift and 401(k) savings to
retirement savings, effective January 1, 2008, for the salaried plan and November 1, 2008, for the bargaining
plan The base contribution account is funded by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of pay,
depending on the employee’s age.

The Company’'s expense under these plans was $355 and $308 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.




Deferred Compensation Plan — Effective May 1, 2008, Big Rivers established a nonqualified deferred
compensation plan for its eligible employees who are members of a select group of management or highly
compensated employees. The purpose of the plan is to allow participants to receive contributions or make deferrals
that they could not receive or make under the salaried employees gualified defined contribution retirement savings
plan {formerly the thrift and 401(k) savings plan) as a result of nondiscrimination rules and other limitations applicable
to the qualified plan under the Internal Revenue Code. The nonqualified plan also allows a participant to defer a
percentage of his or her pay on a pre-tax basis.

The nonqualified deferred compensation plan is unfunded, but the Company has chosen to finance its obligations
under the plan, including any employee deferrals, through a rabbi trust. The trust assets remain a part of the
Company’s general assets, subject to the claims of its creditors. The 2009 employer contribution was $33 and
deferred compensation expense was $67 As of December 31, 2009, the trust asset was $94 and the deferred
liability was $101.

10. RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS

The amortized costs and fair values of Big Rivers restricted investments held for member rate mitigation at
December 31, 2009 are as follows.

Amortized Fair
Costs Values
Cash and Money Market $25,186 $25,186
Debt Securities:
U.S. Treasuries 67,895 67,474
U.S. Government Agency 150,144 150,181
Total $243,225 $242,841

Gross unrealized gains and losses on restricted investments at December 31, 2008 were as follows:

Gains Losses

Cash and Money Market $ - $ -
Debt Securities:

U.S. Treasuries 12 434

U.S. Government Agency 79 41

Total $91 $475

Debt securities at December 31, 2009 mature, according to their contractual terms, as follows (actual
maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights)

Amortized Fair
Costs Values
In one year or less $46,102 $46,112
After one year through five years 197123 196,729

Total $243,225 $242,841




Gross unrealized losses on investments and the fair values of the related securities, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at
December 31, 2009, were.

Less Than 12 Vionths

Fair
Losses Values
Debt securities:
U.S. Treasuries $434 $59,872
U.S. Government Agency 41 45,026
Total $475 $104,898

The unrealized loss positions were primarily caused by interest rate fluctuations. The number of investments in
an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2009 was sight. Since the company does not intend to sell and
will more likely than not maintain each debt security until its anticipated recovery, and no significant credit risk is
deemed to exist, these investments are not considered otherthan-temporarily impaired

The restricted investments related to cash and money market investments are classified as trading securities under
ASC 320 and were recorded at fair value using quoted market prices for identical assets without regard to valuation
adjustment or block discount (a Level 1 measure), as follows;

Cash and Money Market $25,186

11. FAIRVALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring
fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measures. It applies under other accounting standards that
require or permit fair value measurements and does not require any new fair value measurements. This standard of
FASB ASC 820 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 The adoption of the standards of FASB
ASC 820 had no impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

The carrying value of accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short maturity. At
December 31, the Company's cash and cash equivalents included short-term investments in an institutional money
market government portfolio account classified as trading securities under ASC 320 that were recorded at fair value
which were determined using quoted market prices for identical assets without regard to valuation adjustment or
block discount {a Level 1 measure), as follows:

2009 2008

Institutional money market government portfolio $59,887 $38,424

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within other deposits and investments
due to these being untraded companies.

Big Rivers’ long-term debt at December 31, 2009 consists of RUS notes totaling $706,452 and variable rate pollution
control bonds in the amount of $142,100 (see Note 5). The RUS debt cannot be traded in the market and, therefore,
a value other than its outstanding principal amount cannot be determined. The fair value of the Company's variable
rate pollution control debt is par value, as each variable rate reset effectively prices such debt to the current market




i2.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHERTHAN PENSIONS

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. Generally,
except for generation bargaining retirees, Big Rivers pays 85% of the premium cost for all retirees age 62 to 65.

The Company pays 26% of the premium cost for spouses under age 62. For salaried retirees age 65 to age 62, Big
Rivers pays 25% of the premium cost. Beginning at age 65, the Company pays 256% of the premium cost if the
retiree is enrolled in Medicare Part B, For each generation bargaining retiree, Big Rivers establishes a retiree medical
account at retirement equal to $1,200 per year of service up to 30 years ($1,250 per year for those retiring on or
after 1/1/12). The account balance is credited with interest based on the 10-year treasury rate subject to a minimum
of 4% and a maximum of 7%. The account is to be used for the sole purpose of paying the premium cost for the
retiree and spouse.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
“Medicare Act”) was enacted. The Medicare Act created Medicare Part D, a new prescription drug benefit that

is available to all Medicare-eligible individuals, effective January 1, 2006. National Rural Electric Cooperative
Association (NRECA), the provider of Big Rivers’ health plan coverage through the NRECA Group Benefits Trust,
chose to become a Medicare Part D provider. Effective January 1, 2006, Part D coverage is the only drug coverage
available to Big Rivers’ Medicare-eligible retirees

The discount rates used in computing the postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost were as
follows:

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate — projected benefit obligation 578% 632% 585%
Discount rate — net periodic benefit cost 6.32 5.85 5.75

The health care cost trend rate assumptions as of December 31, 2008 and 2008, were as follows:.

2009 2008
Initial trend rate 770 % 790 %
Ultimate trend rate 450 % 450 %
Year uitimate trend is reached 2028 2028

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

2009 2008
One-percentage-point decrease:
Effect on total service and interest cost components $(138) $(37)
Effect on year end benefit obligation {989) (290)
One-percentage-point increase:
Effect on total service and interest cost components 162 44

Effect on year end benefit obligation 1,134 337




A reconciliation of the Company's benefit obligations of its postretirement plan at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
follows:

2009 2008
Benefit obligation — beginning of period $2,948 $2,862
Service cost — benefits earned during the period 878 129
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 464 167
Transaction benefit obligation assumed in the unwind 8,768 -
Participant contributions 48 61
Plan amendments 175 -
Benefits paid (203) (179}
Actuarial (gain) or loss 786 (92)
Benefit obligation — end of period $13,864 $2,948

A reconciliation of the Company's postretirement plan assets at December 31, 2008 and 2008, follows:

2009 2008
Fair value of plan assets — beginning of period $ - $ -
Employer contributions 155 118
Participant contributions 48 61
Benefits paid (203} (179}
Fair value of plan assets — end of period $ - $ -

The funded status of the Company's postretirement plan at December 31, 2009 and 2008, follows:

2009 2008

Benefit obligation — end of period $(13,864) $(2,948)
Fair value of plan assets — end of period - -

Funded status $(13,864) $(2,948)




The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and
2007, were as follows:.

2009 2008 2007

Service cost $ 878 $ 129 $ 85
Interest cost 464 167 153
Amortization of prior service cost 17 2 2
Amortization of actuarial (gain) (17 (60) (70)
Amortization of transition obligation 31 31 31
Net periodic benefit cost $1,373 $269 $201

A reconciliation of the postretirement plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31,
2009 and 2008, follows:

2009 2008
Prior service cost $(165) $ 7
Unamortized actuarial gain 407 1,210
Transition obligation (92) (123)
Accumulated other comprehensive income $150 $1,080

In 2010, $18 of prior service cost, $0 of actuarial gain, and $31 of the transition obligation is expected to be
amortized to periodic benefit cost.

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income at December 31, 2009 and 2008, follows.

2009 2008
Prior service cost $(157) $2
Unamortized actuarial gain (803) 33
Transition obligation 30 30

Other comprehensive income $(930) $65




At December 31, 2009 and 2008, amounts recognized in the statement of financial position were as follows:

2009 2008
Accounts payable $ (424) $ (156)
Deferred credits and other (13,440) (2,792)
Net amount recognized $(13,864) $(2,948)

Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2009 are as follows:

Year Amount
2010 $424
2011 599
2012 827
2013 1,014
2014 1,245
2015-2019 8,342
Total $12,451

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit plan
which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the extent
an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours such excess hours are paid at 20% of the employee's
base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded for the postretirement sick
leave benefit is $375 and $408 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The postretirement expense recorded
was $45, $63, and $51 for 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively, and the benefits paid were $78, $0, and $0 for 2009,
2008, and 2007, respectively

13. RELATED PARTIES

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2008, and 2007, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of $125,826,
$114,514, and $113,281, respectively. In addition, for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 Big
Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Aluminum Smelters and Domtar Paper (formerly Weyerhaeuser) loads of
$167885, $55,124, and $123,094, respectively.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $35,5624 and $16,540,
respectively.

4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Big Rivers is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the results of such litigation cannot
be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that the final outcome will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial statements.
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FZ ve- Yé’&l v RQUZQLU Years Ended December 31 — (Dollars in thousands)
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenue:
Power Contracts Revenue $ 341,333 $ 214,758 $ 271,605 $ 200,692 $ 191,280
Lease Revenue 32,027 58,423 58,265 57,896 57675
Total Operating Revenue 373,360 273,181 329,870 258,588 248,955
Operating Expenses:
Fuel for Electric Generation 80,655 - - - -
Power Purchased 116,883 114,643 169,768 114,516 114,500
Operations (excluding Fueh, Maintenance, Other 87645 32,858 31,436 25,336 23,504
Depreciation 32,485 31,041 30,632 30,408 30,192
Total Operating Expenses 317,668 178,642 231,836 170,260 168,196
Interest Expense and Other:
Interest 59,898 72,710 70,851 70,259 68,748
Other - net 3,309 6,868 103 111 124
Total Interest Expense & Other 63,207 79,678 70,954 70,370 68,872
Operating Margin {7,515) 15,061 27080 17958 11,887
Non-Operating Margin 538,845 12,755 20,097 16,584 14,456
NET MARGIN $ 531,330 $ 27816 $ 47177 $ 34,542 $ 26,343
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET
Total Utility Plant $1,986,373 $1,791,772 $1,764,924 $1,744,315 $1,727556
Accumulted Depreciation 908,099 879,073 853,290 826,647 798,684
Net Utility Plant 1,078,274 912,699 911,634 917,668 928,872
Cash and Cash Equivalents 60,290 38,903 148,914 96,143 67,264
Reserve Account Investments 244,641 - - - -
Other Assets 122,278 122,834 253,610 240,578 229,844
TOTAL ASSETS $1,505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158 $1,254,389 $1,225,980
Equities (deficit) $ 379,392 $ (154,602) $ (174,137) $ (217371}  $ (251,913)
Long-term Debt 848,552 987349 1,022,345 1,041,075 1,046,846
Regulatory Liability — Reserve Accounts 207,348 - - - -
Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits 70,191 241,689 465,950 430,685 431,047
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $1,505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158 $1,254,389 $1,225,980
ENERGY SALES - MWhs
Member Rural 2,239,445 2,386,916 2,406,446 2,231,554 2,262,698
Member Large Industrial 919,687 925,793 921,359 956,502 971,243
Smelter Contracts 2,885,491 - - = -
Other 1,746,438 1,844,677 2,835,789 2,062,286 2,021,365
Total Energy Sales 7,790,961 5,157.386 6,163,594 5,250,342 5,255,306
SOURCES OF ENERGY - MWhs
Generated 3,715,544 - - - -
Purchased 4,166,916 5,211,789 6,213,682 5,294,138 5,304,878
Losses and Net Interchange (91,499) (54,403) (50,088} (43,796) (49,572)
Total Energy Available 7.790,961 5,157,386 6,163,594 5,250,342 5,255,306
NET CAPACITY - MWs
Net Generating Capacity Owned 1,444 1,459 1,459 1,459 1,459
Rights to HMP&L Station Two 212 217 217 217 217
Other Net Capacity Available 178 178 178 178 178
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t-a-Glance

Big Rivers Electric Corporation is a generation Incorporated June 1961

and transmission cooperative (G&T) . .

headquartered in Henderson, Kentucky. Generating Capacity 1459 MW
Total Power Capacity 1,854 MW

Itis owned by thrge distribution system Employees. . 113

member cooperatives—Jackson Purchase

Energy Corporation, Kenergy Corp,, and Member Distribution Systems . .3

Meade Cgunty Rural Electric Cooperative Counties Reached 2

Corporation—that serve rural members across

22 counties in western Kentucky. Member Consumers Served. 111,000
Miles of Transmission Line 1,262

Big Rivers had total energy sales of almost 5.2
million megawatt-hours (MWh) in 2008. Of the
total sales, 3.3 million MWh were sold to the
member cooperatives. The other 1.8 million
MWh sold were contract or market sales.

Total Energy Sales
Total Energy Revenue .

Average Member Cost .

5,157,386 MWh
. $ 204,519,278
. $3457/MWh

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005, and 2004 | (Dollars in thousands)

Margins 27,816 47,177 34,542 26,343 22,025
Equity (154,602) (174,137) (217,371) (251,913) (278,256)
Capital Expenditures® 22,760 18,682 13,189 12,904 12,203
Cash & Cash Equivalents 38,903 148,914 96,143 67,264 54,891
New RUS Note Voluntary
Prepayment Status - - 34,995 55,357 53,518
Times Interest Earned Ratio 1.37 1.64 1.47 1.37 1.32
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 117 2.04 1.86 1.79 1.76
Cost of Debt 6.33% 5.76% 5.83% 5.57% 5.35%
Cost of Capital 8.33% 7.75% 7.82% 7.58% 7.38%
*Big Rivers' share only.
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About the

Big Rivers Electric Corporation is

a generation and transmission
cooperative (G&T) headquartered
in Henderson, Kentucky. It is

owned by three distribution system
member cooperatives that serve
rural members across 22 counties in
western Kentucky.

Big Rivers supplies the wholesale
power needs of the member
cooperatives and markets surplus
power to non-member utilities and
power markets.

Member cooperatives

The member cooperatives are
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation,
headquartered in Paducah;

Kenergy Corp.,, headquartered in
Henderson; and Meade County Rural
Electric Cooperative Corporation,
headquartered in Brandenburg.

Combined, they provide retail electric
power and other services to more
than 111,000 residential, commercial
and industrial members in western
Kentucky.

2 Big Rivers Electric Corporation

Generation resources

Big Rivers owns 1,459 megawatts
(MW) of generating capacity in four
plants:

Robert A. Reid 130 MW
Kenneth C. Coleman 455 MW
Robert D. Green 454 MW
D.B. Wilson 420 MW
Owned Generation 1,459 MW

Total power capacity is 1,854 MW,
including rights to Henderson
Municipal Power and Light (HMP&L)
Station Two and contracted
capacity from Southeastern Power
Administration (SEPA).

Owned Generation 1,459 MW
HMP&L Station Two 217 MW
SEPA 178 MW
Total Power Capacity 1,854 MW

In July 1998, Big Rivers leased the
operation of its generation to LG&E
Energy Corp. affiliates (now EON US,,
LLC). Big Rivers provides power to
the member cooperatives principally
under a power purchase agreement
with certain E.ON U.S. affiliates.

Transmission system

Big Rivers owns, operates, and
maintains its 1,262-mile transmission
system primarily to deliver power to
the three distribution system member
cooperatives. In addition, available
transmission capacity is sold to third
parties for moving power into, out of,
or through the Big Rivers control area.

Power is delivered through 80
substations owned by Big Rivers or
the member cooperatives and 22
interconnects with seven surrounding
utilities.

The cooperative difference

Big Rivers is constantly focused on
the needs and local priorities of the
member cooperatives. Computer
services, economic development,
mapping, planning, safety, marketing
and customer support services are
just a few of the areas in which Big
Rivers is able to provide assistance
when called on to do so.

As a long-standing member of
Touchstone Energy®, Big Rivers and
the member cooperatives pledge to
serve western Kentucky with integrity,
accountability, innovation and a
commitment to community. Keeping
the cost of electricity low and the
reliability high is a priority.
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Like any electric utility, a future

focus and planning for tomorrow
have always been an integral part of
the operations of Big Rivers Electric
Corporation, Being a member-owned
organization means that our planning
always involves our members—
Jackson Purchase Energy, Kenergy
Corp., and Meade County RECC—and
their futures, as well. In 2008, these
efforts took on special meaning for
Big Rivers and the members.

An important element of our

focus was the careful preparation
and smooth implementation of a
succession plan for the position of
president and CEO. Successfully
implementing a plan developed in
2006 by Big Rivers' board of directors
when then CEO Mike Core notified
the board of his planned retirement
in a couple of years, Mark Bailey

was elected president and CEO on
October 17, 2008. Bailey, who had
joined Big Rivers on June 1 2007 as
executive vice president, had formerly
been CEO of Kenergy Corp., and prior
to that was employed at American
Electric Power for 30 years. We thank
Mike Core for his fine leadership

the past 12 years and wish him the
very best as he begins his planned
retirement in April 2009.

Another important area of future
focus reached a milestone in early
December when the Kentucky Public
Service Commission held a hearing in
response to an application Big Rivers
had filed with the Commission in late
2007 for approval to “unwind” the
1998 transaction with certain affiliates
of EON U.S.

Since mid-1998, Western Kentucky
Energy, a subsidiary of EON, has
operated the Big Rivers generating
stations, supplying the wholesale

4 Big Rivers Electric Corporation

power needs of Big Rivers and a
portion of the power supply for the
smelters through Kenergy Corp.

Big Rivers was approached in 2003
by E.ON to determine whether Big
Rivers had an interest in unwinding
the transaction, Since that time,

a major effort and focus involved
negotiating both a termination of that
arrangement and a long-term power
supply for each of Kenergy's two
aluminum smelter customers.

Several conditions remain to be
satisfied before there can be a closing
of the proposed unwind transaction,
and a great deal of activity must occur
to successfully implement the long-
planned transition so that Big Rivers
can resume its role of generation
operator. Big Rivers pursued the
unwind because it would position us
well for the future: it would provide
Big Rivers with strong financial
metrics, help keep more than 1,400
smelter jobs in western Kentucky

and allow Big Rivers the flexibility

to meet the significant challenges

of wholesale power supply to the
member cooperatives for the long-
term power requirements of their
member-owners.

Future planning was not all that was
successfully accomplished by Big
Rivers in 2008; it was also a year of
successful operations. Proving that
the time-consuming effort required to
pursue an unwind transaction was not
a total distraction, Big Rivers posted
$27.8 million in margins continuing
the strong operating trend begun in
1998,

The future challenges of wholesale
power supply are numerous

and include rising fuel costs,
global dimate change and other
environmental issues, transmission
expansion and load growth just to
name a few. In addition, safety and
reliability are important areas of
focus for any utility and they remain
a primary focus for us. As strong

as our relationships are now with
our members and throughout our
industry and the region, we will
strive for an even higher level of
performance and are confident we
will succeed.

Big Rivers has many strengths, but
by far the biggest is its conscientious
and dedicated workforce. Big Rivers is
well positioned with the managerial
expertise and talent, financial
flexibility, and member support and
participation required to sustain a
reliable, economical power supply
for western Kentucky. We are proud
to be part of the Big Rivers'team and
look forward to working with all our
stakeholders as we continue to move
ahead.
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Mark A. Bailey
President and CEQ
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William Denton
Chair of the Board of Directors
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